# Chronic neuropathic pain and spinal dorsal horn plasticity

Abeer Wael Saeed

Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics McGill University, Montreal

April, 2012

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Copyright by Abeer Wael Saeed, 2012

To my family, your devotion to the pursuit of knowledge is my inspiration

#### Abstract

Chronic pain is a debilitating disease with a very important socioeconomic burden. The objective of this thesis was to contribute to our understanding of the normal organization of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and its changes in chronic neuropathic pain, a form of chronic pain that sometimes follows lesions of the nervous system. Our studies focused on two important components of spinal cord pain-related circuitry, the projection neurons and their innervation by the small diameter nociceptive afferents. Spinal lamina I projection neurons have been classified, based on their morphology into fusiform, multipolar and pyramidal neurons. The two former types have been shown to respond to noxious stimuli and express the substance P receptor (NK-1r), while pyramidal neurons seldom express the NK-1r and respond to innocuous cooling only. The two main populations of small diameter nociceptive afferents are the peptidergic, which expresses the neuropeptides substance P (SP) and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), and the non-peptidergic, which is mostly devoid of neuropeptides but binds the plan lectin IB4.

In the first experimental chapter, we investigated the changes that occur at the level of the spinal dorsal horn in an animal model of chronic neuropathic pain. We demonstrated a de novo expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons, similar to that previously observed in our laboratory in a chronic arthritis model. This phenotypic switch was associated with a dramatic increase in the peptidergic (SPimmunoreactive) innervation of this cell population, which normally is sparsely innervated by these fibers. To assess whether pyramidal neurons responded to noxious stimuli in neuropathic animals, we injected capsaicin in the hind paw, which induced a massive internalization of NK-1r on these neurons, an indication of cell activation.

To assess whether a chronic pain state was needed to trigger the expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons, in the second experimental chapter of this thesis we used a model in which there is no chronic pain but in which previous work from our laboratory had revealed a marked increase in NK-1r in the dorsal horn. In this model, the non-peptidergic population of nociceptive afferents is specifically ablated by the injection of the neurotoxin saporin conjugated to the lectin IB4 (IB4-SAP) into the sciatic nerve. The animals did not display any pain-related behavioral changes. However, we observed a significant upregulation of NK-1r in lamina I, in neuronal types that normally expressed it (i.e. fusiform and multipolar cells), with no de novo expression by pyramidal neurons.

In the third experimental chapter, we addressed the issue of whether lamina I projection neurons which express the NK-1r are innervated by nonpeptidergic nociceptive afferents, as a study in a transgenic mouse model had provided data suggesting that non-peptidergic afferents had connections with deep dorsal horn neurons but not with lamina I NK-1r-expressing cells. We performed a systematic study aimed at identifying the normal connections of the non-peptidergic nociceptive fibers with lamina I neurons using both confocal and electron microscopy and we found a considerable innervation by non-peptidergic afferents on all three types of lamina I projection neurons.

The results of this thesis, taken together with previous data from our lab, suggest that a chronic pain state, such as neuropathic pain, seems necessary to trigger a de novo expression of NK-1r in pyramidal neurons and their increased innervation by peptidergic afferents. Further studies are required to clarify the role, in normal nociception and chronic pain states, of the significant direct innervation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic afferents which we revealed for the first time.

#### Résumé

La douleur chronique est une condition débilitante ayant de sérieuses répercussions socio-économiques. L'objectif de cette thèse était de mieux comprendre l'organisation de la corne dorsale de la moelle épinière et les changements qui s'y produisent dans les cas de douleurs chronique neuropathique suite à une lésion du système nerveux. Nos études se sont concentrées sur deux composantes importantes des circuits de la douleur: les neurones de projection et leur innervation par les afférents nociceptifs de petit diamètre. Les neurones de projection de la couche 1 de la moelle épinière sont classées selon leur morphologie en 3 types: les neurones fusiformes, multipolaires et pyramidaux. Les deux premiers répondent aux stimuli douloureux et expriment le récepteur de la substance P (NK-1r), alors que les neurones pyramidaux n'expriment ce récepteur qu'occasionellent et répondent au froid non-douloureux. Les deux populations d'afférents principales sont les fibres de petit diamètre peptidergiques, qui expriment la substance P et le "calcitonin gene-related peptide" (CGRP), et les non-peptidergiques, qui sont dépourvues de neuropeptides et qui s'associent avec la lectine IB4.

Lors du premier chapitre expérimental, nous avons étudié les changement qui se produisent dans la corne dorsale de la moelle épinière dans un modèle de douleur neuropathique chronique. Nous avons démontré une expression de novo du NK-1r sur les neurones pyramidales, un changement similaire à celui se produisant dans un modèle d'arthrite chronique. Ce changement de phénotype était associé à une augmentation significative du nombre d'appositions peptidergiques faites sur cette population neuronale, qui reçoit habituellement très peu de ces entrées. Afin de vérifier si ces récepteurs sont fonctionnels et répondent aux stimuli douloureux, nous avons injecté de la capsaicine dans la patte arrière, ce qui a mené à une internalisation du récepteur, marquant l'activation de celui-ci. Le deuxième chapitre de cette thèse vérifie si un état de douleur chronique est nécéssaire pour ce changement phénotypique, utilisant une lésion non douloureuse qui cause une augmentation signnificative du NK-1r dans la corne dorsale. Dans ce modèle, une population de nocicepteurs non peptidergiques est excise par une injection dans le nerf sciatique de la toxine saporine conjuguée à la lectine IB4 (IB4-SAP). En absence de symptômes douloureux, la couche 1 de la corne dorsale des animaux lésés a subi une augmentation générale du NK-1r mais sa distribution cellulaire est restée normale, sans expression de novo sur les cellules pyramidales.

Lors du troisième chapitre de cette thèse, nous avons vérifié si les neurones de projection de la couche 1 exprimant le NK-1r recevaient des entrées des fibres nociceptives non peptidergiques, comme ce sujet était controversé suite à une publication utilisant des souris transgéniques démontrant une absence de connections de la sorte. Nous avons fait une étude systématique utilisant la microscopie confocale et électronique et avons démontré que les 3 types morphologiques de cellules de projection reçoivent des entrées non peptidergiques directes.

Pris ensembles, les résultats de cette thèse suggèrent qu'une condition de douleur chronique est nécessaire pour l'expression du NK-1r sur les neurones pyramidaux et l'augmentation des entrées peptidergiques faites sur celles-ci. D'autres études seront nécessaires pour clarifier l'implication des entrées non peptidergiques faites sur les neurones de projection dans la nociception normale et dans la douleur chronique.

## **Table of Contents**

Index of Figures and Tablesv
Acknowledgements viii
Contributions of Authors x
Chapter 1 – General Introduction
1.1 Epidemiology of Pain
1.2 Pain Transmission Circuitry
1.2.1 The Skin
1.2.1-1 The Epidermis
1.2.1-2 The Dermis5
1.2.1-3 Peripheral Sensory Receptors
1.2.2 Nociceptors
1.2.2-1 Peripheral Signal Transduction7
1.2.2-2 Dorsal Root Ganglia7
1.2.3 Nociceptive Primary Sensory Neurons
1.2.3-1 Peptidergic C Fibers
1.2.3-2 Non-peptidergic C Fibers9
1.2.3-3 Discrepancies in C Fiber Classifications
in Rat vs. Mouse10
1.2.4 Substance P10
1.2.4-1 Neurokinin-1 Receptor12
1.2.4-2 NK-1r: Signal Transduction13
1.2.4-3 NK-1r Regulation14
1.2.4-4 SP, NK-1r and Clinical Disease States15
1.2.4-4a SP and Pain16
1.2.4-4b SP and Inflammation17
1.2.4-4c SP and Emesis
1.2.5 Cytoarchitecture of the Spinal Cord
1.2.5-1 Projection Neurons

1.2.5-1a Lamina I NK-1r-immunoreactive Neurons	19
1.2.5-1b Deep Laminae NK-1r-immunoreactive Neu	rons.20
1.2.5-1c Classification of Lamina I Projection Neuro	ons20
1.2.5-2 Ascending Pain Pathways	22
1.2.5-2a Spinoparabrachial Pathway	23
1.2.6 The Cerebral Cortex	24
1.2.7 Descending Pain Pathways	24
1.2.7-1 Descending Facilitation	24
1.2.7-2 Descending Inhibition	25
1.2.7-2a The PAG-RVM-dorsal Horn Pathway	25
1.2.7-2b The Noradrenergic Pathway	26
1.3 Theories on Development of Chronic Pain	
1.3.1 Peripheral Sensitization	26
1.3.1-1 Wallerian Degeneration	26
1.3.1-2 Ectopic Activity in Primary Afferents	27
1.3.1-3 Sensory-sympathetic Coupling	27
1.3.1-4 Abnormal Expression of	
Voltage-gated Sodium Channels	28
1.3.2 Central Sensitization	28
1.3.2-1 Pathological Sensitization of Spinal Cord Neurons .	28
1.3.2-2 Disinhibition	29
1.3.2-3 Glia Activation	30
1.3.3 Reorganization in Supraspinal Regions	30
1.4 The Sciatic Nerve	30
1.5 Experimental Animal Models	32
1.5.1 Cuff Model	33
1.5.2 IB4-saporin Model	34
1.6 General Objectives and Thesis Rationale	35

Chapter 2 - First Manuscript: De novo expression of neurokinin-1 re	ceptors by
spinoparabrachial lamina I pyramidal neurons following a neuropat	thic lesion .37
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Materials and Methods	41
2.4 Results	48
2.5 Discussion	69
2.6 Acknowledgements	74
Connecting Text: Chapter 2 to Chapter 3	75
Chapter 3 – Second Manuscript: Limited changes in spinal lamina I	dorsal horn
neurons following the cytotoxic ablation of non-peptidergic $C$ fibers	
3.1 Abstract	79
3.2 Introduction	79
3.3 Materials and Methods	
3.4 Results	89
3.5 Discussion	109
3.6 Acknowledgements	112
Connecting Text: Chapter 3 to Chapter 4	113
Chapter 4 – Third Manuscript: Non-peptidergic primary afferents ar	e presynaptic
to lamina I projection neurons in rat spinal cord	
4.1 Abstract	117
4.2 Introduction	118
4.3 Results	119
4.4 Discussion	139
4.5 Materials and Methods	143
4.6 Acknowledgements	148

Chapter 5 – General Discussion	149
5.1 Overview	151
5.1.1 Involvement of lamina I pyramidal cells in thermoregulation	151
5.1.1-1 Non-peptidergic afferents and thermoregulation	152
5.1.1-2 Pyramidal lamina I projection neurons and	
thermoregulation	153
5.1.1-3 Is there impaired thermoregulation following	
nerve injury?	154
5.1.2 NK-1r antagonists and negative clinical trials as analgesics	155
5.1.3 Other neurokinin receptors	157
5.1.3-1 NKA and NK-2r	157
5.1.3-2 Effect of NKA and SP on NK-1r	158
5.1.3-3 NKB and NK-3r	158
5.1.4 Glia and SP	159
5.1.4-1 Astrocytes	159
5.1.4-2 Microglia	160
5.1.5 Changes following loss of non-peptidergic afferents	161
5.1.5-1 IB4-saporin versus peripheral nerve injury	162
5.1.6 Direct activation of lamina I projection neurons	
by non-peptidergic afferents	162
5.2 Future Experiments	164
5.3 Summary	166
5.4 Contributions to Original Knowledge	167
References	171

## Index of Figure and Tables

## Chapter 1 – General Introduction

Figure 1: L'homme de René Descartes	4
Figure 2: Differential processing of the pre-pro-tachykinin gene (PPT-A)	12
Figure 3: Schematic model of the rat NK-1r	13
Figure 4: NK-1r-Gαq-PLCβ pathway	14
Figure 5: NK-1r-Gαs-cAMP pathway	15
Figure 6: NK-1r regulation through recycling or degradation	16
Figure 7: Rexed laminar division of the spinal cord	19
Figure 8: The three populations of lamina I projections neurons in horizonta	1
sections of primate spinal cord	22
Figure 9: Supraspinal projections of lamina I neurons	23
Figure 10: Schematic illustration of models of peripheral nerve injury	31
Figure 11: Diagram of region of entry of the sciatic nerve into the spinal cor-	d34

## Chapter 2 – First Manuscript

Figure 1: Behavioral changes following the cuff lesion5	1
Figure 2: Confocal images showing the morphology and NK-1r expression of	
lamina I spinoparabrachial neuronal populations5	5
Figure 3: Comparison of the distribution of neurons of each morphological type	
which were immunoreactive for the NK-1r, retrogradely labeled from	
the parabrachial nucleus or double labeled	9
Figure 4: Confocal triple-labeling images showing increased substance P	
innervation of pyramidal neurons and de novo NK-1r expression	
following a cuff lesion, at the 21 days time point	53
Figure 5: Quantification of substance P-IR boutons in direct apposition to	
lamina I spinoparabrachial pyramidal neurons $\epsilon$	5
Figure 6: Demonstration of NK-1r internalization following	
noxious stimulation $\epsilon$	7

## Chapter 3 – Second Manuscript

Figure 1: Behavioral characterization at several time points following
IB4-saporin injection91
Figure 2: Confocal low magnification images from transverse sections
comparing the ipsilateral side of the dorsal horn of vehicle-injected
animals with the ipsilateral side of IB4-saporin- injected rats, at
14 days post-injection95
Figure 3: Confocal image at low magnification of a horizontal section from
inner lamina II comparing the ipsilateral and contralateral sides of
the spinal cord on an IB4-saporin injected animal at 14 days
post-injection97
Figure 4: Confocal images comparing NK-1r immunoreactivity in the
ipsilateral side of vehicle-injected and IB4-saporin- injected animals,
in transverse sections, at 14 days99
Figure 5: Confocal images at high magnification showing the morphology
and NK-1r expression by the lamina I spinoparabrachial neuronal
population in IB4-saporin-injected animals compared to the
vehicle-injected sham group at the 21 days time point101
Figure 6: Quantitative comparison of the lamina I neuronal populations
immunoreactive for the NK-1r, retrogradely labeled from the
parabrachial nucleus or double labeled, on the ipsilateral side of
IB4-saporin-injected or sham group at 21 days105
Figure 7: Quantitative comparison of lamina I neuronal populations
expressing the NK-1r, on the ipsilateral side of IB4-saporin-injected
and vehicle-injected (sham group) rats at 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks
post-injection107

## Chapter 4 – Third Manuscript

## Chapter 5 – General Discussion

Figure 1: Schematic of the neural pathways activated in response to	
innocuous thermal stimulation	153
Figure 2: Activation of spinal neuronal cells via microglial cell-cell signalin	g161

#### Acknowledgements

"If I have seen further it is by standing on the shoulders of giants" -Isaac Newton

The past six years have been a journey of scientific discovery and personal growth, a feat to which a great many people contributed. I owe my gratitude to all those people who have made this thesis possible and because of whom my graduate experience has been one that I will cherish forever.

My sincerest gratitude is to my supervisor, Dr. Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, for giving me the opportunity to pursue my graduate studies in his lab, for his continuous support and guidance, for believing in my abilities and for guiding me through the writing of this thesis.

I am also thankful to the members of my committee, Dr. Gary Bennett, Dr. Daniel Bernard, Dr. Derek Bowie, Dr. Radan Capek and Dr. Anne McKinney, for their insightful comments, constructive criticisms and countless advice which were essential for the progress of this work.

Dr. Louis Hermo has always been there to listen and give advice. I am grateful for his continuous encouragement and guidance.

I would also like to thank Dr. Kresimir Krnjevic for the numerous discussions on substance P.

I wish to give my warm and sincere thanks to my colleagues in the Alfredo Lab, past and present; Jennifer Peleshok and Anna Taylor for their invaluable friendship, constant support and insightful discussions that helped me during my studies, Simon Allard for encouragement, sound advice and for translating my thesis abstract into French, Maria Osikowicz, Claire Magnussen and Geraldine Longo for providing a stimulating and fun environment that I looked forward to coming to every day, and Lina Almarestani, Andrea Bailey, and Louis-Etienne Lorenzo for helping me get started and for the advice on how to survive graduate school. Last, but not least, I would like to thank Manon St-Louis. Her extensive technical expertise was indispensable for the success of this thesis and her loving and caring nature helped keep me sane and focused during these years. Thank you.

I am also grateful to the former and current staff of the Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics for assisting me in many different ways. I would like to give special thanks to Hélène Duplessis, Pamalla Moore and Tina Tremblay, who always made time for me and helped resolve my seemingly endless problems.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Gary Bennett and Dr. Terence Coderre for allowing me to use their animal behavior facilities, Dr. Magali Millecamps for her statistical expertise, and Mr. Steven Peleshok for helping to edit my thesis introduction.

Sincere thanks to all my friends, especially Lujaien Al-Rubaiey, Noor Breik, Maria Teresa Ferretti and Walaa Hirzallah for helping me get through the difficult times, for the emotional support and for always having time to unwind over tea.

I also wish to thank my extended family for their continuous love, support and prayers.

None of this would have been possible without the love, care and encouragement of my mom and dad, the thought-provoking discussions with Hussam, Rami and Hisham that helped me see the bigger picture of my research, the therapeutic shopping escapades with Lama and the love, patience and understanding of Ashraf. I am very lucky to have you in my life.

### **Contributions of Authors**

This thesis is based on data obtained from the generation of the following three manuscripts:

#### Manuscript 1:

*De novo* expression of neurokinin-1 receptors by spinoparabrachial lamina I pyramidal neurons following a neuropathic lesion. Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, Journal of Comparative Neurology, *under revision* 

#### Manuscript 2:

Limited changes in spinal lamina I dorsal horn neurons following the cytotoxic ablation of non-peptidergic C fibers. Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, Journal of Comparative Neurology, *submitted* 

#### Manuscript 3:

Non-peptidergic primary afferents are presynaptic to lamina I projection neurons in rat spinal cord. Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, Molecular Pain, *submitted* 

#### Responsibilities of authors and co-authors

The following statements describe the responsibility of all authors of the above co-authored manuscripts:

**Dr. Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva:** Supervisor of the doctoral thesis and principal investigator of all the projects described in the thesis. For all of the manuscripts, he was the main intellectual influence, contributed significantly to the original ideas and edited the writing of the manuscripts.

**Abeer Saeed:** Designed and performed all the experiments described in the thesis, collected all of the data and performed all of the quantitative analyses presented in the manuscripts, and wrote the first version and assembled all of the figures of all the manuscripts included in this thesis.

## Chapter 1

General Introduction

#### 1.1 Epidemiology of Pain

Imagine being awakened, night after night, by a burning sensation running down your arm. You try to get out of bed, but any movement only makes the pain worse. You reach out for the medication bottle on your bedside table and take one pill, then another. You lie down, hoping for the pain to subside. After a couple of hours, you muster the courage to move again. The pain has not quite dissipated, still lingering as a tingling sensation, but at least it is not unbearable. You put on a light, baggy t-shirt, because anything else makes you feel like you are being stuck with sharp pins.

How many days have you endured this agony? You have isolated yourself from family and friends to avoid their concerned eyes and from burdening them with your complaints about the constant pain. You feel trapped in your own house, in your own body. When will this suffering end?

Approximately 1 million people in Canada alone suffer every day from some or all of the symptoms of burning, tingling, shooting, crawling pain which are all characteristics of chronic neuropathic pain. Physiologically, pain is a critical alarm system that warns of injury or protects damaged tissue until fully healed. However, there are times when the pain persists for months or years after full recovery from injury. Such pain, known as chronic pain, is a disease in its own right.

Neuropathic pain is defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) as "pain caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system". It is a major neurological problem, affecting around 1.5-3% of people worldwide (Moulin et al., 2007; Taylor, 2006) and is cited as the 14<sup>th</sup> most common pain complaint seen in general practice (Hasselstrom et al., 2002). Nevertheless, until recently, neuropathic pain has been largely neglected by doctors.

Neuropathic pain is characterized by spontaneous pain, allodynia (pain induced by normally innocuous stimuli), hyperalgesia (an exaggerated pain response to a painful stimulus) and affective disorders, such as depression and anxiety. Neuropathic pain results from nerve damage in the peripheral or central nervous systems and can be a consequence of nerve trauma, herpes zoster infection, chemotherapy or spinal cord injury among many others. Unfortunately, because we lack an understanding of the underlying etiology, effective and efficient analgesics have yet to be developed.

Before we can devise a successful therapeutic approach, not only must we investigate the changes that lead to and maintain chronic neuropathic pain, but we also have to understand the role played by the various peripheral and central components of the pain system in physiological conditions.

The spinal cord acts as an important relay center for pain-related (nociceptive) transmission, where information from the periphery is modified and modulated before being conveyed to supraspinal centers in the brainstem and brain for processing. Therefore, understanding the changes that occur at the level of the spinal cord, an important site in the initiation or maintenance of chronic neuropathic pain, could help in finding therapeutic targets.

This thesis gives an overview of the literature currently available, three original research manuscripts and a general discussion aimed at integrating the work and addressing the significance of the findings.

#### 1.2 Pain Transmission Circuitry

René Descartes, a French philosopher and scientist of the 17<sup>th</sup> century, was the first to use the term "pain pathway" in his book, Treatise of Man (*Traité de l'homme*). Descartes described how a noxious stimulus initiates the transmission of a "pain" signal from the skin, through the spinal cord, to be perceived in the brain (Figure 1).

With the progress of



**Figure 1** – L'homme de René Descartes (Descartes, 1664).

scientific experimentation, the pain pathway has proven to be more complex than put forward by Descartes, nevertheless, the skin, spinal cord and brain remain key components of the nervous system responsible for the pain sensation.

In the following sections, each part of the pain pathway and its role in the transmission and modulation of the nociceptive signal will be discussed in more detail.

#### 1.2.1 The Skin

The skin, the largest organ in the body, protects the body from the outside environment and external pathogens and provides sensory information about the surrounding environment. The skin is innervated by a variety of sensory neurons which are sensitive to touch, temperature and pain-related noxious stimuli.

The skin is composed of an outer layer of stratified squamous epithelium known as the epidermis and an inner, thicker layer, known as the dermis.

#### 1.2.1-1 The Epidermis

Approximately 90% of the epidermis is composed of keratinocytes, whose primary function is to act as a barrier against environmental damage, such as intrusion of pathogens and water loss (Kanitakis, 2002). Other components of the epidermis include melanocytes, Langerhans cells and Merkel cells.

Melanocytes produce melanin, a pigment responsible for the color of skin and the protection of the nuclei of keratinocytes from harmful ultraviolet radiation (Kobayashi et al., 1998). Langerhans cells are mediators of immunologic responses within the skin, playing a role in the capture, uptake and processing of antigens (Girolomoni et al., 2002). Merkel cells associate with sensory afferents to form Merkel receptors, responsive to light touch (Maricich et al., 2009).

#### 1.2.1-2 The Dermis

The dermis is composed of two layers, the papillary and the reticular (Kanitakis, 2002). The papillary layer sends projections into the epidermis which bring blood capillaries and tactile receptors into closer contact with the epidermal

cells. The reticular dermis is composed of collagen and elastin, thereby providing elasticity and retractile properties to the skin; moreover, blood vessels and nerves endings are dispersed throughout this layer.

#### 1.2.1-3 Peripheral Sensory Receptors

Santiago Ramón y Cajal (1909) was the first to describe the sensory receptors of the somatosensory system which, based on their morphology, can be grouped into the two major populations of encapsulated receptors and free nerve endings. Encapsulated receptors consist of nerve endings surrounded by one or more layers of non-neural cells; they include Meissner's corpuscles, which respond to low frequency vibrations, light pressure and discriminative touch, Pacinian corpuscle, which are sensitive to deep pressure and high frequency vibrations, and Ruffini endings, which are sensitive to stretch or distortion of the skin connective tissue (Iggo and Andres, 1982). Free nerve endings are "non-specialized", unencapsulated terminal endings, with no complex sensory structures, that detect changes in temperature (thermoreceptors), mechanical stimuli (mechanoreceptors) (Lele and Weddell, 1956).

In this thesis, we will focus on the types and functions of nociceptors.

#### 1.2.2 Nociceptors

In 1906, Sherrington (1906) discovered that intense stimulation of some nerves results in autonomic responses and pain. He gave the name *nociceptors* to the receptors activated by these intense stimuli.

Some nociceptors can selectively respond to either noxious thermal, chemical or mechanical stimuli. However, most nociceptors are classified as polymodal, whereby they can be activated by all three types of noxious stimuli (Bessou and Perl, 1969; Torebjork, 1974; Willis, 2007). Moreover, some are termed "silent" nociceptors, because they only respond to noxious stimuli following injury to the surrounding tissue (Handwerker et al., 1991; Lynn and Carpenter, 1982).

#### 1.2.2-1 Peripheral Signal Transduction

Nociceptors express transducer proteins which selectively respond to intense chemical, mechanical and thermal stimuli. Once activated, this stimulus energy is transduced into the exchange of sodium and potassium ions. If the resulting current is sufficient (i.e. reaches the threshold value), an action potential is generated and a neural impulse is transmitted through the nociceptive primary afferents to the spinal cord (Crill and Schwindt, 1984).

Nociceptors are generally electrically silent (Woolf and Ma, 2007) and transmit all-or-none action potentials only when stimulated. However, the activation of nociceptors does not necessarily lead to the perception of pain. Pain perception depends also on the frequency of action potentials in primary afferents, the temporal summation of pre- and postsynaptic signals in the spinal cord, as well as processing of the signal by higher brain structures (Coggeshall and Willis, 2004).

Unlike other receptors, repeated or strong stimulation causes nociceptors to become sensitized (Bessou and Perl, 1969). Sensitized nociceptors are characterized by a lowered response threshold and an amplified response to previously effective stimuli (Bessou and Perl, 1969; LaMotte et al., 1982; Meyer and Campbell, 1981).

#### 1.2.2-2 Dorsal Root Ganglia

Nociceptive sensory neurons are pseudounipolar, as a single process exits the cell body and splits into two branches. The first is a peripheral branch which terminates in skin and deeper structures such as viscerae, muscle and joints as free nerve endings. And the second is a central branch, which synapses with neurons in the spinal dorsal horn. The cell bodies of the nociceptive neurons are located in the dorsal root ganglia or the trigeminal ganglia (Kandel et al., 1991). The trigeminal ganglia possess neurons that specifically innervate the face, while the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) associate with the rest of the body. Nociceptive sensory neurons can be divided into distinct populations based on their peptide content (Hokfelt et al., 1976; New and Mudge, 1986; Price, 1985) and the diameter and degree of myelination of their primary afferents. This will be discussed in a later section.

#### 1.2.3 Nociceptive Primary Sensory Neurons

Primary sensory neurons correspond to four types of primary afferents: A $\alpha$ , A $\beta$ , A $\delta$  and C fibers (Willis, 1985; Willis and Coggeshall, 1991). A $\alpha$  and A $\beta$ are fast-conducting, myelinated fibers involved in proprioception and discriminative touch, respectively.

A $\delta$  and C fibers comprise the nociceptive primary afferents; A $\delta$  fibers are thinly myelinated afferents, 1-5 µm in diameter with a conduction speed between 5-35 m/s, whereas C fibers are unmyelinated afferents, measuring 0.2-1.5 µm in diameter with a conduction speed of 0.5-2 m/s. This difference in myelination and therefore conduction speed, gives way to two phases of pain sensation; a "fast" sharp and piercing pain, transmitted by A $\delta$  fibers, followed by a "slow" dull and aching pain, transmitted by C fibers (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Unmyelinated, nociceptive C fibers are further differentiated into two populations, the peptidergic and the non-peptidergic fibers.

#### 1.2.3-1 Peptidergic C Fibers

Peptidergic C fibers are nerve growth factor (NGF)-dependent (Averill et al., 1995; McMahon et al., 1994; Snider and McMahon, 1998), and express peptides, such as substance P (SP) and calcitonin gene related-peptide (CGRP). Peripherally, peptidergic fibers innervate the epidermis, blood vessels, glands and hair follicles, as well as muscle and joint (Fundin et al., 1997; Grelik et al., 2005; Ruocco et al., 2001) and centrally, these fibers terminate in lamina I and outer lamina II of the spinal dorsal horn (Cuello et al., 1993; Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2004) where they establish simple axo-dendritic or axo-somatic contacts with dorsal horn projection neurons (McLeod et al., 1998; Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2004; Ribeiro-da-Silva et al., 1989).

All SP-containing primary afferents have been shown to be nociceptors (Lawson et al., 1997). Peptidergic fibers express heat-evoked currents larger than those of non-peptidergic fibers (Stucky and Lewin, 1999) and their predominant excitatory neurotransmitter is glutamate (Battaglia and Rustioni, 1988; Merighi et al., 1991).

#### 1.2.3-2 Non-peptidergic C Fibers

During the early postnatal period, non-peptidergic C fibers differentiate from a common pool they initially share with the peptidergic population. The nonpeptidergic fibers switch off the expression of the NGF receptor, TrkA and begin expressing Ret which is the glial cell-derived growth factor (GDNF) receptor (Bennett et al., 1998; Molliver et al., 1997; Woolf and Ma, 2007), shifting dependency from NGF to GDNF for survival. About 50% of the C fiber population is composed of non-peptidergic afferents (Averill et al., 1995; Molliver et al., 1995), which do not express peptides, although demonstrating fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP) activity (Coimbra et al., 1970; Hunt and Rossi, 1985; Knyihar et al., 1974; Nagy and Hunt, 1982). This FRAP has been recently shown to represent the transmembrane isoform of prostatic acid phosphatase (Zylka et al., 2008). The non-peptidergic afferents also express the purinergic P2X3 receptor (Guo et al., 1999; Snider and McMahon, 1998) and the G-protein coupled receptor, Mrgprd (Dong et al., 2001; Zylka et al., 2003; Zylka et al., 2005), and bind the Griffonia simplicfolia isolectin B4 (IB4) (Alvarez and Fyffe, 2000; Silverman and Kruger, 1988).

Peripherally, the non-peptidergic afferents innervate the epidermis, upper dermis and hair follicles (Ambalavanar et al., 2003; Lu et al., 2001; Zylka et al., 2005) and terminate mainly in inner lamina II of the dorsal horn in complex arrangements named synaptic glomeruli (Ribeiro-da-Silva and Cuello, 1990).

Compared with peptidergic afferents, the non-peptidergic afferents have longer action potentials and more tetrodotoxin (TTX)-resistant sodium channels (Stucky and Lewin, 1999). However, their predominant excitatory neurotransmitter is also glutamate (Battaglia and Rustioni, 1988; Merighi et al., 1991).

IB4-positive primary afferents are implicated in the phenomenon of hyperalgesic priming such that the occurrence of an acute inflammation episode induces a long-lasting sensitivity to inflammatory mediators, prompting the development of chronic pain in a later episode of inflammation (Aley et al., 2000; Joseph and Levine, 2010; Levine et al., 1993; Reichling and Levine, 2009). Moreover, non-peptidergic afferents seem to play a role in developing and maintaining oxaliplatin-induced hyperalgesia (Joseph et al., 2008). Oxaliplatin is a cancer chemotherapy agent with a dose-limiting side effect of the development of acute onset, painful peripheral neuropathy.

In spite of what is said above, the relative role of peptidergic and nonpeptidergic afferents in normal nociception and in chronic pain is still not well understood.

#### 1.2.3-3 Discrepancies in C Fiber Classifications in Rat vs. Mouse

Rodents, especially mice and rats, are frequently utilized in pain research. However some features of these animals have to be taken into consideration when projecting results across species. For example, the peptidergic and nonpeptidergic C fiber populations in the mouse form separate entities. This separation is not as clear cut in the rat (Molliver et al., 1997; Woodbury et al., 2004; Zwick et al., 2002). In mice, there is a localization of the capsaicinsensitive, transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor-1 (TRPV1) only in the peptidergic fibers (Dirajlal et al., 2003; Woodbury et al., 2004; Zwick et al., 2002), whereas in rats, TRPV1 is present in both C fiber populations (Guo et al., 1999). Moreover, while the C fiber population expressing CGRP and SP in the mouse is distinct from that exhibiting IB4-binding (Molliver et al., 1997; Woodbury et al., 2004; Zwick et al., 2002), several studies indicated in the rat the colocalization of CGRP and SP in neuronal populations that bind IB4 (Fang et al., 2006; Petruska et al., 2002; Petruska et al., 2000; Price et al., 2005).

#### 1.2.4 Substance P

SP is an excitatory neuropeptide discovered in 1931 in extracts of brain and intestine (V. Euler and Gaddum, 1931). The "P" term is designated for the "powder" containing the active agent obtained from tissue extracts (Gaddum and Schild, 1934). It was 30 years later, in 1971, that the 11 amino acid sequence of SP; Arg- Pro- Lys- Pro- Gln- Gln- Phe- Phe- Gly- Leu- Met- NH2, was established (Chang et al., 1971).

SP is a member of the tachykinin family, which also includes neurokinin A (NKA) and neurokinin B (NKB). SP and NKA are derived from the same prepro-tachykinin gene, PPTA. Through a process of alternative splicing, the PPTA gene yields three messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) transcripts encoding distinct precursor proteins ( $\alpha$ -, $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -pre-pro-tachykinins). The process of alternative splicing is modulated and controlled in a tissue-specific manner (Nawa et al., 1984). The  $\alpha$ -pre-pro-tachykinin mRNA only encodes SP and occurs mainly in the central nervous system, while the  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -pre-pro-tachykinin mRNA encode both SP and NKA and occur in both the central nervous system and the peripheral tissues. These precursor proteins then undergo further post-translational proteolytic processing to become mature forms of SP and NKA (Figure 2).

Mature SP molecules are packaged into dense core synaptic vesicles (Cuello et al., 1977) together with CGRP (Merighi et al., 1991) which are then transported to the presynaptic terminal from which they are then released outside the synapses (Bean et al., 1994). Indeed, it has been suggested that SP acts on its receptor through volume transmission, rather than through synapses (Zoli and Agnati, 1996). The co-release of CGRP with SP potentiates the action of the latter by inhibiting its breakdown (Le Greves et al., 1985). Moreover, De Biasi and Rustioni (1988) demonstrated the co-existence of SP and glutamate in the same primary afferent terminals, which supported previous studies describing the modulatory effect of SP on the excitatory action of glutamate (Urban and Randic, 1984). In the spinal cord, the highest density of SP immunoreactivity is found in lamina I and outer lamina II of the dorsal horn (Ribeiro-da-Silva and Hokfelt, 2000).

Once released from the pre-synaptic membrane, SP either binds to its preferred receptor, the neurokinin-1 receptor, activating several second messenger systems or its biological activity is terminated by the action of a neutral metalloendopeptidase (Benuck and Marks, 1975) or an angiotensin I converting enzyme (Skidgel et al., 1984).

#### 1.2.4-1 Neurokinin-1 Receptor

The neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1r) is a member of the class I (rhodopsinlike) cell surface G protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily, which also includes the neurokinin-2 (NK-2r) and neurokinin-3 (NK-3r) receptors, which are the preferential receptors for NKA and NKB, respectively (Shigemoto et al., 1990; Yokota et al., 1989). The NK-1r consists of a seven hydrophobic  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane domains with a glycosylated extracellular N-terminus and an intracellular C-terminus (Figure 3). The human NK-1r has a 92% homology with mouse and rat NK-1r (Fong et al., 1992).





Figure 3 - Schematic model of the rat NK-1r. From (Bremer and Leeman, 2001).

#### 1.2.4-2 NK-1r: Signal Transduction

The binding of SP to the NK-1r, coupled to Gaq and/or Ga11, activates the phospholipase C  $\beta$  (PLC $\beta$ ) pathway, causing the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) and the generation of two intracellular second messengers inositol 1, 4, 5-triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (Mitsuhashi et al., 1992; Nakajima et al., 1992). IP3 stimulates the mobilization of calcium from endoplasmic reticulum stores causing an increase in intracellular calcium concentrations, which in turn causes cellular responses through the activation of calcium-calmodulin (Ca2+/CAM) kinase. DAG activates the protein kinase C (PKC) pathway which leads to protein phosphorylation and activation of various gene transcription factors. Furthermore, activation of PKC stimulates the catalytic activity of phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) and the subsequent release of arachidonic acid (AA) (Garcia et al., 1994), which is a precursor to inflammation-inducing agents (Figure 4).

Alternatively, activation of NK-1r coupled to Gαs protein, leads to the stimulation of membrane bound adenyl cyclase (AC), which results in the formation and accumulation of cyclic AMP (cAMP) (Mitsuhashi et al., 1992; Nakajima et al., 1992). cAMP in turn activates protein kinase A (PKA) which results in the phosphorylation of cAMP-response-element-binding protein(CREB), and the subsequent regulation of gene expression (Figure 5).



**Figure 4** – NK-1r-Gaq-PLC $\beta$  pathway. From (Billington and Penn, 2003).

#### 1.2.4-3 NK-1r Regulation

To stop the signaling of the SP/NK-1r complex, the C terminus of the NK-1r is phosphorylated by G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRK) (Premont and Gainetdinov, 2007) which subsequently leads to the recruitment of  $\beta$ -arrestins and the internalization of the phosphorylated NK-1r complex into clathrin-coated pits (Ferguson et al., 1996). In the endosome, the NK-1r dissociates from the SP ligand and the  $\beta$ -arrestins, and is dephosphorylated, and the resensitized receptor is recycled back to the cell surface. Alternatively, the receptor may be trafficked to lysosomes for degradation and downregulation (Marchese et al., 2008) (Figure 6).



**Figure 5** – NK-1r-Gαs-cAMP pathway. From (Soon et al., 2008).

#### 1.2.4-4 SP, NK-1r and Clinical Disease States

SP and its receptor are widely distributed in the nervous system and in peripheral tissues (Bremer and Leeman, 2001) which implicates them in the pathophysiology of various conditions, including pain, asthma, cystitis, inflammatory bowel disease, migraine, anxiety and emesis (Quartara and Maggi, 1998). Some of these conditions are discussed below.


**Figure 6** – NK-1r regulation through recycling or degradation. From (Billington and Penn, 2003).

#### 1.2.4-4a SP and Pain

In the DRG, 20-30% of the neuronal populations contain SP (Otsuka and Yoshioka, 1993). SP is involved in the propagation of painful stimuli primarily in the thinly myelinated Aδ fibers and the unmyelinated peptidergic C fibers (Lawson et al., 1997; McCarthy and Lawson, 1989). SP exerts its action both peripherally and centrally. Peripherally, SP participates in the regulation of inflammatory, immune and wound-healing responses (Bolton and Clapp, 1986; Carolan and Casale, 1993; Devillier et al., 1986; Hartung et al., 1986; Hokfelt et al., 1975; Lundberg et al., 1983; Marasco et al., 1981; McGovern et al., 1995; Nilsson et al., 1985; Roch-Arveiller et al., 1986; Sakamoto et al., 1993; Stanisz et al., 1986; Tanaka et al., 1988; Vishwanath and Mukherjee, 1996). Although most of these effects are mediated by the NK-1r (Ribeiro-da-Silva et al., 2000), the effects on mast cells are not (Bueb et al., 1990). Centrally, SP binds to its receptor, present on spinal dorsal horn projection neurons, where it acts as a co-

transmitter with glutamate, facilitating the transmission of nociceptive stimuli towards supraspinal regions (Marshall et al., 1996).

The role of SP and NK-1r in nociceptive transmission has been investigated by several groups. Application of SP onto the dorsal horn by iontophoresis resulted in the excitation of nociceptive neurons (Radhakrishnan and Henry, 1991; Salter and Henry, 1991), while the intrathecal administration of SP elicited behavioral pain responses (biting, scratching, licking) (Seybold et al., 1982). Moreover, a strong SP input from stimulated peptidergic primary afferents resulted in the internalization of NK-1r (Allen et al., 1999) and the intrathecal injection of the cytotoxic saporin conjugated to SP selectively destroyed NK-1r-expressing spinal lamina I neurons, which attenuated behavioral responses to noxious mechanical and thermal stimuli (Khasabov et al., 2002; Mantyh et al., 1997; Nichols et al., 1999; Suzuki et al., 2002b; Vierck et al., 2003; Wiley et al., 2007; Wiley and Lappi, 2003).

#### 1.2.4-4b SP and Inflammation

SP is present at the peripheral endings of peptidergic primary sensory afferents. Its release induces inflammation, known as neurogenic inflammation, which plays a role in the pathogenesis of some diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (Gronblad et al., 1988) and fibromyalgia (Salemi et al., 2003).

Release of SP, and its binding to the NK-1r, activates resident immune cells such as macrophages, leucocytes and mast cells (Ho et al., 1996; Maggi, 1997), enhances the release of pro-inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, histamine, an inflammatory transcription factor, nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF $\kappa$ B), interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (Bost, 2004; Ho et al., 1997; Holzer and Holzer-Petsche, 1997), and acts on the endothelial cells of blood vessels to increase vascular permeability, vasodilatation, and plasma extravasations of neutrophils and monocytes (Pernow, 1983; Smith et al., 1993). Taken together, these three effects result in the amplification of the inflammatory response, subsequent edema formation and further release of SP. It was demonstrated that the administration of NK-1r antagonists blocks the neurogenic inflammation in animal models of rheumatoid arthritis (Decaris et al., 1999).

#### 1.2.4-4c SP and Emesis

The vomiting reflex center, which is found in the medulla oblongata, expresses the NK-1r and is densely innervated by SP immunoreactive nerve fibers (Helke et al., 1984; Yamazoe et al., 1984). These SP-positive afferents are closely associated with gastric efferent neurons that project to the stomach (Ladic and Buchan, 1996). It was demonstrated that the central administration of SP induces emesis (Gardner et al., 1994). Moreover, several studies indicate the inhibitory effect of NK-1r antagonists on a broad spectrum of emetic stimuli (Bountra et al., 1993; Gardner et al., 1995; Rudd et al., 1999; Tattersall et al., 1993; Watson et al., 1995). Clinically, chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting is among the worst side effects in chemotherapy (Coates et al., 1983). The 2003 FDA- approved, NK-1r antagonist, aprepitant (EMEND®, Merck & Co, Inc), is the only anti-emetic available on the market that has significantly improved the quality of life of cancer patients (Hargreaves et al., 2011).

#### 1.2.5 Cytoarchitecture of the Spinal Cord

The grey matter in the spinal cord is mainly composed of neuronal cell bodies and glia. Rexed divided the grey matter in the spinal cord of the cat into ten laminae (Rexed, 1952), and his lamination was subsequently adapted to other species. Lamina I to VI, designated as the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, receive sensory input from the periphery (Figure 7). The superficial layers of the dorsal horn, composed of lamina I, known as the marginal layer, and lamina II, known as the substantia gelatinosa, receive the majority of the primary termination of the nociceptive A $\delta$  and C fibers originating from the skin (Light and Perl, 1979; Ribeiro-da-Silva and De Koninck, 2008; Sugiura et al., 1986).



**Figure 7** – Rexed laminar division of the spinal cord. **A:** Illustration of a transverse section of the spinal cord. **B:** Immunostaining with NeuN antibody which specifically labels neurons. **C:** Schematic illustration of the laminar organization of the spinal dorsal horn. From (Todd, 2010).

Among the lamina I spinal dorsal horn neurons are two populations, namely, neurons which give rise to axons that ascend the spinal cord named projection neurons and interneurons with very spiny, ventrally oriented dendrites (Cordero-Erausquin et al., 2009). Lamina I interneurons comprise more than 90% of the laminar neuronal population and were described to be presynaptic to lamina I spinoparabrachial projection neurons (Cordero-Erausquin et al., 2009), suggesting a role in the modulatory control of the signal conveyed supraspinally from the spinal cord.

Of interest to this thesis are the projection neurons, which will be further discussed below.

#### 1.2.5-1 Projection Neurons

Neurons projecting supraspinally to the brainstem and brain are found in both lamina I and deeper laminae. The majority of these neurons travel in contralateral ascending pathways.

#### 1.2.5-1a Lamina I NK-1r-immunoreactive Neurons

Approximately 80% of lamina I projection neurons express the NK-1r (Marshall et al., 1996; Todd et al., 2000). This population represents less than 5% of the total spinal dorsal horn neurons (Mullen et al., 1992; Suhonen et al., 1996). These projection neurons are excitatory and do not contain the inhibitory neurotransmitters, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) or glycine (Littlewood et al., 1995). Their role in transmitting noxious pain was demonstrated by several studies. Acute noxious stimuli causes receptor internalization (Mantyh et al., 1995) or c-fos expression (Doyle and Hunt, 1999) in NK-1r-expressing lamina I neurons. Moreover, all dorsal horn neurons activated by SP were also activated by noxious stimulation (Henry, 1976) and selective ablation of NK-1r-immunoreactive neurons in lamina I via injection of the cytotoxin SP-saporin, resulted in alleviating pain sensitivity in neuropathic and inflammatory pain models (Mantyh et al., 1997; Nichols et al., 1999).

#### 1.2.5-1b Deep Laminae NK-1r-immunoreactive Neurons

NK-1r-expressing neurons present in deeper laminae (LIII – LV) have large neurons with dorsally directed dendrites which terminate within the superficial laminae (Bleazard et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1995; Littlewood et al., 1995). These neurons receive synaptic input from both unmyelinated SP-positive peptidergic and myelinated primary afferents (Naim et al., 1997; Naim et al., 1998). Like lamina I projection neurons, these neurons also project rostrally to the parabrachial nucleus and other brainstem nuclei (Todd et al., 2000).

#### 1.2.5-1c Classification of Lamina I Projection Neurons

Lamina I projection neurons are divided into three populations based on their morphological and correlated physiological properties, a classification that is consistent across species.

Morphologically, this classification relies on the cell body shape and the dendritic arborization pattern when viewed in the horizontal plane. Fusiform neurons have elongated, spindle-shaped soma with a primary dendrite at each end. Multipolar neurons consist of an irregularly-shaped cell body with four or more dendrites. Pyramidal neurons have a triangular soma with one primary dendrite arising from each of the three corners of the cell body (Almarestani et al., 2007; Craig, 2003; Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999; Zhang and Craig, 1997; Zhang et al., 1996) (Figure 8). This classification has been shown to be consistent across species (rats, cats and monkeys) (Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999; Zhang and Craig, 1997; Zhang et al., 1996).

The physiological characteristics of these neuronal populations were identified based on their response to cutaneous input. Nociceptive specific (NS) neurons respond only to noxious heat and pinch. Polymodal nociceptive (HPC) neurons respond to noxious heat, pinch and cold, as well as to innocuous cold. Innocuous thermoreceptive (COLD) neurons respond to innocuous cooling only (Craig and Bushnell, 1994; Craig and Kniffki, 1985; Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996; Han et al., 1998).

A study by Han et al. (1998) demonstrated that the morphological and physiological properties of lamina I projection neuronal populations are correlated. All fusiform cells were NS, pyramidal cells were all COLD and multipolar cells consisted of both HPC and NS neurons. Moreover, these observations suggest a role for fusiform and multipolar neurons in nociceptive signaling, which is supported by studies in rats and monkeys, that demonstrate the expression of NK-1r by these two populations, while pyramidal neurons seldom express the NK-1r, in agreement with a non-nociceptive role for these neurons (Almarestani et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999).



**Figure 8** – The three populations of lamina I projection neurons in horizontal sections of primate spinal cord. A: Multipolar neurons B: Fusiform neurons C: Pyramidal neurons. From (Yu et al., 1999).

#### 1.2.5-2 Ascending Pain Pathways

As mentioned earlier, projection neurons are mainly concentrated in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn. The axons of these projection neurons cross the midline and then travel in the contralateral white matter to the thalamus and various brainstem nuclei including the lateral parabrachial nucleus (PB), caudal ventrolateral medulla (CVLM), periaqueductal grey (PAG) and nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) (Al-Khater and Todd, 2009). According to Todd's group, at lumbar levels in the rat, the majority of lamina I projection neurons project to the PB and CVLM (Al-Khater and Todd, 2009; Spike et al., 2003), with less than 5% projecting to the thalamus (Al-Khater et al., 2008) (Figure 9). However, data from our laboratory in both rat and primate indicate a considerably higher percentage of lamina I neurons projecting to the thalamus from lumbar levels (Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999).

These target nuclei have diverse functions in processing the different components of pain. The CVLM modulates the cardiovascular responses to nociceptive inputs and contributes to the supraspinal descending pathways (Lima et al., 2002). The PAG is a central site for analgesic action and is involved in

organizing coping mechanisms to deal with pain and contributes to the descending modulation of the dorsal horn (Heinricher et al., 2009). The NTS is a site of convergence for both nociceptive and cardiorespiratory afferents and modulates respiratory activity, blood pressure and other autonomic responses that result from a noxious stimulation (Boscan et al., 2002). The thalamic neurons projecting to the primary and secondary somatosensory cortices are involved in the sensory-discriminative pain aspects, while those projecting to the insular cortex and amygdala contribute to the limbic processing of pain (Gauriau and Bernard, 2004).



**Figure 9** – Supraspinal projections of lamina I neurons. From (Todd, 2010).

The lateral parabrachial is the target nucleus in work presented in this thesis. Therefore, the spinoparabrachial pathway will be discussed in more detail.

#### 1.2.5-2a Spinoparabrachial Pathway

Spinoparabrachial (spino-PB) neurons represent the majority of the NK-1r-immunoreactive lamina I projection neurons with up to 80-90% of all lamina I projection neurons either projecting exclusively to the PB or sending collaterals to the PB through the spino-thalamic pathway (Al-Khater and Todd, 2009; Ding et al., 1995; Hylden et al., 1989; Spike et al., 2003).

Lamina I spino-PB neurons encode nociceptive and thermoceptive information (Bester et al., 2000; Keller et al., 2007; Nakamura and Morrison, 2008b). Subsequently, neurons from the PB area project in turn to the amygdala and the hypothalamus in the forebrain, and the PAG and CVLM in the brainstem (Bester et al., 2000; Gauriau and Bernard, 2002; Jasmin et al., 1997).

Therefore, the spino-PB pathway is implicated in the emotional and homeostatic control mechanisms in response to pain (Craig, 2003; Gauriau and Bernard, 2002).

#### 1.2.6 The Cerebral Cortex

Nociception is encoded for by activation of the neural circuitry by noxious stimuli. However, the perception of pain emerges in the cortex as a result of multidimensional integration of sensory discriminative, affective motivational and cognitive evaluative components (Melzack and Casey, 1968). The cortex is an active regulator of nociceptive transmission, such that, depending on the behavioral context, the nociceptive signals could receive enhanced attention or be subordinated to other needs of higher priority (Bolles and Fanselow, 1982; Koyama et al., 2005; Quevedo and Coghill, 2007). Functional imaging techniques helped researchers recognize that pain perception in the cortex occurs via an interacting cortical matrix, rather than there being a specific pain center (Apkarian et al., 2005). The intensity and affective quality of the perceived pain is the net result of the interaction between ascending inputs and descending modulation.

The descending pathways from the brain to the superficial lamina I dorsal horn, which were mentioned earlier, are discussed more fully below.

#### 1.2.7 Descending Pain Pathways

Spinal nociceptive processing is subject to inhibitory and facilitatory influences descending from the brain (McMahon and Wall, 1988). The balance between descending inhibition and facilitation is dynamic but it could be disrupted under certain behavioural, emotional or pathological states.

#### 1.2.7-1 Descending Facilitation

Descending serotonergic facilitatory pathways originate in the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) (Urban and Gebhart, 1999; Urban et al., 1996;

Zhuo and Gebhart, 1997). This pathway exerts its facilitatory influences via the release of serotonin onto the central terminals of small diameter primary afferents activating ionotropic 5-hydroxytryptamine receptors (5-HT3) (Zeitz et al., 2002). Activation of the descending facilitatory pathways results in enhanced pain processing and intensified responses to noxious stimulation, which, in physiological states, allows for the enhanced detection, localization and reaction to potentially harmful stimuli (Ali et al., 1996; Green et al., 2000; Oyama et al., 1996).

#### 1.2.7-2 Descending Inhibition

The descending inhibitory pathway plays a part in the negative feedback loop to dorsal horn neurons. A painful stimulus is transmitted to supraspinal regions, activating the descending inhibitory pathway, which in turn prevents excessive pain awareness by attenuating the successive painful signals (Fields and Basbaum, 1978).

There are two major descending inhibitory pathways, the PAG-RVMdorsal horn circuitry and the noradrenergic inhibitory pathway. Both of these descending inhibitory pathways are subject to emotional and cognitive regulation, which in turn modulate the responses to nociceptive signalling of spinal neurons.

#### 1.2.7-2a The PAG-RVM-dorsal horn Pathway

The RVM acts as the final relay station for descending anti-nociceptive action from a number of supraspinal sites, since it receives direct projections from the spinal dorsal horn and projects directly to the spinal cord (Newman, 1985). The RVM connects directly to the PAG (Behbehani and Fields, 1979; Gebhart et al., 1983) which in turn is heavily interconnected with the prefrontal cortex, hypothalamus, and amygdala (Gebhart et al., 1983). Stimulation of this pathway contributes to the spinal anti-nociceptive effect by release of pain inhibitory monoamines, amino acids and neuropeptides, such as GABA and serotonin from descending axon terminals in direct contact with spinal projection neurons (Giesler et al., 1981a; Jensen and Yaksh, 1984; Westlund et al., 1990).

#### 1.2.7-2b The Noradrenergic Pathway

Descending noradrenergic pathways originating from brainstem nuclei, such as the locus coeruleus exert inhibitory influences onto spinal cord neurons through the release of norepinephrine which acts predominantly at spinal  $\alpha$ 2adrenoceptors (Millan, 2002; Pertovaara, 2006), therefore, inhibiting the release of neurotransmitters from the primary afferent terminals and reducing the excitability of spinal dorsal horn projection neurons (Budai et al., 1998; Stanfa and Dickenson, 1994; Sullivan et al., 1992; Suzuki et al., 2002a).

#### 1.3 Theories on Development of Chronic Pain

Chronic neuropathic pain is associated with multiple alterations in the peripheral and central nervous system that lead to maladaptive plasticity of the nociceptive system. These alterations are linked to peripheral and central sensitization mechanisms, characterized by a lowering in stimulation thresholds, an increase in the suprathreshold responses and spontaneous activity. Several of these mechanisms will be briefly discussed below.

#### 1.3.1 Peripheral Sensitization

Peripheral sensitization refers to the upregulation in primary afferent activity. It can occur due to several mechanisms, some of which will be discussed below.

#### 1.3.1-1 Wallerian Degeneration

Wallerian degeneration is a pathological process that occurs following nerve injury and was first described in frogs by Augustus Waller (1851). It is identified by the progressive degeneration and phagocytosis of myelin and axons distal to the site of injury (Stoll et al., 2002). Although Wallerian degeneration is a necessary prerequisite for the regeneration of injured peripheral nerves, only its role in the development of neuropathic pain will be discussed in this thesis. Following nerve injury, resident Schwann cells, endothelial cells and mast cells release pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ . TNF- $\alpha$  stimulates the upregulation of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, activates the phagocytic activity of Schwann cells and recruits macrophages to the site of injury, all of which contribute to the process of nerve fiber degeneration (Lisak et al., 1997). Furthermore, the local release of TNF- $\alpha$  from Schwann cells causes spontaneous electrophysiological activity in the surviving nociceptive fibers, which contributes to the phenomenon of ectopic firing (Sorkin et al., 1997)

#### 1.3.1-2 Ectopic Activity in Primary Afferents

Ectopic activity of primary afferents can lead to ongoing spontaneous pain or paroxysmal shooting pain that originates at sites other than the peripheral terminals. Ectopic impulses may originate from the dorsal root ganglion of the injured nerve, the site of nerve injury (either from the spontaneous activity of the injured nerves or from the heightened sensitivity of the intact nerves to stimuli) and/ or from the demyelinated axons of the injured nerve (Devor and Bernstein, 1982; Tal and Eliav, 1996; Wall and Devor, 1983). Several studies have demonstrated a correlation between spontaneous firing and nerve injury in both humans (Gracely et al., 1992; Nystrom and Hagbarth, 1981) and in animal models (Seltzer et al., 1991).

#### 1.3.1-3 Sensory-sympathetic Coupling

The partial denervation of the skin following nerve injury may induce noradrenergic hypersensitivity of the intact primary afferents, whereby contributing to stimulus-independent spontaneous activity. The sympatheticallymaintained pain following nerve damage is a result of the sprouting of sympathetic post-ganglionic fibers so as to form "baskets" around DRG cells or to make non-synaptic contacts with the intact primary afferents in the periphery that acquired functional adrenergic receptors (Janig et al., 1996; McLachlan et al., 1993; Ruocco et al., 2000; Yen et al., 2006).

#### 1.3.1-4 Abnormal Expression of Voltage-gated Sodium Channels

Voltage-gated sodium channels (VGNC) are important for the generation of action potentials. Following nerve injury, these channels undergo a change in their expression as well as their distribution (Devor et al., 1993; England et al., 1996). Dorsal root ganglion neurons are known to express two types of VGNC, fast-inactivating TTX-sensitive (Nav1.3 and Nav1.7) and slow-inactivating TTXresistant (Nav1.8 and Nav1.9) channels (Dib-Hajj et al., 1999b; Waxman et al., 1999). Nerve injury decreases the expression of Nav1.8 and Nav1.9 in the DRG soma, yet it increases its expression in the periphery, suggesting that nerve injury may trigger the translocation of Nav1.8 to the injury site, (Dib-Hajj et al., 1999a; Novakovic et al., 1998; Okuse et al., 1997). Moreover, nerve injury induces the re-expression of Nav1.3 in DRG cells, a VGNC usually expressed during embryonic development and down-regulated in the adult (Black et al., 1999; Dib-Hajj et al., 1999a; Waxman et al., 1994). The translocation and accumulation of Nav1.8 VGNC to the injury site may account for the inappropriate action potential initiation and subsequent hyperexcitability of afferents in the region of demyelination (Burchiel, 1980; Devor et al., 1993). The re-activation of Nav1.3 in the DRG may induce abnormal repetitive firing in the injured neurons, thus acting as ectopic impulse generators (Matzner and Devor, 1994).

#### 1.3.2 Central Sensitization

Central sensitization is a result of increased release of excitatory neurotransmitters, such as glutamate and SP, and enhanced synaptic efficacy. Once central sensitization is established, the central nervous system amplifies the degree, duration and spatial extent of the pain, to a level that does not reflect the specific qualities of peripheral noxious stimuli. There are several mechanisms implicated in central sensitization at the level of the spinal dorsal horn and some of these will be discussed here.

#### 1.3.2-1 Pathological Sensitization of Spinal Cord Neurons

Nerve injury-triggered peripheral ectopic firing of primary afferents causes a prolonged or massive input into the spinal cord, which enhances the response of dorsal horn neurons to all subsequent input (Woolf and Wall, 1986) in a phenomenon referred to as "wind-up". This process reduces the nociceptive threshold of dorsal horn neurons and leads to their subsequent sensitization. Moreover, peripheral nerve injury, pre-synaptically, causes the down-regulation of inhibitory µ-opioid receptors (Kohno et al., 2005) and the upregulation of voltage-gated calcium channel activity (Li et al., 2004) in the spinal dorsal horn, consequently leading to an enhanced release of glutamate onto post-synaptic dorsal horn neurons. Post-synaptically, a peripheral nerve injury results in a change in the  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptors, such that there is an increased recruitment of AMPA receptors to the cell surface (Harris et al., 1996) and activation of NMDA receptors. This increase in glutamate receptor activity results in increased calcium influx (Dougherty et al., 1993; Duggan, 1995; Yoshimura and Yonehara, 2006), which causes the release of neuropeptides and glutamate and the subsequent nitric oxide synthesis, prostaglandin production, protein phosphorylation and central glial activation. All these factors lead to the increased spontaneous activity of dorsal horn neurons, expansion of their receptive fields and the decreased threshold to subsequent afferent input.

#### 1.3.2-2 Disinhibition

Disinhibition is a decrease in synaptic inhibition, resulting in increased excitability or activation of normally silent pathways. Disinhibition may occur as a result of alterations in supraspinal descending pathways, such as a reduced descending noradrenergic inhibition (Rahman et al., 2008) or an enhanced descending serotonergic facilitation (Bee and Dickenson, 2008; Vera-Portocarrero et al., 2006). Alternatively, disinhibition may result from changes to local GABA-ergic inhibition, due to loss of GABA-ergic interneurons (Moore et al., 2002; Scholz et al., 2005) or downregulation of potassium chloride cotransporter isoform 2 (KCC2) resulting in increased intracellular chloride ion concentration,

whereby the activation of  $GABA_A$  receptors may induce depolarization instead of hyperpolarization, therefore provoking spontaneous activity, enhancing the excitability of the cell and effectively reducing the strength of GABA-ergic inhibition (Coull et al., 2005; Coull et al., 2003; Keller et al., 2007).

#### 1.3.2-3 Glia Activation

Peripheral nerve injury triggers the early glial response via the activation of spinal microglia. This activation is prompted by adenosine triphosphate (ATP) binding to the purinergic receptors, P2X4 and P2X7. Activated microglia release cytokines (IL-6, IL-10, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ), nitric oxide, brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and excitatory amino acids, all of which contribute to the sensitization of dorsal horn neurons (Inoue, 2006). The microglial cytokines directly modulate the activity of the central terminals of primary afferents and the dorsal horn neurons, while BDNF produces a depolarizing shift in the anion reversal potential, thereby inducing an inversion of inhibitory GABA-ergic currents mentioned above (Coull et al., 2005).

The early microglial activation is followed by a later, longer-sustained increase in the activation and proliferation of astrocytes, which in turn releases several neurotransmitters and enhance synaptic activity (Coyle, 1998; Ren and Dubner, 2008; Zhuang et al., 2005).

#### 1.3.3 Reorganization in Supraspinal Regions

Nerve injury may result in an increase in neuronal excitability and reorganization of neuronal connections in the thalamus and cortex (Lenz et al., 2000). Functional magnetic resonance imaging studies in humans show that light touch, in patients with neuropathic pain, results in the activation of a complex cortical network of nociceptive, motor and cognitive areas not seen in normal subjects (Maihofner et al., 2006; Schweinhardt et al., 2006). This suggests a change in the processing of the cutaneous stimuli at supraspinal centers.

#### 1.4 The Sciatic Nerve

The animal models used throughout this thesis involve the manipulation of the sciatic nerve of Sprague Dawley rats. The sciatic nerve is the largest and longest nerve in all vertebrates. Several studies have demonstrated the existence

of variations in the anatomy of the sciatic nerve depending on the rodent species and strain (Asato et al., 2000; Rigaud et al., 2008; Swett et al., 1991). The sciatic nerve of Sprague Dawley rats enters through the sciatic foramen and projects mostly to the L4 and L5 lumbar segments of the spinal cord, with also a small contribution to L6, mainly through the L4 and L5 spinal nerves, and to a smaller extent the L6 spinal nerve (Asato et al., 2000; Decosterd and Woolf, 2000; Rigaud et 2008; Swett et al., 1991). al., Peripherally, proximal to the spinal cord, the sciatic nerve forms a large bundle of nerve fibers encased in a connective tissue sheath called the epineurium. While distal to the spinal cord, the sciatic nerve subdivides into three fasciculi, each enclosed in connective tissue known as perineurium. The three main branches of the sciatic nerve are tibial, sural and common peroneal and these innervate distinct regions of the dorsal and plantar surfaces of the hind paw (Swett and



Figure 10 – Schematic illustration of models of peripheral nerve injury. A: Sciatic nerve transection. B: Chronic constriction injury. C: Partial sciatic nerve ligation. D: Spared nerve injury model. E: Spinal nerve ligation. From (Klusakova and Dubovy, 2009).

Woolf, 1985; Takahashi et al., 1994). The tibial nerve innervates the middle zone

of the plantar surface, the sural nerve innervates the lateral zone of the hind paw and the common peroneal innervates the middle zone of the dorsal aspect of the hind paw (Figure 11). The primary afferents of the sciatic nerve terminate in the medial three-fourths of the superficial dorsal horn in a highly detailed, topographic pattern which correlates to the topography of the innervated skin surface, such that afferents from the common peroneal terminate in a zone between the medially situated tibial zone and the more laterally located sural zone (Swett and Woolf, 1985).

#### 1.5 Experimental Animal Models

Since carrying out experimental studies in humans is unethical and the human experience of pain is far too complex to be fully reproduced in one model, a number of animal models have been developed to mimic human neuropathic pain etiologies and to study the aspects of various neuropathic pain conditions. Some of these models will be described below:

The first neuropathic pain model, designed in 1979 (Wall et al., 1979), comprised the complete transection of the sciatic nerve which resulted in approximately 60% reduction of primary afferent neurons and a high degree of autotomy (Figure 10A).

The model of chronic constriction injury (CCI) (Bennett and Xie, 1988) is an animal model of peripheral mononeuropathy in which the sciatic nerve is loosely constricted with four chromic gut sutures (Figure 10B). It results in a significant, but not complete, loss of primary afferents, many of which are large myelinated axons (Coggeshall et al., 1993). However, this model presents a considerable inflammatory response, owing to the use of chromic suture material, which may contribute to the neuropathic symptoms (Bennett and Xie, 1988).

The partial sciatic nerve ligation (PSNL) model (Seltzer et al., 1990) involves the tight ligation of half of the sciatic nerve with a silk suture (Figure 10C). However, this procedure does not involve a total denervation of the sciatic innervation territory and it is difficult to control the number and types of afferents injured between experiments.

The spared nerve injury (SNI) model (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000) involves the tight ligation of the tibial and common peroneal nerves, which comprise two of the three distal branches of the sciatic nerve, while the sural nerve is left intact (Figure 10D). The damaged sensory neurons innervate a restricted area in the periphery. Nevertheless, there is a considerable interaction between the somas of the injured and non-injured primary afferents in the DRGs.

The spinal nerve ligation (SNL) model (Kim and Chung, 1992) involves the tight ligation of one or two (L5 only or L5 and L6) of the spinal segmental nerves that contribute to the sciatic nerve (Figure 10E). This procedure results in the complete loss of afferents from the ligated spinal nerves. However, there is a risk of exposure of the intact L4 spinal nerve to the inflammatory components released from the ligated L5 spinal nerve, which lies in close proximity to the L4 spinal segmental nerve.

For the interest of this thesis, two animal models were used, namely the chronic constriction injury model using polyethylene cuff (cuff) and the IB4-saporin model of cytotoxic ablation of a primary afferent population, both of which will be further examined below.

#### 1.5.1 Cuff Model

The first cuff model was developed by Mosconi and Kruger (1996) and involves the placement of short, fixed-diameter cuffs of polyethylene tubing around the main branch of the sciatic nerve. The model was behaviorally characterized in rats (Pitcher and Henry, 2004) and in mice (Benbouzid et al., 2008), both of which showed behavior that persisted for at least two months. With this model of peripheral neuropathy there is less variability in performing the procedure among experimenters than with the original CCI model, which allows for minimal variability in the degree of nerve constriction among animals. Therefore, it leads to a consistent nerve injury and in theory permits easier comparisons with other published studies (Cahill and Coderre, 2002; Cahill et al., 2003; Coull et al., 2003; Fisher et al., 1998).

#### 1.5.2 IB4-saporin Model

Saporin is a 30-kDa ribosomal inactivating protein first described in 1983 by Stirpe et al. (1983). Saporin is a stable molecule with a very specific enzymatic activity. Once inside the cell,

the saporin inactivates the ribosome by removing a single adenine base from the large ribosomal subunit. which inhibits protein synthesis and consequently results in cell death (Wiley and Lappi, 1994). This all-or-none approach is favorable since only target Sephenous ner neuronal populations are affected. producing reliable lesions, while leaving other neighboring populations intact thereby creating and an effective tool for investigating a specific component in complex pathways.

When saporin is conjugated to IB4, the toxin becomes specifically targeted to IB4-positive, non-peptidergic primary afferents through the binding of IB4 to cell surface  $\alpha$ -D- galactose moities. It has



**Figure 11** – Diagram of region of entry of the sciatic nerve into the spinal cord (**A**) and the zones of peripheral innervation by the branches of the sciatic nerve (**B**). From (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000).

been documented by several groups that injection of IB4-saporin into the sciatic nerve will lead to the elimination of the non-peptidergic primary afferent population, with no significant long term changes in behavioral responses (Tarpley et al., 2004; Vulchanova et al., 2001). The lesion site is restricted to the medial three-fourths of the substantia gelatinosa, which corresponds to the central terminal fields of the tibial, common peroneal and sural branches of the sciatic nerve (Swett and Woolf, 1985).

Since there are no hyperalgesia or allodynia observed in the IB4-saporin model, it is not considered a model of neuropathic pain. However, it is a useful tool to study the role played by the non-peptidergic population of primary afferents under diverse conditions.

#### 1.6 General Objectives and Thesis Rationale

Although extensive research is taking place in the chronic pain field, we are still far from identifying all the circuits contributing to the development and maintenance of chronic pain in the spinal cord due to the insufficient knowledge of the intrinsic dorsal horn circuitry. Therefore, to understand how chronic pain is initiated and maintained, studies of the pathophysiological mechanisms and physiological alterations that take place in pain models are important. However, at least as important are studies of the normal dorsal horn synaptic circuitry as well as of the normal molecular and physiological mechanisms involved in the processing of pain-related information. The general objectives of the work described in this thesis are two: a) to study changes in spinal lamina I cell populations and innervation in an animal model of neuropathic pain; b) to contribute to our knowledge of the synaptic connections and function of one of the main populations of primary afferents related to the transmission of pain-related information.

This thesis covers three experimental chapters, namely:

 A combination of behavioral testing and confocal imaging was utilized to examine the phenotypic changes in the spinal lamina I projection neurons in an animal model of neuropathic pain. Furthermore, the spinal dorsal horn system, in chronic pain state, was challenged by an intradermal injection of capsaicin to test the functionality of the phenotypic changes.

- 2. The possible role of the non-peptidergic nociceptive afferents in inducing phenotypic changes in the spinal dorsal horn was studied using behavioral and confocal imaging techniques in the IB4-saporin model of selective cytotoxic ablation of non-peptidergic C fibers.
- 3. Confocal imaging and electron microscopy techniques were used to investigate the direct innervation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic unmyelinated primary afferents in naïve animals.

### Chapter 2

*De novo* expression of neurokinin-1 receptors by spinoparabrachial lamina I pyramidal neurons following a neuropathic lesion

### Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva

Submitted to Journal of Comparative Neurology, 2012 (under revision)

#### 2.1 Abstract

Lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn is a major site of integration and transmission to higher centers of nociceptive information from the periphery. One important primary afferent population that transmits such information to the spinal cord expresses substance P (SP). These fibers terminate in contact with lamina I projection neurons which express the SP receptor, also known as the neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1r). Three types of lamina I projection neurons have been described: multipolar, fusiform and pyramidal. The first two types are thought to be nociceptive and express the NK-1r, whereas the pyramidal type has been described as non-nociceptive and seldom expresses the NK-1r.

In this immunocytochemical and behavioral study, we induced a neuropathic lesion in the rat by means of a polyethylene cuff placed around the sciatic nerve. We document that this lesion led to a *de novo* expression of NK-1r on pyramidal neurons as well as a significant increase in SP-immunoreactive innervation onto these neurons. These phenotypic changes were evident at the time of onset of neuropathic pain-related behavior. Additionally, we show that following a noxious stimulus (intradermal capsaicin injection), these NK-1r on pyramidal neurons were internalized, providing evidence that these neurons become responsive to peripheral noxious stimulation. We suggest that the changes following nerve lesion in the phenotype and innervation pattern of pyramidal neurons are of significance for neuropathic pain and/or limb temperature regulation.

#### 2.2 Introduction

Chronic neuropathic pain occurs as a consequence of damage to either the central (e.g. spinal cord injury or multiple sclerosis) or the peripheral (e.g. post herpetic neuralgia or painful diabetic neuropathy) nervous systems. However, in spite of considerable progress, the mechanisms which trigger and maintain neuropathic pain are still poorly understood. Following lesions to peripheral nerves, some changes thought to be related to neuropathic pain occur at the level of the peripheral nervous system (Grelik et al., 2005; Peleshok and Ribeiro-da-

Silva, 2011; Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2011; Yen et al., 2006), but some develop in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord where the modulation of incoming pain-related signals occurs (Abbadie et al., 1996; Bailey and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2006; Castro-Lopes et al., 1993; Coull et al., 2003; Keller et al., 2007).

Spinal lamina I projection neurons play a major role in the forwarding of pain-related information to higher centers. Therefore, changes in the properties of these neurons may occur in neuropathic pain states and may be important for the triggering and/or maintenance of the pain-related condition. These lamina I neurons project mainly to the lateral parabrachial nucleus (LPb) (Bernard et al., 1995; Cechetto et al., 1985; Craig, 1995; Feil and Herbert, 1995; Wiberg and Blomqvist, 1984) and to the thalamus (Carstens and Trevino, 1978; Craig and Burton, 1981; Giesler et al., 1979; Giesler et al., 1981b; Willis et al., 1979). Lamina I projection neurons have been classified into three populations, based on their morphological properties; fusiform, multipolar and pyramidal (Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999; Zhang and Craig, 1997; Zhang et al., 1996). An intracellular physiological study allowed the correlation of morphological and physiological characteristics. Fusiform neurons were nociceptive-specific (NS) and responded to noxious heat and pinch; multipolar neurons were either NS or responded to noxious heat, pinch and noxious and innocuous cold (HPC); in contrast, pyramidal neurons were non-nociceptive, and responded to innocuous cooling (COOL) (Han et al., 1998). In agreement with their responsiveness to noxious stimuli, both fusiform and pyramidal neurons were shown to be immunoreactive for the main substance P (SP) receptor, the neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1r). However, in agreement with their lack of response to noxious stimuli, pyramidal neurons seldom express NK-1r (Almarestani et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999).

Importantly, we found that NK-1r were expressed *de novo* by pyramidal neurons, in an animal model of inflammatory arthritis (Almarestani et al., 2009). However, such expression started only at 2 weeks after the injection of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) into the plantar surface of the rat hind paw (Almarestani et al., 2009), coincident with the onset of extensive joint and bone damage, as

assessed by imaging approaches (Almarestani et al., 2011). Interestingly, we detected that, in normal animals, pyramidal neurons are hardly innervated by peptidergic nociceptive primary afferents, as revealed by SP immunoreactivity, but became abundantly innervated as from 2 weeks post-CFA injection (Almarestani et al., 2009). This is an important observation, because in past studies in the cat, combining intracellular physiology and injection of a marker with immunocytochemistry, it was shown that dorsal horn neurons which were abundantly innervated by SP were nociceptive, whereas non-nociceptive neurons were scarcely innervated by SP (De Koninck et al., 1992; Ma et al., 1996). It was also shown that, in the rat, neurons expressing the NK-1r are abundantly innervated by SP immunoreactive (-IR) primary afferents and display c-fos immunoreactivity following noxious stimulation (Todd et al., 2002). Based on the above, there seems to be a correlation between the presence of nociceptive responses and the abundance of SP innervation and expression of NK-1r by these neurons. Therefore, the lack of SP innervation of lamina I pyramidal neurons and the lack of expression of NK-1r by most of them in naïve animals, and the drastic change in NK-1r expression and SP innervation in these neurons in the presence of arthritis would suggest the switch from a non-nociceptive to a nociceptive phenotype of these cells (Almarestani et al., 2009).

In this study, we investigated whether the induction of neuropathic pain would trigger the *de novo* expression of NK-1r by lamina I pyramidal cells and alter their innervation by SP-IR nociceptive afferents.

#### 2.3 Materials & Methods

The guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care for the care and use of experimental animals were thoroughly followed in all the experiments described. Furthermore, the studies were conducted following approval by the McGill University Faculty of Medicine Animal Care Committee and followed the guidelines of the International Association for the Study of Pain.

A total of 74 male Sprague Dawley rats (Charles River, Quebec, Canada) weighing 215-225g were used for the experiments. The number of animals used

and their suffering was kept to the minimum necessary for the conduction of the study. The number of animals per group varied between four and eight animals. All animals were exposed to 12hr light/dark cycle and given food and water *ad libitum*. The cages housed four animals each and were fitted with soft bedding and a plastic tube for an enriched environment.

#### 2.3.1 Animal Preparation

#### Surgeries

Animals were anesthetized with 5% isoflurane in oxygen using a gas chamber. The left femoral muscle of the thigh was exposed using blunt dissection. The sciatic nerve was exposed and freed from surrounding connective tissue using a glass pipette. In the experimental group, a 2mm PE60 polyethylene tubing (Intramedic, Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON, Canada) was loosely placed on the sciatic nerve using 90-degree bent tip tweezers, ensuring minimal manipulation of the nerve. In the sham group, the sciatic nerve was exposed in the same manner as above but was not manipulated in any way. The incision was then sutured in two layers (muscles and skin, respectively). Animals were returned to their cages to recover. There was no difference in weight gain between experimental and sham groups at all time points studied.

#### Injection of Tracers

For all experiments requiring retrograde tracing, animals were anesthetized using 5% isoflurane in oxygen and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (David Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) and stabilized with non-perforating ear bars. With Bregma as the reference point, the coordinates for the parabrachial nucleus (rostral/caudal: -9.12; medial/lateral: -2.1; dorsal/ventral: -6.3) were calculated from the Paxinos & Watson Rat Brain Atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2005). A small hole was drilled through the skull at the target point, exposing the dura mater. A glass micropipette (Wiretrol II, Drummond Scientific Company, Broomall, PA) was lowered to the stereotaxic position of the parabrachial nucleus. Two  $\mu$ l of 1.0% solution of cholera toxin B (CTb) (List, Campbell, CA) were slowly injected into the parabrachial nucleus over a period of 20 minutes. A 10 minute waiting period was imposed before the micropipette was retracted from its position to minimize leakage of the tracer. CTb was injected seven days prior to sacrificing the animals.

#### Capsaicin Injection

As a noxious stimulus, a 20µl intra-dermal injection of a 0.1% capsaicin solution (Sigma/Aldrich, St-Louis, MO) in 20% ethanol, 7% TWEEN 80 and 73% physiological saline, was given between the interdigital pads of the left hind paw. The sham group received an intra-dermal vehicle injection of 20% ethanol, 7% TWEEN 80 and 73% physiological saline. Animals were sacrificed at 12 min post-injection.

#### 2.3.2 Behavior Testing

Animals were always habituated to the testing apparatus for 30 minutes prior to testing. Baseline behavioral thresholds for both tests were measured for two consecutive days prior to surgical treatments.

#### Testing for Mechanical allodynia

The testing apparatus consisted of clear plastic enclosures elevated on a mesh grid, which allowed complete access to the ventral side of the animal. Animals were tested using the up-down method described previously by Chaplan et al. (Chaplan et al., 1994). In brief, von Frey filaments of increasing stiffness were applied with 5 seconds delay between each presentation, starting with the 0.008g filament. The filament was applied to the mid-plantar area of the hind paw, avoiding the pads of the foot, until it buckled, and maintained for 10 seconds or until an obvious behavior (paw withdrawal, flicking or licking) occurred. A positive response prompted the next weaker filament to be presented, while a negative response prompted the presentation of the next stronger filament. This process was repeated 6 times and the number of positive reactions was noted and

an average threshold was calculated. After the right paw for all the animals was tested, the left paw was tested in the same manner.

#### Testing for Thermal hyperalgesia

The Hargreaves test (Hargreaves et al., 1988) was employed to measure heat nociceptive thresholds. Clear plastic enclosures were set on top of a glass floor. The light source was directed onto the skin area of the paw in contact with the glass. When the paw was lifted, the light source automatically turned off. Testing included three trials per paw with each trial being completed for all the animals before the start of the next trial, ensuring a 30 minute wait before the start of the next trial to minimize desensitization effects. The time from turning on of the light source until withdrawal was noted and an average of the three trials per paw was calculated.

#### 2.3.3 Animal Perfusion

At the end of each time point (7, 10, 15, 21, 28 days), the animals were deeply anesthetized with 0.3ml/100g of body weight of Equithesin (6.5mg chloral hydrate and 3mg sodium pentobarbital i.p.). They were then perfused through the left cardiac ventricle with perfusion buffer - for composition see (Côté et al., 1993) - for one minute followed by 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB), pH 7.4, for 30 minutes. The brain and spinal cord segments L4-L5 were extracted and post-fixed for 4 hours and 2 hours, respectively, in 4% paraformaldehyde in PB. The specimens were then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose in PB overnight at 4°C.

#### 2.3.4 Immunohistochemistry

To examine the injection site at the level of the parabrachial nucleus, serial 100µm-thick coronal sections of the relevant brain region were obtained. Furthermore, the dorsal aspect of the L4-L5 spinal cord segment was cut into serial 50µm thick horizontal sections, to examine lamina I. All specimens were cut using a freezing-sledge microtome (Leica, Richmond Hill, Ontario) and

collected as free-floating in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 0.2% Triton-X 100 (PBS+T).

Sections were incubated in 10% normal donkey serum (Jackson, West Grove, PA) in PBS+T for one hour at room temperature to block unspecific staining. Then, spinal cord sections were incubated with the primary antibodies: goat anti-CTb (List Biological Laboratories, Campbell, CA; product #703, lot #7032A6) at 1:5000 dilution and rabbit anti-NK1-r (Sigma/Aldrich, St-Louis, MO; product # S8305; lot 084K4845) at 1:10000 dilution in PBS+T containing 5% normal donkey serum for 48 hours at 4°C. Next, sections were washed several times with PBS+T and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature with a biotinylated donkey anti-goat IgG (1:250, Jackson, West Grove, PA), and, after further washing in PBS+T incubated with streptavidin conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (Molecular Probes) and donkey anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488 in 5% normal donkey serum and PBS+T for 2 hours at room temperature. Finally, sections were washed with PBS, mounted on gelatin-subbed slides and coverslipped with an anti-fading mounting medium (Aqua Polymount; Polysciences, Warrington, PA). Slides were stored in the dark at -4°C.

Brainstem sections of the injection site were incubated with anti-CTb antibody followed by biotinylated donkey anti-goat IgG and streptavidin conjugated to AlexaFluor 568. They were mounted and coverslipped as described above.

Spinal cord sections for the quantification of SP-IR input to lamina I neurons originated from a different cohort of animals (n=6). Sections were cut and processed as described above, but the primary antibody mixture included a rat anti-SP monoclonal antibody [spent tissue culture supernatant diluted 1:10, kindly supplied by A. Claudio Cuello; (Cuello et al., 1979); Medimabs, Montreal, Qc, Canada]. Furthermore, the secondary antibody mixture also included a donkey anti-rat IgG conjugated to Cy5 (Jackson, West Grove, PA).

#### 2.3.5 Antibody Specificity

As controls for immunocytochemistry, some sections were processed by omitting the primary antibodies or by pre-absorption with the peptide used to generate the antibody. In all cases, there was a complete loss of immunoreactivity.

The goat anti-CTb antibody was generated against CTb and its specificity was demonstrated by the lack of any staining in animals not injected with CTb. The rabbit anti-NK-1r antibody was generated against a synthetic peptide corresponding to amino acids 393-407 of the C-terminus region of the rat NK-1r, and purified by ion-exchange chromatography. In Western blots from rat brain, it recognizes a single band at 46 kDa, whose staining is specifically inhibited by incubation with the blocking peptide (data supplied by the manufacturer). Furthermore, it was shown that it does not produce any staining in NK-1r knockout mice, although it recognizes the receptor in wild type mice (Ptak et al., 2002).

The anti-substance P antibody has been extensively used in the literature by us (e.g. (Almarestani et al., 2009) and others. Although we obtained it directly from Professor Cuello, it is available commercially (e.g. MediMabs, BD Biosciences Pharmingen, Abcam). It is a monoclonal antibody (coded NC1/34) generated in the rat by immunization against the entire sequence of substance P conjugated to bovine serum albumin with carbodiimide, and fusing the spleen cells from these animals with a myeloma cell line (Cuello et al., 1979). One clone (NC1/34.HL) was chosen and characterized by radioimmunoassay; it did not recognize enkephalins, somatostatin or  $\beta$ -endorphin, and did recognize the Cterminal sequence of the substance P molecule (Cuello et al., 1979). The characterization of this antibody was described in detail in previous publications from our laboratory (Almarestani et al., 2009; McLeod et al., 2000). In short, although this antibody should not be able to differentiate substance P from the other two mammalian tackykinins, neurokinin A and neurokinin B, it does not recognize neurokinin B in the concentrations used for immunocytochemistry.

#### 2.3.6 Morphological Identification and Quantification of Lamina I Neurons

Our criteria of identification and quantification of lamina I neurons have been described extensively in previous publications from our laboratory [see e.g. (Almarestani et al., 2009)]. In brief, in the current study, six 50 µm-thick serial horizontal sections were cut from the dorsal part of the L4-L5 spinal segments. Four rats were used per time point. Sections were examined with a PlanFluotar 40X oil immersion objective on a Zeiss Axioplan 2e imaging fluorescence microscope. We only counted neurons ipsilateral to the lesion side which had visible nuclei, and with the cell body entirely located within the plane of the section, as assessed with the fine focus of the microscope. Lamina I neurons were classified according to their cell body shape and dendritic arborization into multipolar, fusiform, pyramidal and unclassified types (Almarestani et al., 2009).

#### 2.3.7 Quantification of Substance P-IR Boutons on Pyramidal Neurons

Sections were examined using a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal scanning laser microscope. We used a multi-track scanning method and appropriate filters for the separate detections of AlexaFluor 488, AlexaFluor 568 and Cy5. Images used for quantification represented serial optical sections obtained along the z-axis (zstacks), using a 63X plan-apochromatic oil-immersion objective. Furthermore, for an unbiased representation of the images taken, all the parameters of laser power, pinhole size and image detection were kept constant for all samples. All neurons classified as pyramidal neurons based on the criteria described above were scanned, independently of being immunoreactive for the NK-1r or labeled with the retrograde tracer only. Because the CTb labeled reliably and consistently only the cells bodies and primary dendrites, the analysis of the SP-IR innervation was restricted to these compartments of the cells. The images obtained were converted to TIFF files. To calculate the density of SP-IR boutons per unit length of neuronal membrane, the length of membrane in the soma and proximal dendrites was measured with the help of an MCID Elite Image Analysis System (Imaging Research, St.Catharines, ON, Canada) and the number of appositions from SP-IR

boutons onto it was counted. This was done on alternate optical sections from the z-stack, to avoid counting twice the same boutons.

#### 2.3.8 Statistics

Graphpad Prism 5 (Graphpad Software, San Diego, CA) was used to perform all statistical tests. Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni correction was applied to compare differences in pain-related behavior and lamina I cell populations between sham and experimental groups across the experimental time points studied. Unpaired t-test was used to compare the substance P-IR boutons in direct apposition to lamina I neurons following vehicle or capsaicin intradermal injection. All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM. Significance level for all the tests was set at p<0.05.

#### 2.4 Results

## 2.4.1 Development of mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia in neuropathic animals

We confirmed the development of neuropathic pain in our polyethylene cuff model of chronic constriction injury ("cuff") by means of behavioral testing. Animals in the cuff group developed mechanical allodynia, as revealed by testing with the von Frey filaments (Figure 1A). This allodynia developed at 10 days after cuff placement, and was still present at 28 days. These results were significantly different from the sham group.

Regarding changes in thermal sensitivity, we detected a decrease in withdrawal latency to heat when compared to the sham group, beginning at 10 days and that was still present at the 28 days time point (Figure 1B). There was no difference from baseline in the contralateral side data, either in sham-operated or cuff animals (data not shown).

#### 2.4.2 CTb injection into the parabrachial nucleus

The morphological observation of the CTb injection site in the parabrachial nucleus revealed a similar distribution to that observed by us in previous studies (Almarestani et al., 2007, 2009). The injection site covered most of the parabrachial complex, including the lateral parabrachial nucleus (LPb). Retrogradely labeled lamina I neurons were mostly found on the contralateral side, although a few were also present on the side ipsilateral to the CTb injection. CTb labeling of spinoparabrachial lamina I neurons included the cell body and primary dendrites (Figure 2).

#### 2.4.3 Classification of lamina I cells

As in previous publications from our laboratory, the different lamina I spinoparabrachial neuronal populations were identified based on their dendritic arborization and cell body shape when viewed in the horizontal plane. Multipolar neurons possess four or more primary dendrites arising from the cell body, independently of the shape of the soma (Figure 2A and 2B). Fusiform neurons have a spindle-shaped soma with one dendrite arising from each end of the cell body (Figure 2C and 2D). In the horizontal plane, pyramidal neurons have a triangular-shaped soma with a primary dendrite originating from each corner (Figure 2E and 2F). A relatively small number of neurons displayed features that were transitional between two of the cell types described above and did not meet the criteria for the main types because of their atypical appearance. Furthermore some neurons had a portion of the cell body and/or proximal dendritic tree truncated due to sectioning. All these cells were not classifiable and were considered as "unclassified" for the purposes of our quantitative analyses.

#### 2.4.4 Changes in lamina I neurons following cuff application

As previously described (Almarestani et al., 2007, 2009), lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons, in control animals, identified by CTb retrograde labeling, often expressed NK-1r. Indeed, most lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons of the fusiform and multipolar types expressed the receptor (Figures 2A-D and

3B, C). However, pyramidal neurons seldom expressed NK-1r in sham-operated animals (Figures 2E and 3A). Following cuff application, pyramidal neurons showed a *de novo* expression of NK-1r in a high proportion of cells (Figures 2F and 3A), whereas there were no changes in NK-1r expression by fusiform and multipolar neurons (Figures 2B, D and 3B-C). This *de novo* expression of NK-1r was detected from day 10 post-cuff (Figure 3A).

#### 2.4.5 Quantification of substance P innervation

We confirmed that fusiform and multipolar neurons receive abundant innervation from SP-IR fibers whereas pyramidal neurons were scarcely innervated, as we had previously observed (Almarestani et al., 2009). In cuff animals, we observed a significant increase in the number of appositions from SP-IR fibers at the 21 day time point when compared with pyramidal neurons of sham animals (Figures 4 and 5). This quantification was carried out in the cell bodies and proximal dendrites of neurons, independently of NK-1r expression. No significant change in SP-IR innervation was observed in the multipolar and fusiform neuronal populations (data not shown).

# 2.4.6 NK-1 receptor internalization in pyramidal cells following capsaicin injection

Injection of capsaicin intradermally into the hind paw of animals with cuff injury at the 21 day time point led to the internalization of the NK-1r from the cell surface to the cytosol of pyramidal neurons (Figure 6B). However, solvent injection did not induce NK-1r internalization (Fig 6A). NK-1r on multipolar and fusiform neurons were also internalized following capsaicin but not solvent injections (data not shown).



Figure 1
Figure 1: Behavioral changes following the cuff lesion. A: Assessment of tactile allodynia using von Frey filaments in cuff and sham-operated animals. Neuropathic animals showed a decrease in withdrawal threshold by 10 days post-cuff. No changes from baseline were detected in the Sham group. N=10, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction. (\*\*\* P<0.001) B: Assessment of thermal hyperalgesia using the Hargreaves test in cuff and sham groups. Neuropathic animals displayed a significant decrease in withdrawal latencies starting at 10 days post-surgery. No significant reduction in withdrawal latencies was detected for the sham group. N=10, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction. (\*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001)



Figure 2

**Figure 2:** Confocal images showing the morphology and NK-1r expression of lamina I spinoparabrachial neuronal populations, in sham-operated and cuff groups, at the 21 days time point. Unlike multipolar and fusiform neurons, pyramidal neurons normally did not express NK-1r (A, C, E). However, neuropathic animals developed a *de novo* expression of NK-1r on pyramidal neurons (F), while multipolar and fusiform neurons maintained their normal levels of expression of these receptors (B, D). Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$ 



Figure 3

Figure 3: Comparison of the distribution of neurons of each morphological type which were immunoreactive for the NK-1r (NK1 Only), retrogradely labeled from the parabrachial nucleus (CTb Only) or double labeled (NK1 + CTb), ipsilaterally to the lesion or sham operation, at 7, 10, 15, 21 and 28 days post-surgery. A) Pyramidal neurons; B) Fusiform neurons; C) Multipolar neurons; D) Unclassified neurons. In A, note that no change was detected at any time point in the number of neurons that expressed only the NK-1r; at 7 days the number of pyramidal neurons which expressed the NK-1r and were also CTb-positive was very low, but at and after the 10 day time point, there was a marked increase in the number of neurons which were immunoreactive for both the NK-1r and CTb, accompanied by a parallel decrease in the number of neurons which are not immunoreactive for NK-1r and were positive for CTb. In B, C and D, note that there were no changes at any time point in the number of fusiform, multipolar and unclassified neurons which were immunoreactive or not for the two markers we used. Only cells with visible nuclei were counted. Values represent average number of neurons (±SEM) counted per animal. N =4. Comparisons were made by means of a 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc tests (\*\*\* P<0.001).



**Figure 4:** Confocal triple-labeling images showing increased substance P innervation of pyramidal neurons and *de novo* NK-1r expression following a cuff lesion, at the 21 days time point. We observed a substantial increase in the number of substance P boutons apposed to lamina I spinoparabrachial pyramidal neurons that had *de novo* NK-1r expression (B) compared to neurons in the shamoperated group with no NK-1r expression (A). Substance P – SP (in blue); NK-1r – NK-1 (in green), spinoparabrachial neurons - CTb (in red). Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$ 





**Figure 5:** Quantification of substance P-IR boutons in direct apposition to lamina I spinoparabrachial pyramidal neurons. At the 21 day time point, there was a significant increase in the number of substance P boutons in close apposition with the pyramidal neurons, when compared to the sham-operated group, independently of the presence or absence of NK-1r staining. Because of limitations in the CTb filling of neurons, boutons counted were only those apposed to the soma membrane and membranes of the primary dendrites. N= 6. Data compared by unpaired t-test. \*\*\* P<0.001



**Figure 6:** Demonstration of NK-1r internalization following noxious stimulation. Intradermal injection of capsaicin in the ipsilateral hind paw at the 21 day time point caused internalization of surface NK-1r (B). No internalization was detected with vehicle injections at the same time point in cuff animals (A). N=4. Scale bar =  $20 \ \mu m$ 

#### 2.5 Discussion

In this study, we show that, in the cuff model of neuropathic pain, lamina I spinoparabrachial pyramidal neurons develop a *de novo* expression of functional NK-1r. Furthermore, we also found a substantial increase in the number of appositions from axons immunoreactive for SP onto pyramidal neurons, raising the possibility of a functional switch of these neurons.

#### 2.5.1 Properties of pyramidal neurons

There is evidence from the literature that there are three main functional types of lamina I neurons in the cat and primate. These have been identified on the basis of their response to cutaneous inputs: a) nociceptive specific neurons (NS) are responsive only to noxious heat and pinch; b) polymodal nociceptive neurons (HPC) are responsive to noxious pinch and heat as well as to innocuous and noxious cold; and c) innocuous thermoreceptive neurons (COLD) are responsive only to innocuous cooling (Craig and Bushnell, 1994; Craig and Kniffki, 1985; Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996; Han et al., 1998). Interestingly, in the cat, a correlation was found between the physiological and morphological properties of lamina I projection neurons, in a study combining intracellular recording from lamina I cells with intracellular labeling (Han et al., 1998). Indeed, in the above study, fusiform cells were all NS, pyramidal cells were all COLD, and multipolar cells were divided among HPC and NS neurons. In agreement with the finding that pyramidal cells are non-nociceptive, a study from our laboratory in the primate revealed that spinothalamic pyramidal neurons seldom expressed NK-1r, whereas fusiform and multipolar cells were normally NK-1r immunopositive (Yu et al., 1999). Subsequent studies from our laboratory demonstrated that, in the rat, spinothalamic and spinoparabrachial pyramidal neurons were seldom immunoreactive for the NK-1r, in contrast with fusiform and multipolar neurons which were mostly immunoreactive for the receptor (Almarestani et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2005). There is ample evidence that nociceptive cells express NK-1r (Mantyh et al., 1995; Mantyh et al., 1997). Therefore, the observation that in naïve animals pyramidal neurons seldom express NK-1r concurs with a non-

nociceptive role for these cells. However, our data on the absence of expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons in the rat spinal cord contrasts with the results from another laboratory. Indeed, the group of Andrew J. Todd did not find any differences among the three types of lamina I projection neuron in the expression of NK-1r (Todd et al., 2002). This group also found that pyramidal neurons should be nociceptive, as they display not only NK-1r immunoreactivity but also respond to noxious stimulation with c-fos expression (Todd et al., 2002). The reasons for this discrepancy were discussed at length in one of our previous publications (Almarestani et al., 2009). In short, the differences were certainly not caused by the antibody used, as we obtained the same results with three different antibodies, nor animal strain. The only possible explanation for the different results obtained by our laboratory compared to Todd's lab is the application of different cell classification criteria. A key element used by our lab to distinguish pyramidal from multipolar neurons is the number of primary dendritic trunks when viewed in the horizontal plane. Indeed, pyramidal neurons have four primary dendrites, three of which are visible on a confocal optical section cut to show the cell nucleus. This is due to the fact that the 4<sup>th</sup> dendrite is oriented towards the white matter. We consider as multipolar all cells that unequivocally display 4 or more main dendritic trunks in the horizontal plane. We stress this point, because some main dendrites branch very close to the cell body (Almarestani et al., 2009). An important point in support of the accuracy of our neuronal classification is that we observed in an animal model of arthritis that a considerable number of pyramidal neurons started to express detectable levels of NK-1r at day 15 after a subcutaneous injection of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) in the hind paw skin (Almarestani et al., 2009). Such expression started only at a time point in which there were already obvious signs of joint and bone damage, as detected by imaging methods (Almarestani et al., 2011).

Our current study expands these observations to a model of neuropathic pain. In the current study we observed that at 10 days post-cuff, but not at 7 days, there was a significantly higher number of pyramidal neurons expressing NK-1r than in sham operated animals. This increased receptor expression persisted for at least up to 28 days post-cuff, the last time point examined, and this receptor expression was strictly ipsilateral (contralateral data not shown).

# 2.5.2 Significance of increased peptidergic fiber innervation on pyramidal neurons

In the current study, we confirmed quantitatively previous qualitative data from our laboratory revealing that non-NK-1r-IR pyramidal neurons in control animals were almost devoid of SP innervation (Almarestani et al., 2009). This information is in agreement with the concept that these cells are non-nociceptive. Indeed, electrophysiological studies have provided evidence that non-nociceptive dorsal horn cells do not respond to SP (Henry, 1976) and studies combining intracellular recording and injection with HRP of neurons with ultrastructural immunocytochemistry in the cat have shown that non-nociceptive neurons are scarcely innervated by SP (De Koninck et al., 1992; Ma et al., 1996). In contrast, the same studies have shown that spinal dorsal horn neurons with strong nociceptive responses were abundantly innervated by SP-IR fibers (De Koninck et al., 1992; Ma et al., 1996). In agreement with that, in the current study we confirmed our previous observation that fusiform and multipolar neurons, which have been considered as nociceptive, were abundantly innervated by SP (Almarestani et al., 2009). Interestingly, we also confirmed that the few pyramidal neurons which were NK-1r-IR in control rats were abundantly innervated by SP-IR fibers. If we exclude the discrepancy on what should be considered a pyramidal neuron, our data concurs with the results from Andrew J. Todd's lab in that lamina I neurons which are immunoreactive for the NK-1r are abundantly innervated by SP and respond to noxious stimulation (Todd et al., 2002).

Importantly, as shown in figure 5, we detected that following a cuff lesion there was a very significant increase of SP-IR appositions on pyramidal neurons. Because we did not discriminate between pyramidal neurons which were NK-1r positive and those that were not when performing our counts, we cannot confirm whether this high innervation by SP of pyramidal neurons was restricted to the population that became NK-1r-IR. However, our visual assessment would suggest that NK-1r expression and abundant innervation by SP are associated. Our data support our previous qualitative only observation in the CFA arthritis model of a *de novo* innervation of pyramidal neurons by SP-IR fibers (Almarestani et al., 2009).

# 2.5.3 Significance of NK-1 receptor internalization

NK-1r internalization has been used as a measure of the receptor's activation (Abbadie et al., 1997; Adelson et al., 2009; Allen et al., 1997; Mantyh et al., 1995; Marvizon et al., 2003). In the current study, we tested the functionality of the NK-1r expressed on pyramidal neurons, following development of neuropathic pain, by injecting capsaicin intradermally in the hind paw. We used capsaicin because it has been described previously as a potent noxious stimulus (Afrah et al., 2001; Go and Yaksh, 1987; Lever and Malcangio, 2002; Marvizon et al., 2003). In neuropathic animals, we observed the internalization of NK-1r in all three lamina I neuronal populations following capsaicin injection, however, vehicle injection did not induce NK-1r internalization. This NK-1r internalization provides strong evidence that in neuropathic animals the majority of pyramidal neurons respond to noxious stimulation.

#### 2.5.4 Role in nociception

As mentioned above, there is evidence indicating that SP-positive innervation is abundant on neurons with nociceptive responses when compared to neurons lacking such responses (De Koninck et al., 1992; Ma et al., 1996), and that neurons which express the NK-1r are selectively innervated by SP (McLeod et al., 1998; Todd et al., 2002) and are nociceptive (Todd et al., 2002). The integration of the above information with the data of this study would suggest that following neuropathic pain development, pyramidal neurons with *de novo* NK-1r expression may have undergone a functional change.

There is evidence from the literature that, under normal physiological conditions, pyramidal neurons represent COOL cells, activated by innocuous cooling of the skin but unresponsive to other stimuli (Craig and Bushnell, 1994;

Craig and Hunsley, 1991; Craig and Kniffki, 1985; Craig et al., 2001; Craig and Serrano, 1994; Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996; Han et al., 1998). Our results would suggest that in situations accompanied by a chronic pain state, such as in arthritis (Almarestani et al., 2009) and in neuropathic pain (current study), a considerable number of pyramidal cells would be converted into HPC cells, and therefore responsive to noxious pinch and heat as well as to innocuous and noxious cold. This hypothesis is at present based only on speculation, as it would have to be confirmed electrophysiologically. It would also require that pyramidal cells have direct and/or indirect connections with thalamic areas involved in nociception, what is far from clear, as it has been proposed that these cells project to a thalamic area involved in thermoregulation (Han et al., 1998).

#### 2.5.5 Role in thermoregulation

Based on the above, it is possible that pyramidal cells in chronic pain states, although activated by noxious stimuli, might still be involved only in thermoregulation, through either an indirect thalamic connection (see above) or direct or indirect connections from the parabrachial nucleus to the preoptic area (POA), where the thermoregulatory center resides (Nakamura and Morrison, 2008b). We can speculate that, following neuropathy, the increased activity of the pyramidal neurons would be perceived as cooling causing a shift from homeostatic temperatures, which would activate the thermoregulatory center leading to thermogenesis (Nakamura and Morrison, 2008b) and cutaneous vasoconstriction (Osborne and Kurosawa, 1994). This possibility would need to be investigated, by measuring peripheral and core temperatures and documenting any increase in food consumption. At present, it is more speculative than based on facts.

#### 2.6 Conclusions

In this study, we described a *de novo* expression of NK-1r on pyramidal neurons and an associated increase in SP-IR innervation of these cells in a model of chronic neuropathic pain. We also demonstrated the internalization of these receptors following a noxious stimulus, indicating that these cells become responsive to noxious stimuli. These data, together with the results from our work on an arthritis model, suggest that in chronic pain states, either lamina I pyramidal cells become nociceptive or they trigger abnormal cooling-related autonomic responses following noxious stimulation. Our results may aid in better understanding the development of cold allodynia or changes in homeostatic basal levels following nerve injury.

# 2.7 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Manon St-Louis for laboratory expertise and Jacynthe Laliberté for confocal microscopy assistance. We are also particularly grateful to Dr. Claudio Cuello for helpful discussions and the supply of the anti-substance P monoclonal antibody and to Dr. Terence Coderre for the use of his animal behavior facility.

# **Connecting text: Chapter 2 to Chapter 3**

In the previous chapter, we illustrate how a chronic nerve injury resulted in the *de novo* expression of NK-1r on lamina I pyramidal neurons, a switch concomitant with the development of pain-related behavior. This phenotypic switch had been previously documented in our lab in a model of CFA-induced inflammation (Almarestani et al., 2009). Therefore, we thought that it would be interesting if this *de novo* expression of NK-1r could be used as a marker for the development of chronic neuropathic pain, which could be later used to test efficacy of newly developed treatments for chronic pain, an issue we indirectly address in Chapter 3.

In the next chapter, we demonstrate how an experimental model, of cytotoxic ablation of the non-peptidergic afferents, which does not lead to a pain state, can be used to investigate the necessity of a chronic pain state for the *de novo* NK-1r expression on lamina I pyramidal neurons. One possibility was that the loss of non-peptidergic afferents would trigger the expression of NK-1r by pyramidal cells as a compensatory mechanism.

# Chapter 3

Limited changes in spinal lamina I dorsal horn neurons following the cytotoxic ablation of non-peptidergic C-fibers

# Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva

Submitted to Journal of Comparative Neurology, 2012

## 3.1 Abstract

Non-peptidergic nociceptive neurons are a sub-population of small diameter primary sensory neurons that comprise approximately 50% of the C fiber population. Together with the peptidergic sub-population, they transmit nociceptive information from the periphery to the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord. Despite the numerous studies investigating the role of the nonpeptidergic primary afferents, their role in normal nociception and in pain remains poorly understood. Our lab has previously demonstrated that, in rat models of neuropathic and inflammatory pain, there is a *de novo* expression of substance P receptors (NK-1r) by lamina I pyramidal projection neurons, a neuronal population that normally does not express these receptors. In this study, we used a ribosomal toxin, saporin, conjugated to the lectin IB4 (IB4-SAP) to selectively ablate the non-peptidergic nociceptive C fibers, to investigate if the loss of these fibers was enough to induce a change in NK-1r expression by lamina I projection neurons. IB4-saporin treatment led to the specific and permanent ablation of the IB4-positive afferents. However, no changes in responses to acute thermal and mechanical stimuli were detected. An overall increase in immunoreactivity for NK-1r was observed in lamina I projection neurons, although the number of pyramidal neurons immunoreactive for the receptor remained low. These results suggest that a chronic inflammatory or neuropathic component is essential to trigger the expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons.

#### 3.2 Introduction

Most of the pain-related (nociceptive) information is relayed from the periphery to the spinal dorsal horn via small diameter primary afferents, which represent either unmyelinated (C) or thinly myelinated (A $\delta$ ) axons, with only a minority being of larger diameter [for reviews see (Alvarez and Fyffe, 2000; Ribeiro-da-Silva and De Koninck, 2008)]. Usually, the smaller diameter nociceptive afferents are classified into two mostly independent subpopulations, the peptidergic and non-peptidergic (Hunt and Mantyh, 2001; Hunt and Rossi, 1985). The peptidergic fibers, express substance P (SP) and calcitonin gene-

related peptide (CGRP) and depend on nerve growth factor (NGF) for survival post-natally, while the non-peptidergic fibers, are devoid of neuropeptides, bind the Griffonia simplicifolia isolectin-B4 (IB4), express the purinergic receptor P2X3 and depend on glial-derived neurotrophic factor for post-natal survival (Molliver et al., 1997; Silverman and Kruger, 1990; Stucky and Lewin, 1999). There is some evidence that these two subpopulations differ in their physiological properties. The action potentials of non-peptidergic nociceptive neurons had higher activation thresholds and were of longer duration than those of peptidergic neurons, characteristics attributable to the presence of a greater density of tetrodotoxin-resistant Na<sup>+</sup> channels on the IB4-positive neurons (Stucky and Lewin, 1999; Wu and Pan, 2004b). It has been proposed that, in the mouse, peptidergic fibers would be responsible for the transmission of thermal nociception, whereas the non-peptidergic would convey noxious mechanical stimuli (Cavanaugh et al., 2009). These populations also differ in their central termination in the spinal cord. Indeed, the peptidergic afferents terminate mostly in lamina I and outer lamina II, while the non-peptidergic project to inner lamina II (Bradbury et al., 1998; Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2004; Ribeiro-da-Silva and De Koninck, 2008). In the mouse, it has been suggested, based on experimental evidence, that the non-peptidergic afferents have connections to a completely different ascending pathway from the peptidergic, as they would connect to lamina V cells that would project to areas of the brain like the amygdala, as opposed to the peptidergic that would connect to lamina I expressing substance P receptors (NK-1r) (Braz et al., 2005; Scherrer et al., 2009). However, these observations need confirmation and it is questionable whether they are applicable to other species, such as the rat and higher species.

Lamina I projection neurons comprise three populations; fusiform, multipolar and pyramidal, which have distinctive morphology (Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999; Zhang and Craig, 1997; Zhang et al., 1996), and function (Han et al., 1998). Fusiform neurons have an elongated soma with two dendrites at each end; physiologically, in the cat, they have been shown to be nociceptive specific (NS), and respond to noxious heat and pinch. Multipolar neurons have four or

more dendrites arising from an irregularly-shaped soma and have been shown to be either NS or HPC (polymodal neurons responding to a variety of stimuli, including noxious heat, pinch and noxious and innocuous cold) (Han et al., 1998). Pyramidal neurons have a triangular-shaped soma with one dendrite at each of the three tips; these neurons do not respond to noxious stimuli, however, they respond to innocuous cooling (COOL cells) (Han et al., 1998). Fusiform and multipolar neurons express NK-1r, in agreement with the observation in the cat that they are nociceptive, while pyramidal neurons seldom express such receptors in rat and primate, in agreement with the concept that they are non-nociceptive under physiological conditions (Almarestani et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 1999). However, it was demonstrated in rat that in chronic CFA-induced arthritis (Almarestani et al., 2009) and in an animal model of neuropathic pain (Saeed and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2012) there is a *de novo* expression of NK-1r by a considerable number of pyramidal neurons. This novel expression was accompanied by a novel innervation of these pyramidal neurons by SP-immunoreactive fibers, further providing evidence of a phenotypic change in these neurons in both arthritis and neuropathic pain models, indicating that these neurons would participate in nociceptive responses in chronic pain conditions (Almarestani et al., 2009; Saeed and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2012).

Although there is not yet a specific tool to selectively ablate the peptidergic fibers, the injection of IB4 conjugated to the ribosomal toxin, saporin, into the sciatic nerve selectively and permanently ablates the non-peptidergic C fibers, sparing the other fiber populations (Vulchanova et al., 2001). The above study revealed a transient elevation of the thermal and mechanical nociceptive thresholds, with a return to normal by 3 weeks post-IB4-saporin injection, in contrast with an expected dramatic elevation of nociceptive thresholds, as a consequence of the loss of approximately half of the nociceptive C afferents. Importantly, our preliminary data using IB4-saporin injections revealed an overall increase in NK-1r expression in lamina I. In the current study, our main objective was to investigate whether the selective cytotoxic ablation of IB4-binding afferents led to a *de novo* expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons or whether

the reported increase in NK-1r was a result of increased immunoreactivity in the neurons that normally express it. Our working hypothesis was that a *de novo* expression of NK-1 receptors by lamina I pyramidal neurons was triggered following the ablation of the non-peptidergic C-fiber population as an adaptive mechanism to maintain homeostasis of the nociceptive circuit. Our data did not confirm the hypothesis.

# 3.3 Materials & Methods

The experimental procedures followed the guidelines for the Care and Use of Experimental Animals of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP). All protocols were approved by the McGill University Faculty of Medicine Animal Care Committee.

Forty-two male Sprague Dawley rats (Charles River, Quebec, Canada), weighing between 220-230g, were used. Animals were divided into 7 groups of 6 animals each. The number of animals used and their suffering was kept to the minimum necessary for the conduction of the study. Animals were exposed to 12hr light/dark cycles with food and water available *ad libitum* and were housed four animals to a cage fitted with soft bedding and a plastic tube for an enriched environment.

# 3.3.1 Animal Preparation

#### Surgeries

Animals were anesthetized with 5% isoflurane in oxygen. Unilateral lesions were carried out on the left sciatic nerve. Using blunt dissection, the left femoral muscle was exposed. Care was taken to minimize the stretching of the sciatic nerve when it was separated from the surrounding connective tissue. Experimental animals received a total of six  $\mu$ L of an 800  $\mu$ g/mL solution of IB4-saporin (Advanced Targeting Systems, San Diego CA, USA) in 0.2M Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) and Fast Green Dye (Sigma, Missouri, USA) injected at three injection sites into the sciatic nerve proximal to its branching point using

calibrated glass micropipettes (Wiretrol II, Drummond Scientific Company, Broomall, PA). The Fast Green dye was used to monitor the accuracy of the injection. The control group was injected with vehicle solution of six  $\mu$ L 0.2M PBS in Fast Green dye using the same method. The incision was sutured in two layers using 4-0 Vicryl sutures (Ethicon Inc, New Jersey USA). Animals were returned to their cages to recover. No difference in weight gain between experimental and sham groups was observed at any time point throughout the study.

#### Injection of tracer

To retrogradely trace projection neurons, animals were first anesthetized using 5% isoflurane in oxygen, placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (David Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) and the head stabilized with non-perforating ear bars. The coordinates for the parabrachial nucleus (rostral/caudal: -9.12; medial/lateral: -2.1; dorsal/ventral: -6.3) were calculated, with Bregma as the reference point, from the Paxinos & Watson Rat Brain Atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2005). A small hole was drilled through the skull at the target point, exposing the dura mater. A glass micropipette (Wiretrol II, Drummond Scientific Company, Broomall, PA) was lowered to the stereotaxic position of the parabrachial nucleus and 2  $\mu$ l of 1.0% solution of cholera toxin subunit B (CTb) (List, Campbell, CA) was slowly injected over a period of 20 minutes. To minimize leakage of the tracer, a 10 minute waiting period was imposed before the micropipette was retracted from its position. CTb was injected seven days prior to sacrificing the animals.

#### 3.3.2 Behavior Testing

Animals were always habituated to the testing apparatus for 30 minutes prior to testing. Baseline behavioral thresholds were measured for two consecutive days prior to surgical treatments.

# Testing for mechanical allodynia

Animals were placed in clear plastic enclosures elevated on a mesh grid, which allowed complete access to the ventral side of the animal. Animals were tested using the up-down method previously described by Chaplan et al. (Chaplan et al., 1994). Filaments of increasing stiffness were applied to the mid-plantar area of the hind paw, avoiding the foot pads, until an obvious withdrawal or flicking/licking behavior occurred. In case of a positive response, the next weaker filament was presented, however, in the case of a negative response; the next stronger filament was applied. This process was repeated until 6 responses were recorded and a mean threshold was calculated. The testing was performed on the right paw of all the rats followed by the testing of the left paw in the same manner.

#### Testing for mechanical hyperalgesia

Mechanical hyperalgesia was assessed using the pin prick method described by Coderre et al. (Coderre et al., 2004). The point of a blunted 23 gauge needle was applied to the skin of the heel (touching, but not penetrating). Behavioral responses to the pin prick were rated according to the following scale: 0=no response; 1=rapid paw flicking, stamping, or shaking (less than 1 s); 2=repeated paw stamping, shaking, or paw lift less than 3 s; 3=above behaviors or hind paw licking for more than 3 s; 4=above behaviors for more than 3 s and hind paw licking for more than 3 s. An additional point was added if any vocalizations occurred. The mean of the reaction for each paw was calculated.

# Testing for thermal hyperalgesia

The Hargreaves test (Hargreaves et al., 1988) was used to measure thermal nociceptive thresholds. Clear plastic enclosures were set on top of a glass floor. The light source was directed onto skin area of the paw in contact with the glass. The time from turning on the light source until withdrawal was noted. Testing included three trials per paw with each trial being completed for all the animals before the start of the next trial. This ensured there was a 30 minute wait before the start of the next trial to minimize desensitization effects. The average of the three trials per paw was calculated.

#### 3.3.3 Animal Perfusion

At each time point, the animals were deeply anesthetized with Equithesin (6.5mg chloral hydrate and 3mg sodium pentobarbital in a volume of 0.3 ml, i.p., per 100g body weight). They were then perfused through the left cardiac ventricle with perfusion buffer (for composition see (Côté et al., 1993)) for one minute, followed by 30 minutes of 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB), pH 7.4. The brain (at 21 day timepoint) and spinal cord segments L4-L5 were extracted and postfixed for 4 hours and 2 hours, respectively, in 4% paraformaldehyde in PB. The specimens were then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose in PB overnight at 4°C.

# 3.3.4 Immunohistochemistry

Serial 100µm-thick coronal sections of the brain were obtained, to examine the site of injection at the level of the parabrachial nucleus. L4-L5 spinal cord segments were trimmed and cut serially at 50µm thickness. Both horizontal and coronal sections were cut using a freezing-sledge microtome (Leica, Richmond Hill, Ontario). Sections were collected as free-floating in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 0.2% Triton-X 100 (PBS+T).

To examine lamina I projection neurons, horizontal sections were incubated in 10% normal donkey serum (Jackson, West Grove, PA) in PBS+T for one hour at room temperature to block unspecific staining. Subsequently, spinal cord sections were incubated, for 48 hours at 4°C, with the primary antibodies: goat anti-CTb at 1:5000 dilution (List), rabbit anti-NK1-r, raised against residues 376-407 of the C-terminal sequence of the rat receptor, at 1:10000 dilution (Sigma) and IB4 conjugated to AlexaFluor 647 (Molecular Probes) in PBS+T containing 5% normal donkey serum. Then, the sections were washed several times with PBS+T and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature with secondary antibodies preabsorbed with 10mg/ml acetone rat brain powder: donkey anti-goat Rhodamine Red X (1:200, Jackson, West Grove, PA) and donkey anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488 (Molecular Probes). Finally, sections were washed with PBS, mounted on gelatin-subbed slides and coverslipped with an anti-fading mounting medium (Aqua Polymount; Polysciences, Warrington, PA). Slides were stored at - 4°C. Control sections were processed by omitting the primary antibody which resulted in complete loss of immunoreactivity. The above protocol was also followed for the comparison of NK-1 receptor immunoreactivity in sham- and IB4-saporin-treated groups in transverse sections and the labeling of non-peptidergic afferents in horizontal sections, however in these two cases IB4 was conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (Molecular Probes) instead of AlexaFluor 647.

To examine the primary afferent populations in the spinal dorsal horn, sections were processed as described above except that they were incubated for 48 hours with IB4 conjugated to AlexaFluor 568, at 1:200 dilution (Molecular Probes) and rabbit anti-CGRP, at 1:2000 dilution (Sigma) followed by incubation with goat anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488 (Molecular Probes).

Brainstem sections of the injection site were incubated with anti-CTb antibody (List) followed by biotinylated donkey anti-goat IgG (Jackson, West Grove, PA) and streptavidin conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (Molecular Probes). All sections were mounted and coverslipped as described above.

#### 3.3.5 Antibody Specificity

As controls for immunocytochemistry, some sections were processed by omitting the primary antibodies or by pre-absorption with the peptide used to generate the antibody, in both cases resulting in a complete loss of immunoreactivity.

The goat anti-CTb antibody (List Biological; 703, lot 7032A5) was raised against purified CTb and its specificity was demonstrated by the lack of any staining in animals not injected with CTb. The rabbit anti-NK-1r antibody (Sigma; S8305, lot 084K4845) was generated against a synthetic peptide corresponding to amino acids 393-407 of the C-terminus region of the rat NK-1r conjugated to KLH as the immunogen and purified by ion-exchange chromatography. In Western blots from rat brain, the antibody was found to label only a specific band at 46 kDa, whose staining is specifically inhibited by incubation with the blocking peptide (data supplied by the manufacturer). Furthermore, it was shown that it does not produce any staining in NK-1r knockout mice, although it recognizes the receptor in wild type mice (Ptak et al., 2002). The rabbit anti-CGRP antibody (Sigma; C8198, lot 070M4835) was generated against synthetic rat CGRP conjugated to KLH as the immunogen. Using dot-blot immunoassay, the antibody was found to recognize rat CGRP conjugated to bovine serum albumin (BSA); it only shows cross-reactivity with CGRP (human) and  $\beta$ -CGRP (human) (data supplied by the manufacturer). Specific staining was abolished by pre-incubating the antiserum with rat CGRP. This antibody was previously used by us as a marker for peptidergic fibers in rat skin, dorsal root ganglia and spinal cord (Bailey and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2006; Peleshok and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2011; Taylor et al., 2009; Yen et al., 2006).

# 3.3.6 Morphological Characterization and Quantification of Lamina I Neurons

Our criteria of identification and quantification of lamina I neurons have been described extensively in previous publications from our laboratory [see e.g. (Almarestani et al., 2009)]. In brief, in the current study, six serial, 50  $\mu$ m-thick horizontal sections were cut from the dorsal part of the L4-L5 spinal segments. Six rats were used per time point. Sections were examined under a PlanFluotar 40X oil immersion objective on a Zeiss Axioplan 2e imaging fluorescence microscope. Only neurons with visible nuclei, ipsilateral to the injection side, and with the cell body entirely located within the plane of the section, as assessed with the fine focus of the microscope, were included in our quantifications. Lamina I neurons were classified according to the shape of their cell body and their dendritic arborization in the horizontal plane. Fusiform neurons have two primary dendrites with one arising from each end of an elongated, spindle-shaped soma. Multipolar neurons have an irregularly-shaped cell body with four or more primary dendrites arising from the cell body. Pyramidal neurons have a triangularly-shaped soma with three primary dendrites arising from each of the cell body's corners, in some cases, a fourth primary dendrite, oriented toward the
white matter, was visible by confocal reconstruction or by adjusting the fine focus of a conventional fluorescence microscope. Neurons were classified as "unclassified" if they exhibited features transitional between any of these types, as they did not meet the required criteria.

To obtain images for the illustrations and to confirm the data obtained with conventional fluorescence microscopy, some sections were examined using a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal scanning laser microscope, using a multi-track scanning method and appropriate filters for the separate detections of AlexaFluor 488, AlexaFluor 568 or Rhodamine Red X and AlexaFluor 647. Low magnification images represent single optical sections, whereas images of individual neurons represent serial optical sections obtained along the z-axis (z-stacks), using a 63X plan-apochromatic oil-immersion objective.

# 3.3.7 Statistics

One-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's post hoc test was used to compare the control group to each of the time points studied for each cell type population, and were applied to compare the differences within each neuronal population at the 21 day time point post-IB4-saporin injection. Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni correction were applied to compare differences in pain-related behavior at each time point between the sham and experimental groups. Values were expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM. The significance level was set at P< 0.05. All data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 5 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA).

# 3.3.8 Figure Preparation

All immunofluorescence images were obtained with the confocal microscope. They were saved in the Zeiss LSM format, exported as TIFF files and prepared for publication using Adobe Photoshop 7.0 (San Jose, CA). The original images were optimized for brightness and contrast, and pseudo colors were assigned to the markers (green to NK-1 and CGRP, and red to IB4 and CtB), to

ensure uniformity throughout the study, but no other image manipulation was done.

# 3.4 Results

# 3.4.1 Behavioral assessment following injection of IB4-saporin

Animals injected with IB4-saporin into the sciatic nerve did not display any changes in evoked thresholds to the application of von Frey hairs (Figure 1A), to an acute noxious stimulus (pin prick) (Figure 1B) or to noxious thermal stimuli (Figure 1C) up to 21 days following IB4-saporin injection when compared to vehicle-injected sham animals.

There was no difference from baseline in the contralateral side, either in IB4-saporin-injected or vehicle-injected groups.

# 3.4.2 Changes in spinal dorsal horn following IB4-saporin injection

21 days after the injection of IB4-saporin into the sciatic nerve, we detected a virtually complete loss of non-peptidergic afferents on the side ipsilateral to the injection at the level of the L4-L5 spinal segments compared to shams which had no loss (Figure 2). The area of loss of staining corresponded to the inner two thirds of the dorsal horn. The labeling persisting in the lateral third corresponded to non-sciatic afferents. There was no significant loss of peptidergic fibers, as detected by CGRP immunoreactivity when comparing the IB4-saporin group to sham (Figure 2, A and D). There were no contralateral changes in either IB4 or CGRP labeling (not shown). The dramatic loss of IB4 staining was even better noticeable in horizontal sections of inner lamina II; indeed, as the lateral part of the layer was present in either another confocal plane or an adjacent section, the ipsilateral loss of IB4 labeling was complete in IB4-saporin treated rats (Figure 3).

Interestingly, we observed a dramatic ipsilateral increase in NK-1r immunoreactivity in lamina I in IB4-saporin-treated rats when comparing them to sham animals (Figure 4).

# 3.4.3 Observations in Lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons

As in previous publications from our laboratory, spinoparabrachial lamina I neuronal populations were identified based on the dendritic arborization and cell body shape as viewed in the horizontal plane. Multipolar neurons possess four or more primary dendrites arising from an irregularly-shaped cell body (Figure 5A and 5D). Fusiform neurons have one dendrite arising from each end of an elongated soma (Figure 5B and 5E). Pyramidal neurons have a triangularly-shaped soma with a primary dendrite originating from each of the three corners (Figure 5C and 5F). Some cells displayed features transitional between two of the cell types described above or had a portion of the cell body and / or proximal dendritic tree truncated due to sectioning. These latter neurons were not classifiable and were considered as "unclassified".

In sham animals, we confirmed our previous observations that spinoparabrachial fusiform and multipolar neurons displayed immunoreactivity for NK-1r in a high proportion of cells, whereas pyramidal neurons were almost never immunoreactive for the receptor (Figures 5 and 6). We observed an increase in the intensity of NK-1r staining in multipolar and fusiform neurons, when comparing the ipsilateral side of the spinal dorsal horn of IB4-saporin-injected animals (Figure 5, D and E) to the ipsilateral side of vehicle-injected sham animals (Figure 5, A and B), although there was no change in the proportion of neurons expressing immunoreactivity for the receptor (Figure 6). However, the number of pyramidal neurons expressing detectable NK-1r immunoreactivity remained very low (Figure 6).

We also performed a time-course study of the number of neurons of each cell type immunoreactive for the NK-1r in animals that were not injected with the retrograde tracer. We did not observe any change from 2 to 8 weeks post-IB4-saporin injection in the number of neurons of each type immunoreactive for the NK-1r (Figure 7), meaning that number of pyramidal neurons which were immunoreactive for the receptor remained very low at all time points studied.



Figure 1

**Figure 1:** Behavioral characterization at several time points following IB4saporin injection. A: Assessment of mechanical allodynia using von Frey filaments in IB4-saporin-treated and sham animals; mechanical thresholds were not significantly different from the sham group. B: Assessment of mechanical hyperalgesia using pin prick in IB4-saporin-injected and sham groups; there was no significant difference in mechanical nociceptive rating between IB4-saporininjected and sham groups. C: Assessment of thermal hyperalgesia using the Hargreaves test in IB4-saporin-injected and sham groups; IB4-saporin-injected animals did not display a significant difference in withdrawal latencies at any of the time points studied following IB4-saporin injection when compared with the sham group. N=6, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc.



**Figure 2:** Confocal low magnification images from transverse sections comparing the ipsilateral side of the dorsal horn of vehicle-injected animals (A-C) with the ipsilateral side of IB4-saporin- injected (D-F) rats, at 21 days post-injection. In the lower panels, note the virtually complete depletion of IB4 staining (in red), except in the lateral third of the dorsal horn, that does not receive sciatic afferents. It is important to note that although in this particular section there seems to be a slight reduction of CGRP immunoreactivity (in green) in the area of the lesion, we did not observe any consist change in CGRP-IR fibers in the area of the lesion in IB4-saporin treated animals compared to sham. Scale bar =  $100\mu$ m



**Figure 3:** Confocal image at low magnification of a horizontal section from inner lamina II comparing the ipsilateral and contralateral sides of the spinal cord of an IB4-saporin injected animal at 21 days post-injection. Note that the ipsilateral side is completely devoid of IB4 labeling (red) compared to the contralateral side. The lateral part of lamina II, where IB4 staining persisted, was not present in this confocal plane. Scale bar =  $500\mu m$ .



**Figure 4:** Confocal images comparing NK-1r immunoreactivity in the ipsilateral side of vehicle-injected (A, B) and IB4-saporin- injected (C, D) animals, in transverse sections, at 21 days. NK-1 receptors – NK-1 (in green), non-peptidergic afferents – IB4 (in red). The framed region in A and C is enlarged in B and D. Scale bar =  $100\mu m$ 



Figure 5

**Figure 5:** Confocal images at high magnification showing the morphology and NK-1r expression by the lamina I spinoparabrachial neuronal population in IB4-saporin-injected animals compared to the vehicle-injected sham group, at the 21 days time point. Both multipolar and fusiform neurons showed an increase in NK-1r immunoreactivity in each cell (D, E), compared to the sham group (A, B). However, the great majority of pyramidal neurons did not display NK-1r immunoreactivity following IB4-saporin injection at the 21 days time point (C, F). NK-1 receptor - NK-1 (in green), retrograde tracer CTb (in red). Scale bar =  $20\mu$ m.



**Figure 6:** Quantitative comparison of the lamina I neuronal populations immunoreactive for the NK-1r (NK-1 only), retrogradely labeled from the parabrachial nucleus (CTb only) or double labeled (NK-1 + CTb), on the ipsilateral side of IB4-saporin-injected or sham group at 21 days. There were no changes in the number of fusiform, multipolar, or pyramidal neurons immunoreactive for one or both of the markers when comparing IB4-saporin-injected to sham groups. Only cells with visible nuclei were counted. Values represent average number of neurons ( $\pm$ SEM) counted per animal. N =6, one-way ANOVA.



**Figure 7:** Quantitative comparison of lamina I neuronal populations expressing the NK-1r, on the ipsilateral side of IB4-saporin-injected and vehicle-injected (sham) groups at 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks post-injection. There were no detectable changes in the number of fusiform, multipolar, or pyramidal neurons immunoreactive for NK-1r when comparing IB4-saporin-injected rats to the sham group. Only cells with visible nuclei were counted. Values represent average number of neurons ( $\pm$ SEM) counted per animal. N =6, one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post hoc.

# 3.5 Discussion

In this study, we observed that the selective ablation of non-peptidergic nociceptive primary afferents by means of IB4-saporin injection into the sciatic nerve did not cause any change in pain-related behavior compared to vehicle-injected sham animals. This raises the possibility that normal behavioral function was maintained either due to redundancy in the IB4 afferent population or due to a compensatory mechanism in the spinal cord. We detected an overall increase in the expression of NK-1r in populations of lamina I projection neurons that already expressed the NK-1r, which would support the idea of spinal compensatory mechanisms. Nevertheless, we did not observe any *de novo* expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons or any change in the total number of lamina I neurons that expressed the NK-1r.

# 3.5.1 Effect of IB4-saporin injection on non-peptidergic primary sensory neurons

When injected in a peripheral nerve, IB4-saporin is known to cause a selective loss of primary afferents binding the plant lectin IB4 (Tarpley et al., 2004; Vulchanova et al., 2001). This is the result of selective binding of the lectin IB4 from the conjugate to the  $\alpha$ -D-galactoside of versican, an extracellular matrix protein expressed exclusively on the non-peptidergic afferents, and of the retrograde transport to the DRG neurons of the conjugate, where the saporin component induces cell death through mitochondrial toxicity. Several studies agree that the maximal loss of IB4 binding occurs by 21 days post IB4-saporin injection and that this loss persists indefinitely as it results from cell death (Tarpley et al., 2004; Vulchanova et al., 2001).

# 3.5.2 Behavioral changes following IB4-saporin injection

Following IB4-saporin injection in the sciatic nerve, we did not detect any changes in the pain thresholds for innocuous mechanical or noxious mechanical and thermal stimuli. Our results differ from those of two other groups (Tarpley et al., 2004; Vulchanova et al., 2001) who previously injected IB4-saporin into the sciatic nerve of rats in that we did not observe a transient elevation in mechanical

and thermal thresholds at early time points (up to day 14 post-IB4-saporin injection). However, our data concurs with that of the two above studies in that by 21 days post-injection thermal and mechanical thresholds were not different from control levels. A previous study from our laboratory in which the IB4-saporin was injected bilaterally into the mental nerves did not reveal any difference from controls when mechanical thresholds were tested in the lower lip skin (Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2012). Our data also concurs with a previous, unpublished, study from our laboratory with intra-sciatic nerve injection of IB4-SAP (Bailey et al., 2005). These results are in agreement with previous work that describes the lack of behavioral changes following ablation of IB4-positive epidermal innervations (Lindfors et al., 2006). However, the fact that both thermal and mechanical responses were temporarily affected (Tarpley et al., 2004; Vulchanova et al., 2001) or not affected at all (our studies) following the ablation of the nonpeptidergic population of nociceptive afferents contradicts the observation in the mouse that non-peptidergic and peptidergic fibers mediate specific modalities, mechanical and thermal nociception, respectively (Cavanaugh et al., 2009; Scherrer et al., 2009). The discrepancy may be due to species differences in the properties of peptidergic and non-peptidergic afferents. These concern in particular the expression of the vanilloid receptor TRPV1, which is known to have an important role in thermal nociceptive mechanisms (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Indeed, in mouse TRPV1 receptors are expressed exclusively by peptidergic primary afferents (Zwick et al., 2002). In contrast, in rat both peptidergic and nonpeptidergic afferents express TRPV1 (Michael and Priestley, 1999).

# 3.5.3 Changes in dorsal horn lamina I projection neurons following IB4-saporin injection

Based on the normal responses to noxious stimuli in the absence of one of the two main populations of nociceptive primary afferents, the logical reasoning would be that the other main population would be able to compensate for such loss. This would imply the occurrence of adaptive compensatory changes in the other population. Surprisingly, previous studies (Tarpley et al., 2004; Vulchanova

et al., 2001) reported a slight decrease in substance P immunoreactivity following IB4-saporin treatment, which might suggest an increased release of substance P vesicles. However, in the present study, we did not detect any consistent decrease in CGRP immunoreactivity, nor did we observe a change in the peptidergeric population in the recent study in the trigeminal system (Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2012). However, we did observe an overall increase in NK-1r immunoreactivity following IB4-saporin injection (see Figure 4). As our laboratory had previously detected a novel expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons in chronic pain models (Almarestani et al., 2009) (Saeed and Ribeiro-da-Silva, submitted), we investigated if this NK-1r immunoreactivity increase was due to an upregulation in neurons already expressing it or if it was the result of a *de novo* synthesis by a new neuronal population. Our quantitative study of NK1r expression by the three lamina I projection neuronal populations did not reveal any novel expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons or even an increased number of cells of the other two populations displaying NK-1r immunoreactivity (Figure 6). This indicated that the increased NK-1r immunoreactivity we detected was caused by an increase in the number of receptors by cell populations already expressing it. Furthermore, we did not detect any change in the number of lamina I neurons of each type which were NK1-r-positive over 8 weeks (Figure 7).

#### 3.6 Conclusions

In this study, we have demonstrated that the selective lesioning of the nonpeptidergic afferents of the sciatic nerve do not cause any significant pain-related behavior change for up to 21 days after lesion. In the spinal dorsal horn, changes were limited to the loss of the non-peptidergic afferents and a strong increase in overall immunoreactivity for the NK-1r. However, contrary to what we might expect, the overall number of neurons expressing the NK-1r did not increase and there was no *de novo* expression of the receptor by pyramidal neurons. These results suggest that a persistent pain state may be required to trigger the NK-1r expression by pyramidal neurons.

# 3.7 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Manon St-Louis for laboratory expertise and Jacynthe Laliberté for confocal microscopy assistance. We are also particularly grateful to Dr. Gary Bennett for the use of his animal behavior facility.

# **Connecting text: Chapter 3 to Chapter 4**

In the previous chapter, we found that the cytotoxic ablation of an entire population of nociceptive primary afferents, the non-peptidergic C fibers, did not trigger the expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons, although it induced an over-expression of these receptors by fusiform and multipolar cells. During the course of this study we used IB4 labeling as a way to identify the efficacy of our neurotoxin lesions. Surprisingly, we verified that, in control animals, there was some direct innervation of lamina I neurons expressing the NK-1r by nonpeptidergic, IB4-binding, afferents. This observation in the rat contradicted studies by Basbaum's group which indicated, in a mouse model, that the nonpeptidergic afferents do not form directly or indirect contacts with lamina I neurons expressing the NK-1r (Braz et al., 2005).

Therefore, in the next chapter, we performed a systematic study of the termination of non-peptidergic afferents in lamina I, in naïve rats, and analyzed quantitatively their innervation of the different populations of lamina I projection neurons. We confirmed that non-peptidergic afferents are less abundant in lamina I than the peptidergic, although they still contributed significantly to the direct innervation of lamina I projection neurons. We also confirmed at the ultrastructural level that these non-peptidergic afferents, identified by P2X3 immunoreactivity, established *bona fide* synapses on lamina I neurons expressing the NK-1r.

# Chapter 4

Non-peptidergic primary afferents are presynaptic to lamina I projection neurons in rat spinal cord

# Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva

Submitted to Molecular Pain, 2012

# 4.1 Abstract

Background: Pain-related (nociceptive) information is carried from the periphery to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord mostly by two populations of small diameter primary afferents, the peptidergic and the non-peptidergic. The peptidergic population expresses neuropeptides, such as substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), while the non-peptidergic fibers are devoid of neuropeptides, express the purinergic receptor P2X3, and bind the isolectin B4 (IB4). Although it has been known for some time that in rat the peptidergic afferents terminate mostly in lamina I and outer lamina II and nonpeptidergic afferents in inner lamina II, the extent of the termination of the latter population in lamina I was never investigated as it was considered as very minor. Because our preliminary evidence suggested otherwise, we decided to re-examine the termination of non-peptidergic afferents in lamina I, in particular with regards to their innervation of projection neurons expressing substance P receptors (NK-1r). We used retrograde labeling of neurons from the parabrachial nucleus combined with lectin IB4 binding and immunocytochemistry. Samples were examined by confocal and electron microscopy.

**Results:** By confocal microscopy, we studied the termination of nonpeptidergic afferents in lamina I using IB4 binding and P2X3 immunoreactivity as markers, in relation to CGRP immunoreactivy, a marker of peptidergic afferents. The number of IB4 or P2X3-labeled fibers in lamina I was much higher than expected, although they were less abundant than CGRP-labeled afferents. There were very few fibers double-labeled for CGRP and either P2X3 or IB4. We found a considerable number of IB4-positive fiber varicosities in close apposition to NK-1r-positive lamina I projection neurons, which were distinct from peptidergic varicosities. Furthermore, we confirmed at the ultrastructural level that there were bona fide synapses between P2X3-immunoreactive non-peptidergic boutons and neurokinin-1 receptor-positive lamina I dendrites.

**Conclusions:** These results indicate the presence of direct inervation by non-peptidergic nociceptive afferents of lamina I projection neurons expressing

NK-1r. Further investigations are needed to better understand the role of these connections in physiological conditions and chronic pain states.

# 4.2 Introduction

Unmyelinated C afferents comprise approximately 70% of all primary afferents fibers (Nagy and Hunt, 1983). The majority of such fibers transmit nociceptive information from the periphery to the spinal dorsal horn and have been divided into two main populations, the peptidergic and the non-peptidergic (Hunt and Rossi, 1985). The peptidergic population synthesizes neuropeptides, such as substance P (SP) and calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP), expresses the high affinity nerve growth factor receptor, trkA, and terminates mainly in lamina I and outer lamina II of the spinal dorsal horn (Averill et al., 1995; Cuello et al., 1993; Skofitsch and Jacobowitz, 1985). The non-peptidergic unmyelinated afferents, although devoid of neuropeptides, express the purinergic P2X3 receptor, bind the plant isolectin B4 (IB4), express receptors for glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and terminate mainly in inner lamina II of the spinal dorsal horn (Bennett et al., 1998; Silverman and Kruger, 1988; Vulchanova et al., 1998). These two populations can also be differentiated based on the ultrastructural properties of their central terminals in the spinal dorsal horn; the peptidergic terminate mostly as simple axo-dendritic boutons, containing several large granular vesicles (LGV), and occasionally as central terminals of type Ib glomeruli (CIb), which are rich in LGV (Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2004; Ribeiro-da-Silva et al., 1989). In contrast, the non-peptidergic afferents terminate most often as the central boutons of type Ia glomeruli, which are poor in LGV, have a very dense matrix and are often postsynaptic to GABA-positive neurons at axo-axonic or dendroaxonic synapses (Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2004).

Regarding peptidergic afferents, their dorsal horn termination has been investigated in particular in relation to neurons which express the SP receptor, the neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1r) (Liu et al., 1994; McLeod et al., 1998; Todd et al., 2002). It has been shown at the confocal and electron microscopic levels that SP-immunoreactive (IR) terminals innervate preferentially neurons which display

NK-1r immunoreactivity (McLeod et al., 1998; Todd et al., 2002). In lamina I, an abundant innervation by SP-IR primary afferents of projection neurons, which are immunoreactive for the NK-1r and are activated by noxious stimuli, has been detected (Todd et al., 2002). Unfortunately, our knowledge concerning the central terminations of the non-peptidergic C fiber population is limited. In rat, as mentioned above, they have been shown to terminate mostly in inner lamina II as central terminals of type Ia glomeruli. However, besides the fact that they are postsynaptic to GABAergic interneurons, their synaptic connections are not well known. Studies in rat utilizing whole-cell recordings suggest that these nonpeptidergic afferents form indirect connections with lamina I projection neurons through interneurons in lamina II (Lu and Perl, 2003, 2005), while other studies, using transgenic mice, proposed that the non-peptidergic afferents synapse onto inner lamina II interneurons which in turn would connect with deep lamina V projection neurons (Braz et al., 2005). However, it was never investigated whether lamina I projection neurons receive direct synapses from non-peptidergic afferents, likely because it was assumed that the termination of such afferents in lamina I was negligible. In this study, we examined quantitatively the innervation of NK-1r-positive lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic unmyelinated primary afferents, using confocal microscopy, and also provided ultrastructural evidence of direct synapses of these afferents on NK-1r-IR lamina I neurons.

# 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Termination of non-peptidergic afferents in lamina I

We examined the termination of non-peptidergic afferents using either IB4 binding or P2X3 immunoreactivity. We used sections cut in the three planes: transverse, parasagittal and horizontal (Figures 1-3), and focused on the region equidistant from the lateral and medial limits of the dorsal horn. In transverse sections, when comparing the distribution of IB4-binding (IB4+) and P2X3-IR fibers at low magnification, it was apparent that the band of intense IB4+ labeling extended more ventrally than the P2X3 band (Figure 1). Overall, some IB4+ and

P2X3-IR terminals co-localized CGRP immunoreactivity (in yellow in Figures 1 and 3), although the majority did not. A surprising observation was that the number of boutons in lamina I that were IB4+ or P2X3-IR and did not co-localize CGRP immunoreactivity was much higher than what could be expected based on the literature. Some IB4+ and P2X3-IR boutons which did not co-localize CGRP immunoreactivity could be observed in transverse sections (Figure 1 C-D; arrowheads). However, these boutons were particularly apparent in parasagittal (Figure 2) and horizontal sections (Figure 3). In horizontal sections, we could be absolutely certain that the boutons from non-peptidergic afferents were located in lamina I since we used serial sections, and the confocal images were obtained with a very small pinhole corresponding to an optical slice of  $\sim 0.5 \,\mu m$  adjacent to the white matter. These sections revealed a considerable innervation of lamina I by boutons immunoreactive for P2X3, although they were clearly less abundant than the CGRP-IR (Figure 3A). The comparison with optical slices from inner lamina II allowed us to assess how much more abundant P2X3-IR boutons were in that layer (Figure 1D, 2 and 3B), confirming that inner lamina II is the main termination site for non-peptidergic afferents.

# 4.3.2 Innervation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic afferents

To study the innervation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic afferents, we labeled neurons retrogradely by means of a stereotaxic CTb injection in the lateral parabrachial nucleus. The injection site covered most of the parabrachial complex, including the lateral parabrachial nucleus, an observation that is comparable to distributions previously reported by us (Almarestani et al., 2007, 2009). The majority of the retrogradely labeled lamina I neurons were found on the contralateral side, although a few were also present on the side ipsilateral to the CTb injection. CTb labeling of spinoparabrachial lamina I neurons included the cell body and primary dendrites (Figures 4 and 5).

We also performed a labeling of these cells with antibodies against the SP, receptor, the NK-1r. Indeed, it has been previously described (Almarestani et al., 2007, 2009) that lamina I, fusiform and multipolar spinoparabrachial neurons,

identified by retrograde tracing of CTb, often express NK-1r immunoreactivity, while lamina I pyramidal neurons seldom express NK-1r immunoreactivity. These neuronal populations can be identified based on their dendritic arborization and cell body shape when viewed in the horizontal plane. Multipolar neurons have four or more dendrites arising from an irregularly-shaped soma (Figure 4A). Fusiform neurons possess two dendrites, each arising from one end of a spindle-shaped soma (Figure 4B and 5). Lastly, pyramidal neurons have a triangular soma with one primary dendrite arising from each of the three tips of the soma (Figure 4C). In this study, we observed IB4+ non-peptidergic varicosities in apparent direct apposition to all three populations of lamina I projection neurons, multipolar (Figure 4A), fusiform (Figure 4B) and pyramidal (Figure 4C). These boutons were distinct from CGRP-positive peptidergic boutons, and from boutons of the small proportion of primary afferents which are simultaneously CGRP-positive and bind IB4, as described previously (Alvarez and Fyffe, 2000; Priestley et al., 2002) (Figure 5).

# 4.3.3 Quantification of non-peptidergic varicosities apposed to NK-1r-positive lamina I projection neurons

Although peptidergic innervation is associated mainly with multipolar and fusiform lamina I neurons (Yu et al., 2005), the quantitative data in the present study, which was carried out in the cell bodies and proximal dendrites of neurons, demonstrates the presence of a non-peptidergic innervation on all three populations of lamina I projection neurons (Figure 6). Since the main objective of this study was to give an account of the non-peptidergic innervation, no quantification was performed for the peptidergic innervation on lamina I neurons, which has been previously investigated (Charlton and Helke, 1985; Ma et al., 1996; McLeod et al., 1998).

<u>4.3.4 Ultrastructural demonstration of synapses between non-peptidergic primary</u> <u>afferents and lamina I neurons</u> Because the resolution of confocal microscopy is insufficient to demonstrate the presence of bona fide appositions of two structures and synapses between them, we performed an ultrastructural study using P2X3 immunoreactivity. We had to omit glutaraldehyde from the fixative because it completely blocked the immunostaining, even in very low concentration, which affected the quality of the ultrastrucure. In lamina I, all P2X3-IR boutons established simple axo-dendritic or axo-somatic synapses (Figure 7A). In inner lamina II, most P2X3-IR boutons were involved in complex synaptic arrangements, as predicted from the literature (Ribeiro-da-Silva and De Koninck, 2008), forming the central element of type Ia glomeruli (Figure 7B).

We used a double labeling for P2X3 and NK-1r to demonstrate direct appositions and synapses between P2X3 immunoreactive boutons and NK-1r dendritic profiles (Figure 8).



**Figure 1:** CGRP, IB4 and P2X3 staining in transverse spinal cord sections. **A** and **B** show low magnification confocal images of CGRP-IR and IB4-positive (A) or P2X3-IR (B) fibers. **C** and **D** represent high magnification confocal images from the middle third of the latero-medial extent of the superficial dorsal horn. In **C**, note that there is limited co-localization of IB4 and CGRP (in yellow). Arrowheads show axonal varicosities (boutons) from non-peptidergic fibers in lamina I, which do not co-localize CGRP immunoreactivity. Calcitonin gene related peptide – CGRP (in green); isolectin B4 – IB4 (in red); purinergic receptor P2X3 – P2X3 (in red). Scale bar (**A**, **B**) = 200 µm; scale bar (**C**, **D**) = 20 µm.


**Figure 2:** Confocal images at high magnification obtained from parasagittal spinal cord sections showing CGRP-IR (green) and P2X3-IR (red) varicosities in the superficial dorsal horn. P2X3-IR varicosities were present in considerable number in lamina I (LI) but were more highly concentrated in inner lamina II (LIIi). Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$ .



**Figure 3:** Confocal images at high power obtained from horizontal spinal cord sections. In a confocal optical section from lamina I adjacent to the white matter (A), note the relatively abundant P2X3-IR fibers with varicosities (boutons). CGRP-IR fibers and boutons were considerably more abundant in this lamina. In a confocal optical section from inner lamina II (B), note the very high density of P2X3-IR fibers and varicosities, higher than that of CGRP-IR fibers in lamina I. Note that most varicosities display either P2X3 or CGRP immunoreactivity, although some co-localization is observed (yellow). Scale bar (A, B) = 20  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 4:** Confocal triple-labeling image showing the innervation of lamina I spinoparabrachial (A) multipolar, (B) fusiform and (C) pyramidal neurons by IB4+ varicosities (indicated by arrowheads). IB4 (red); NK-1r (green); spinoparabrachial neurons labeled with CTb (white). Scale bar (A-C) =  $20 \mu m$ .



**Figure 5:** Example of a quadruple labeling observed by confocal microscopy at the confocal level using a multi-track approach. In this image the following signals were simultaneously detected: CGRP (green); IB4 binding (red); CTb transported retrogradely from the parabrachial nucleus (blue); NK-1r (white). A fusiform neuron, double labeled with CTb and NK-1r, is innervated by CGRP-IR boutons (arrowhead) and IB4+ (arrow) boutons, which represent distinct populations. However, a small population of varicosities co-labeled for CGRP and IB4 (curved arrow) was detected. Scale bar (A-E) = 20  $\mu$ m.

# Number of IB4-positive varicosities per 100 $\mu$ m



**Figure 6:** Quantification of IB4-positive boutons in direct apposition to lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons. Because of limitations in the CTb filling of neurons, we limited the quantification to boutons apposed to the soma membrane and membranes of primary dendrites. N= 6.



**Figure 7:** Electron micrograph showing: in **A**, a P2X3-IR bouton (arrow) forming an axo-somatic contact onto a lamina I cell body (CB); in **B**, a P2X3-IR central bouton of a type Ia glomerulus (CI P2X3+) presynaptic to 3 lamina I dendrites (D) and apposed to an axonal bouton (V2). Scale bar =  $0.5 \mu m$ .



**Figure 8:** Electron micrographs showing axo-dendritic contacts between P2X3positive boutons (arrows) and NK-1r-positive dendrites (D) (**A** and **B**). Note the silver-intensified gold particles along the plasma membrane of the dendrites, representing NK-1r-IR sites. B: unlabeled axonal bouton. Scale bar =  $0.5 \mu m$ .

### 4.4 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate the presence in lamina I of a significant number of boutons originating from non-peptidergic afferents immunoreactive for P2X3 or binding the lectin IB4. We also provide evidence at the confocal microscopy level that IB4+ boutons are in apposition to lamina I projection neurons which express the NK-1r. Lastly, we provide ultrastructural evidence of synapses between P2X3-IR boutons and lamina I dendritic profiles immunoreactive for the NK-1r.

### 4.4.1 Technical considerations

Because most of this study was carried out using confocal microscopy, we could not fully ensure that boutons from non-peptidergic afferents were presynaptic to neurons in lamina I. For this reason, we carried out an ultrastructural study using antibodies against P2X3 and provided direct evidence of synapses between P2X3-IR axonal boutons and dendrites and cell bodies in lamina I. We also performed at the ultrastructural level a double labeling for P2X3 and the NK-1r that demonstrated that some of the structures innervated by these boutons expressed the NK-1r, in agreement with what was assumed from the confocal data. We could observe unequivocal evidence of synaptic contacts, in spite of the fact that we had to use a fixative without glutaraldehyde and pretreatment of the sections with a detergent for a short period to obtain P2X3 staining at the ultrastructural level. It should be pointed out that Naim et al. (Naim et al., 1997) examined at the ultrastructural level ultrathin sections recut from thicker sections previously examined by confocal microscopy. Naim et al.'s study showed that immunoreactive varicosities seen in close apposition to the membrane of NK-1r-IR under the confocal microscope actually formed synapses when viewed under the electron microscope. Therefore, we are confident that the IB4+ varicosities in apposition to NK-1r-IR lamina I projection neurons should establish synapses in a high proportion of cases.

It is known that in rat there is a small proportion of peptidergic sensory fibers in lamina I and II that colocalize CGRP and somatostatin, do not respond

to NGF and bind IB4 (Alvarez and Fyffe, 2000; Priestley et al., 2002). This obliged us to investigate the co-localization of IB4 binding and P2X3 immunoreactivity, our markers of non-peptidergic nociceptive C fibers, with CGRP immunoreactivity. Indeed, as predicted, we found a limited level of colocalization of either marker of non-peptidergic afferents with CGRP immunoreactivity. However, most varicosities that we observed in lamina I which were IB4+ or P2X3-IR did not co-localize CGRP immunoreactivity, what reassured us regarding the validity of our findings regarding the overall innervation of lamina I by non-peptidergic afferents. But it was still possible that a subpopulation of these afferents innervating NK-1r-IR lamina I projection neurons would represent exactly this minor subpopulation that is simultaneously CGRP-IR and IB4+. Therefore, we carried out a quadruple labeling in which we detected CTb (the retrograde label), NK-1r, CGRP and IB4 binding. Unfortunately, because of antibody incompatibilities, we could not perform P2X3 staining and had to use the lectin IB4 conjugated to a fluorochrome. Although our confocal microscope can identify 4 separate signals reliably using the multi-track approach, it was technically impossible to perform a quantitative analysis of the innervation of lamina I cells using more than 3 signals (IB4, CTb and NK-1r) because of photobleaching during the performance of the Z-stacks. However, we examined enough cells using the quadruple labeling to ensure that the proportion of axonal boutons colocalizing IB4 binding and CGRP immunoreactivity in apposition to lamina I neurons was low. An example of the quadruple labeling is given on Figure 4.

### 4.4.2 Innervation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic C fibers

The main objective of this study was to investigate the issue of the innervation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic C fibers because to our knowledge a systematic study combining labeling of these sensory fibers with labeling of these lamina I neurons had never been done. This is an important issue for the reasons given below. Previous work by Lu and Perl (Lu and Perl, 2005), using simultaneous whole-cell recordings from pairs of neurons, provided

some evidence that input from primary afferent C fibers terminating in inner lamina II may reach lamina I projection neurons via interposed interneurons. Since the great majority of C fibers innervating inner lamina II are nonpeptidergic, it has been later suggested that the above pathway may be important for pain-related information conveyed by non-peptidergic C fibers to reach lamina I projection neurons which then project to supraspinal levels. If this is true, lamina I nociceptive projection neurons would receive direct input from peptidergic afferents and polysynaptic input from the non-peptidergic afferents (Ribeiro-da-Silva and De Koninck, 2008).

Alternatively, it has been proposed that the non-peptidergic afferents are part of a distinct and parallel pathway from that of their peptidergic counterpart. This view obtained some support from a study by Braz et al. (Braz et al., 2005) in a transgenic mouse, which demonstrated that the termination of non-peptidergic afferents on lamina II would be on excitatory interneurons, which in turn would synapse on deep lamina V projection neurons with ascending connections to the amygdala, hypothalamus and bed nucleus of stria terminalis. As they found minimal connection with lamina I neurons expressing the NK-1r, the above group involvement of the non-peptidergic afferents in proposed the the affective/emotional component of pain. Alternatively, other studies also in the mouse, proposed that distinct subsets of primary sensory afferents selectively mediate responses to different stimulus modalities. These studies provided some evidence suggesting that, in the mouse, non-peptidergic afferents play a particular role in transmitting mechanical pain, as opposed to the peptidergic which would be involved in conveying thermal pain (Cavanaugh et al., 2009; Scherrer et al., 2009). This idea of divergent pain pathways can be criticized since all the studies supporting it were performed in mice, which have been shown to demonstrate an explicit dichotomy between the C fiber populations that does not apply to rats and higher order species such as primates. In particular, the vanilloid TRPV1 receptors are localized only in the peptidergic fibers in mice (Woodbury et al., 2004; Zwick et al., 2002) whereas they are present in both peptidergic and nonpeptidergic afferents in the rat and higher species (Guo et al., 1999; Tominaga et al., 1998).

Our data provides evidence that non-peptidergic primary afferents establish direct connections with lamina I projection neurons, in addition to the possible indirect connections via an interposed interneuron suggested in previous studies (Lu and Perl, 2005). Although the non-peptidergic primary afferent termination in lamina I may seem as a minor contribution to the lamina I synaptic circuitry when compared to their termination in inner lamina II, they may prove to have a significant role in the transmission of nociceptive signals. Indeed, the terminals of these fibers in inner lamina II represent the central bouton of type Ia glomeruli, and are involved in complex modulatory circuits involving GABAergic presynaptic inhibition (Ribeiro-da-Silva and De Koninck, 2008). A direct termination of non-peptidergic afferents on lamina I cells would bypass such modulation. Since non-peptidergic afferents have a more extensive distribution in the epidermis than peptidergic afferents (Taylor et al., 2009), show larger and more sustained responses to capsaicin than peptidergic afferents (Liu et al., 2004) and signal mainly via glutamate without the presence of neuropeptide cotransmitters, the activation of lamina I projection neurons by these nonpeptidergic afferents would result in a different signal transmitted than when activated by the peptidergic afferents.

Although the focus of this study was mainly on NK-1r-positive projection neurons in lamina I, a previous study has demonstrated that the non-peptidergic afferents contact the NK-1r-positive superficial dorsal dendrites of lamina III-IV neurons (Sakamoto et al., 1999). These results together with our findings support the idea that non-peptidergic afferents transmit information supraspinally via spinal dorsal horn NK-1r-positive projection neurons.

### 4.5 Conclusion

These results expand our previous knowledge concerning the termination in dorsal horn of non-pepdergic primary afferents by providing evidence that they terminate directly on lamina I neurons expressing the NK-1r.

# 4.6 Materials & Methods

The guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care for the care and use of experimental animals and of the International Association for the Study of Pain were followed in all the experiments. Furthermore, all studies were previously approved by the McGill University Faculty of Medicine Animal Care Committee.

A total of 26 male Sprague Dawley rats (Charles River, Quebec, Canada) weighing 225-250g were used for the experiments. The number of animals used and their suffering were kept to the minimum necessary for the conduction of the study. Animals were exposed to 12hr light/dark cycle and given food and water *ad libitum*. The cages were fitted with soft bedding and a plastic tube for an enriched environment and the animals were housed in cages of four.

### 4.6.1 Animal Preparation

### Injection of Tracers

For the immunohistochemistry experiments requiring retrograde tracing, six animals were anesthetized using 5% isoflurane with oxygen and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (David Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) and stabilized with non-perforating ear bars. The coordinates for the parabrachial nucleus (rostral/caudal: -9.12; medial/lateral: -2.1; dorsal/ventral: -6.3) were calculated from the Paxinos & Watson Rat Brain Atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2005) with Bregma as the reference point. A small hole was drilled through the skull at the target point, exposing the dura mater and a glass micropipette (Wiretrol II, Drummond Scientific Company, Broomall, PA) was lowered to the stereotaxic position of the parabrachial nucleus. Two  $\mu$ l of 1.0% solution of cholera toxin B (CTb) (List, Campbell, CA) were slowly injected into the parabrachial nucleus over a period of 20 minutes, followed by a waiting period of 10 minute before the micropipette was retracted from its position to minimize leakage of the tracer. CTb was injected seven days prior to sacrificing the animals.

# 4.6.2 Animal Perfusion

For immunohistochemistry, eighteen animals were deeply anesthetized with 0.3ml/100g of body weight of Equithesin (6.5mg chloral hydrate and 3mg sodium pentobarbital i.p.). They were then perfused through the left cardiac ventricle with perfusion buffer (for composition see (Côté et al., 1993)) for one minute, followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB), pH 7.4, for 30 minutes. The spinal cord segments L4-L5, as well as the brains from animals injected with the retrograde tracer, were extracted and post-fixed for 1 or 2 hours, respectively, in the same fixative.

For examination under the electron microscope, eight animals were anesthetized as described above, and then perfused with perfusion buffer for one minute, followed by a 30 minutes perfusion with a mixture of 4% PFA and 15% picric acid in 0.1M PB. The spinal cord segments L4-L5 were taken out and post-fixed for one hour in the same fixative.

All specimens were immersed overnight in 30% sucrose in PB at 4°C for cryoprotection.

# 4.6.3 Tissue Processing

## Confocal microscopy

The injection site at the level of the parabrachial nucleus was examined by cutting serial, 100µm-thick, coronal sections of the relevant brain region. The dorsal aspect of the L4-L5 spinal cord segment was cut into serial, 50µm-thick horizontal sections (n=10), 50µm-thick parasagittal sections (n=4) or 50µm-thick transverse sections (n=4). All sections were cut using a freezing sledge microtome (Leica, Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canada) and collected as free-floating in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 0.2% Triton-X 100 (PBS+T). To block unspecific staining, all spinal cord sections were incubated, for one hour, in 10% normal donkey serum (NDS) (Jackson, West Grove, PA) in PBS+T at room temperature. Subsequently, the sections were placed in primary antibodies (or

conjugated lectin IB4 - see below) for 48 hours at 4°C. We used a mixture of 2 or 4 primary antibodies (each raised in a different species), or IB4, in PBS+T containing 5% NDS. Next, the sections were washed in PBS+T and then incubated in species-specific secondary antibodies that were raised in donkey and conjugated to either AlexaFluor 488, AlexaFluor 405, Rhodamine RedX or biotin. The sections were incubated in 3 different cocktails: #1) rabbit anti-CGRP at a 1:200 dilution (Sigma, St Louis, MO) and lectin IB4 conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 at a 1:200 dilution (Molecular Probes); #2) rabbit anti-CGRP and guinea pig anti-P2X3 at a 1:25,000 dilution (Neuromics, Edina, MN); #3) goat anti-CTb at a 1:5000 dilution (List Biological), rabbit anti-NK-1r at a 1:10000 dilution (Sigma, St Louis, MO), guinea pig anti-CGRP at a 1:8000 dilution (Peninsula, San Carlos, CA) and lectin IB4 conjugated to AlexaFluor 647 at a 1:200 dilution (Molecular Probes). All the sections were washed with PBS+T and then (for #1) incubated for 2 hours at room temperature with donkey anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488; (for #2) incubated for 90 minutes in a biotin conjugated donkey anti-guinea pig IgG (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove, PA, 1:200). Further signal amplification for P2X3 signaling was achieved by treating the sections with 1 hour incubation in an avidin-biotin (A+B) complex (Vectastain Elite ABC kit, Vector Laboratories) followed by tyramide (Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT, 1:75) for 7 minutes. Sections were then incubated in streptavidin conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, 1:200) and donkey anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488; or (for #3) incubated for 2 hours at room temperature with secondary antibodies: donkey anti-goat Rhodamine Red X, donkey anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488, and donkey anti-guinea pig AlexaFluor 405. Finally, sections were washed with PBS, mounted on gelatin-subbed slides and coverslipped with an anti-fading mounting medium (Aqua Polymount; Polysciences, Warrington, PA). Slides were stored at -4°C until further processing.

To evaluate the injection site in the parabrachial nucleus, brainstem sections were incubated with anti-CTb antibody followed by a biotinylated donkey anti-goat IgG and streptavidin conjugated to AlexaFluor 568. They were then mounted and coverslipped as described above.

# Electron Microscopy

Spinal cord specimens from the L4-L5 region were freeze-thawed in liquid nitrogen for 30 seconds, then cut into 50µm-thick transverse sections on a Vibratome (TPI, St. Louis, MO, USA) and collected as free-floating in PBS. To increase further antibody penetration, sections were incubated for 15 minutes in PBS+T, but all further incubations were carried out in PBS without Triton. Following a short PBS wash, the sections were incubated with 50% ethanol for 30 minutes. They were then incubated for 30 minutes in 0.5% BSA (bovine serum albumin) and subsequently incubated for one hour in 10% NDS. Sections were incubated for 48 hours, at 4°C, either with a primary antibody mixture of guinea pig anti-P2X3 at dilution 1:200,000 and rabbit anti-NK-1r at dilution 1:4000, or the guinea-pig anti-P2X3 antibody (at the same dilution) alone, in 5% NDS and 0.1% BSA.

Sections were then washed several times with PBS and then incubated for 90 minutes in a biotinylated donkey anti-guinea pig IgG antibody at dilution of 1:1000 in PBS and processed for tyramide amplification as described above. Afterwards, the sections were incubated, for one hour, in A+B enzyme complex. Labeling for the P2X3 antibodies was revealed following the incubation of the section with intensified DAB (3', 3'diaminobenzidine with 1% cobalt chloride and 1% nickel ammonium sulfate) to which 1% hydrogen peroxide was added (Ribeiro-da-Silva et al., 1993). The reaction was stopped by two washes in PBS. Sections processed for P2X3 staining were then osmicated (see below). Sections previously incubated in two primary antibodies (anti-P2X3 and anti-NK-1r) were placed for 10 minutes in washing buffer (0.8% BSA and 0.5% fish gelatin in PBS; pH 7.4) and then incubated overnight at 4°C with anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to gold particles (1.4nm diameter, Nanoprobes, Yaphank, NY) in washing buffer, at dilution of 1:200. The following day, all sections are washed for 3 minutes in washing buffer, rinsed for 3 minutes in PBS, and then immersed for 10 minutes in 1% glutaraldehyde in PBS. The sections were washed with de-ionized water for 2 minutes and then incubated for 8 minutes with an HQ silver enhancement

reagent following manufacturer's instructions (Nanoprobes, Yaphank, NY). The sections were then thoroughly rinsed with de-ionized water and then washed with 0.1M PB.

The sections were then post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide in PB for 1 hour at room temperature and, subsequently, dehydrated in ascending concentrations of ethanol and propylene oxide, followed by flat-embedding in Epon (Ribeiro-da-Silva et al., 1993). The Epon-embedded sections were observed at low power with a light microscope and selected areas were trimmed and reembedded in Epon blocks. The Epon blocks were then trimmed, cut into ultrathin sections (60 nm) on a Reichert-Jung ultramicrotome (Nussloch, Germany) using a diamond knife and placed onto formvar-coated one-slot grids. Finally, sections were counterstained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and examined using a Philips/FEI CM120 electron microscope equipped with a digital camera.

# 4.6.4 Image acquisition and quantification

Immunofluorescence sections were examined using a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal scanning laser microscope, equipped with Argon, HeNe1 and HeNe2 lasers, plus a Titanium-Sapphire multiphoton laser (MIRA 900F pumped by a Verdi-V5, Coherent Canada, Mississauga, ON, Canada). W e used a multi-track scanning method and appropriate filters, for the separate detections of AlexaFluor 488, streptavidin conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 or Rhodamine Red X, IB4conjugated to AlexaFluor 647 and/or AlexaFluor 405, respectively. Images used for quantification represent serial optical sections obtained along the z-axis (zstacks), using a 63X plan-apochromatic oil-immersion objective. Furthermore, for an unbiased representation of the images taken, all the parameters of laser power, pinhole size and image detection were kept constant for all samples. The images obtained were converted to TIFF files. Our criteria of identification and quantification of lamina I neurons have been described extensively in previous publications from our laboratory (Almarestani et al., 2009) (see also Results section). To calculate the density of IB4-positive boutons per unit length of neuronal membrane, the length of membrane in the soma and proximal dendrites

was measured with the help of an MCID Elite Image Analysis System (Imaging Research, St.Catharines, ON, Canada) and the number of appositions from IB4-positive boutons onto it was counted. This was done on alternate optical sections from the z-stack, to avoid counting the same boutons twice.

# 4.7 Acknowledgements

Supported by Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) grant MOP-79411 (to A.R.-da-S). The authors would like to thank Manon St-Louis for laboratory expertise, Jacynthe Laliberté for confocal microscopy assistance and Johanne Ouellette for electron microscopy assistance.

# Chapter 5

General Discussion

### 5.1 Overview

In this thesis, we presented experimental work that expands on our current understanding of spinal dorsal horn pain-related circuitry and identifies changes that occur in the spinal cord following a nerve lesion. These changes may play a role in the development and maintenance of chronic neuropathic pain.

In the second chapter of this thesis, we described the phenotypic changes in the projection neurons of the spinal dorsal horn that occur following a peripheral nerve lesion. We described a de novo expression of NK-1r on the pyramidal lamina I projection neurons following a neuropathic lesion, which was associated with a marked increase of SP innervation on those cells. Furthermore, we demonstrated that after lesion pyramidal neurons became responsive to noxious stimulation, as they internalized the NK-1r following an intradermal injection of capsaicin into the hind paw. In the third chapter, we concluded that the loss of the non-peptidergic afferents alone was not sufficient to cause a phenotypic alteration in the neuronal populations of the spinal dorsal horn, since there were neither behavioral changes in response to acute stimuli nor changes in NK-1r expression following the cytotoxic ablation of the non-peptidergic population of nociceptive fibers. This observation would suggest that the pain-related dorsal horn circuitry comprises compensatory mechanisms that safeguard against the disruption of the circuitry. Finally, in the fourth chapter, we illustrated the presence of axonal boutons from non-peptidergic fibers in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn, innervating all three populations of the lamina I projection neurons. Although this layer previously has been thought to be devoid of non-peptidergic innervation, our results show otherwise and suggest an added level of complexity in the processing of pain-related signals in the spinal dorsal horn.

In this chapter, we will discuss how these new findings corroborate with the currently available literature on pain mechanisms. Furthermore, we will outline several future experiments that may be interesting to this line of research.

#### 5.1.1 Involvement of Lamina I pyramidal cells in thermoregulation

In chapter 2, we mentioned evidence from the literature that pyramidal cells normally are non-nociceptive and respond only to innocuous cooling (Han et al., 1998). However, we also presented evidence that, as of 10 days following a neuropathic lesion, pyramidal cells start to express NK-1r and develop an abundant innervation by peptidergic afferents. These observations are similar to those observed in our lab in an arthritis model, in which similar alterations were observed in pyramidal neurons starting only at a time point in which obvious joint damage was observed (Almarestani et al., 2009). The internalization of NK-1r in pyramidal cells following a noxious stimulus would suggest that these cells become nociceptive. However, such a conclusion is not legitimate based only on the data we have, as a response to noxious stimulation does not imply that the message forwarded to the brain by these cells is a nociceptive one. Indeed, we advanced an alternative explanation suggesting a role for these changes in thermoregulation-based homeostatic mechanisms. In this discussion we decided to expand further on this latter concept.

There is evidence that lamina I pyramidal neurons may be implicated in the thermoregulatory system, inducing defensive responses such as shivering, non-shivering thermogenesis and cutaneous vasoconstriction, in response to a drop in skin temperature before it affects core body temperature. The observation in Chapter 4 that in normal animals, lamina I pyramidal neurons are directly innervated by non-peptidergic afferents reinforces the concept that these afferents are involved in thermoregulation as well (see below).

# 5.1.1-1 Non-peptidergic afferents and thermoregulation

The transient receptor potential (TRP) melastatin-8 (TRPM8) channel is one of the temperature sensitive channels expressed on primary sensory neurons (Latorre et al., 2011; Lumpkin and Caterina, 2007). TRPM8 is implicated in innocuous cooling, as it is activated by moderate cooling of the ambient temperature to temperatures between 22-27°C and application of exogenous "cooling-mimetic" compounds such as menthol (McKemy et al., 2002; Peier et al., 2002). Recently TRPM8 was implicated in controlling cold avoidance



**Figure 1** – Schematic of the neural pathways activated in response to innocuous thermal stimulation. DH: dorsal horn; LPB: lateral parabrachial nucleus; IML: intermediolateral column; SG: sympathetic ganglia. From (Romanovsky et al., 2009).

behavior, tail-skin vasoconstriction and thermogenesis (Almeida et al., 2012). While some studies demonstrated the expression of TRPM8 exclusively by nonpeptidergic afferents (Dhaka et al., 2008; Peier et al., 2002; Story et al., 2003), others showed the presence of TRPM8 channels in both C fiber populations (Babes et al., 2004; Okazawa et al., 2004; Takashima et al., 2007; Xing et al., 2006).

# 5.1.1-2 Pyramidal lamina I projection neurons and thermoregulation

mentioned As in Chapter 2, lamina I pyramidal neurons have been identified as COLD neurons and are implicated in the transmission of innocuous cooling signals to supraspinal brain structures including the lateral Pb (Craig and Bushnell, 1994; Craig and Kniffki, 1985; Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996; Han et al., 1998). Indeed, it is known that, in

addition to its previously described role in nociception, the lateral Pb plays a role in thermoregulation (Kobayashi and Osaka, 2003; Nakamura and Morrison, 2008b). Pyramidal lamina I neurons, activated by thermosensory information from primary afferents, send glutamatergic projections to the lateral Pb. At this level, there is activation of third-order excitatory neurons which in turn activate GABA-ergic neurons in the median preoptic nucleus (MnPO) of the preoptic hypothalamic area (POA). The MnPO neurons then inhibit the warm-sensitive inhibitory neurons in the medial preoptic area (MPO) of the POA (Nakamura and Morrison, 2008a, b). The warm-sensitive inhibitory neurons in the MPO tonically suppress the sympathoexcitatory premotor neurons in the dorsomedial hypothalamus (DMH) and the rostral raphe pallidus nucleus (rRPa) (Morrison et al., 2008; Nakamura and Morrison, 2007; Rathner et al., 2008), therefore suppressing brown adipose tissue (BAT) thermogenesis and skin vasoconstriction (Osaka, 2004). Inhibiting the MPO tonic suppression results in increased BAT thermogenesis and skin vasoconstriction thus increasing core body temperature (Figure 1).

### 5.1.1-3 Is there impaired thermoregulation following nerve injury?

Chronic nerve injury was characterized, among other features, by a loss of primary afferents, including non-peptidergic afferents (Peleshok and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2011) and by a phenotypic switch in pyramidal lamina I neurons, resulting in a *de novo* expression of NK-1r as described in the Chapter 2 of this thesis. Both, the non-peptidergic afferents and pyramidal lamina I neurons have been implicated in thermoregulation. Therefore, the changes that occur after peripheral nerve injury, in particular those we described in Chapter 2 may result in thermoregulatory alterations.

The abovementioned loss of primary sensory afferents may play a part in the thermoregulatory disturbances, such that a retraction of the primary sensory afferents may result in a decrease in the number of TRPM8 channels available to detect environmental cooling. Therefore, this loss of feed forward mechanism and dissociation from external changes in environmental temperatures would led to a suppression of body core temperature defenses and inhibition of BAT thermogenesis. These changes, if unopposed, may result in the decrease in core body temperature, leading to hypothermia (Nakamura and Morrison, 2007, 2008b, 2010).

On the other hand, the *de novo* expression of NK-1r by pyramidal lamina I neurons and the much increased innervation by nociceptive afferents of these neurons following nerve injury, described in Chapter 2, might have the opposite effect. Therefore, these changes may represent an important compensatory mechanism to prevent hypothermia. Indeed, an enhanced thermoregulatory signal projected to the lateral Pb may result in an increased suppression of the MPO warm-sensitive neurons, therefore activating the sympathoexcitatory neurons in the DMH and rRPA and increasing non-shivering BAT thermogenesis and cutaneous vasoconstriction, therefore, leading to the increase of core body temperature (Morrison et al., 2012; Morrison et al., 2008; Nakamura and Morrison, 2008a). However, further investigations would be required to confirm this idea.

Although the changes in thermoregulation following peripheral nerve injury are still to be fully investigated, earlier work demonstrated a lowered threshold for the onset of shivering following nerve injury (Stoner, 1971). This would indicate that thermoregulatory defenses are activated at warmer temperatures, which would be in agreement with our concept that there is altered thermoregulation following peripheral nerve injury.

## 5.1.2 NK-1r antagonists and negative clinical trials as analgesics

Throughout this thesis, the NK-1r was used as a marker for nociceptive neurons to identify and examine changes in the pain-related circuitry, at the level of the spinal dorsal horn. Although these receptors have been found to be critical for development of pain-related sensitization (Hunt and Mantyh, 2001; Khasabov et al., 2002), clinical trials of NK-1r antagonists failed to demonstrate any analgesic efficacy.

It was argued that the clinical studies were bound to fail as the evidence for the role of SP in nociception was circumstantial (Hill, 2000). Therefore, if SP did not play a dominant role in nociception, we could not expect that the specific pharmacological blockade of its receptor would produce any substantial analgesia. It was also suggested that the nociceptive effects of SP release demonstrated in preclinical studies may have been a result of the release of CGRP or other neuropeptides that co-exist with SP. Finally, it was suggested that the behavior tests used to measure pain levels are rather a measure of animal distress, which in addition to pain incorporates other factors such as stress. Therefore, the observed alleviation of pain-related behavior following the administration of NK-1r antagonists in animals models may alternatively be due to a reduced response to stressful stimuli, which although significant in animal models, was not sufficient to result in clinical pain relief (Hill, 2000).

However, on the other hand, it was argued that the failed clinical studies do not justify ruling out the development of NK-1r antagonists for the treatment of chronic neuropathic pain, since some of the non-peptide NK-1r antagonist compounds employed in the published clinical trials were demonstrated to perform poorly and for short durations in the animal models tested, and to have poor penetration of the blood-brain barrier (Urban and Fox, 2000). Moreover, the number of published clinical trials available to the scientific community is limited, many of which were only presented in abstract form or as unpublished observations. Furthermore, several studies tested NK-1r antagonists in dental pain models, which were argued to be acute, rather than chronic pain models, which would explain the lack of efficacy in these trials. Finally, the most potent and effective NK-1r antagonist (SDZ-NKT-343; (2-nitrophenyl-carbamoyl-(S)-prolyl-(S)-3-(2-napthyl)alanyl-N-benzyl-N-methylamide) in animal models has yet to be tested clinically for its anti-nociceptive effects. Furthermore, a wider range of pain states are yet to be examined, which may prove helpful in determining the efficacy of NK-1r antagonists.

Another point to consider is that SP is not the main transmitter of the peptidergic afferents, but rather glutamate, with which it is co-localized (De Biasi

and Rustioni, 1988). This means that with an NK-1r antagonist we are blocking the effect of a co-transmitter or modulator, not of the main transmitter. This fact may suggest that monotherapy with NK-1r antagonists may not result in any clinical efficacy. To this effect, development of a poly-receptor targeting strategy, where several compounds acting on different receptor populations are tested for their synergistic effect, may prove to be successful in attenuating chronic neuropathic pain.

### 5.1.3 Other neurokinin receptors

As mentioned in the introduction, SP is a member of the tachykinin family, including NKA and NKB, which preferentially bind to the NK-2r and NK-3r, respectively (Maggi, 1995). Both NKA and NKB play a role in the nociceptive signaling at the level of the spinal dorsal horn, which will be further discussed. The relevance of this for the thesis is that interfering with the signaling of these two other tachykinins may prove in the future to be of clinical relevance.

# 5.1.3-1 NKA and NK-2r

NK-2r are mainly distributed in lamina I, IX and X of the spinal cord and expressed on astroglial leaflets, which infiltrate between and surround neuronal processes (Zerari et al., 1998). NKA released from the central terminals of primary sensory C fibers in response to peripheral noxious stimuli, is capable of diffusing over large distances therefore activating astroglial NK-2r (Duggan et al., 1988; Duggan et al., 1990; Hope et al., 1990). Activation of astroglial NK-2r results in the release of cytokines, prostaglandins and excitatory amino acids therefore activating surrounding neurons and modulating the transmission of nociceptive sensory information. The role of NK2-r and NKA in nociceptive signaling is suggested by the prolonged decrease in nociceptive threshold and increased spinal cord excitability following the intrathecal injection of NKA or selective NK-2r agonists (Couture et al., 1993; Cridland and Henry, 1986; Fleetwood-Walker et al., 1990; Laneuville et al., 1988).

## 5.1.3-2 Effect of NKA and SP on NK-1r

NKA and SP are colocalized and co-released from the central terminals of C fibers in the spinal dorsal horn (Dalsgaard et al., 1985; Hua et al., 1986; Hua et al., 1985; Ogawa et al., 1985) as a response to noxious stimuli (Duggan et al., 1988; Duggan et al., 1990; Hope et al., 1990). Two studies suggested that NKA and SP have comparable NK-1r affinity at similar concentrations in the dorsal horn (Hastrup and Schwartz, 1996; Trafton et al., 2001). Although most investigations reveal that SP has a higher affinity for the NK-1r (Ribeiro-da-Silva et al., 2000). Furthermore, the physiological effects of the two neurokinins differ since NKA is not as susceptible to endopeptidase degradation as SP (Nyberg et al., 1984; Theodorsson-Norheim et al., 1987), therefore while SP exerts short term effects on NK-1r available at a discrete and focused area at the site of release, NKA exerts a more prolonged effect that is distributed over a greater rostrocaudal distance (Trafton et al., 2001).

Moreover, the two neurokinins bind distinct sites of the NK-1r, such that SP increases the levels of both cAMP and IP3, while NKA only affects IP3 levels (Sagan et al., 1996), therefore resulting in different signaling and gene transcription effects.

Therefore, it is important to keep in mind that NKA does not act only through its cognate receptor the NK-2r, which is virtually absent from the dorsal horn, but also through the NK-1r. Indeed, the NKA-mediated effect on the NK-1r activation and signaling should be considered when developing SP-NK-1r system-targeted therapeutic drugs, since sequestering SP, but not NKA, using selective anti-SP agents might result in more prolonged, widespread hyperalgesia mediated by the action of NKA on the then more accessible NK-1r.

# 5.1.3-3 NKB and NK-3r

NK-3r are found in lamina I-III of the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Mantyh et al., 1989; Yashpal et al., 1990), where they are expressed by two neuronal populations; GABA- and nitric oxide synthase-containing inhibitory interneurons and  $\mu$ -opioid receptor-expressing excitatory interneurons (Ding et

al., 2002; Seybold et al., 1997). NKB, unlike NKA and SP, is not produced by primary sensory afferents (Moussaoui et al., 1992; Ogawa et al., 1985). NKB is found in intrinsic spinal neurons (Ogawa et al., 1985; Warden and Young, 1988), present throughout lamina I-III of the spinal dorsal horn (McLeod et al., 2000; Polgar et al., 2006; Too and Maggio, 1991). These NKB-expressing cells were never GABA-IR and contained the vesicular glutamate transporter (VGLUT2) (McLeod et al., 2000; Polgar et al., 2006), suggesting their involvement in glutamatergic synaptic transmission (Varoqui et al., 2002). NKB mediates its anti-nociceptive effects in the superficial dorsal horn via the activation of the NK-3r, which in turn causes the release of endogenous opioids, therefore limiting nociceptive transmission (Laneuville et al., 1988).

# 5.1.4 Glia and SP

The role of SP and NK-1r in neuropathic pain has been discussed from the perspective of their relationship with dorsal horn neuronal populations. However, the spinal glia are also affected by the action of SP and NK-1r. Since the neuroimmune activation of glia, including astrocytes and microglia, in the spinal cord is an important element in the transition of pain from acute to chronic (DeLeo et al., 2004; Marchand et al., 2005; Saab et al., 2008; Watkins and Maier, 2002), the relationship of glia and SP will be addressed for the sake of completeness and because exploiting it further in the future may be an interesting avenue in relation to neuropathic pain.

### 5.1.4-1 Astrocytes

Spinal astrocytes were demonstrated to express functional NK-1r (Marriott et al., 1991; Palma et al., 1997). SP released from nerve terminals activates astroglial NK-1r. Stimulation of the NK-1r triggers the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3)-sensitive intracellular concentrations calcium stores through activated phospholipase C (PLC) pathway and induces the influx of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  via canonical transient receptor potential-3 (TRPC3) channels. Together, these changes lead to the increase of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations
and the consequential release of glutamate from astrocytes (Miyano et al., 2010), resulting in synaptic transmission. However, the levels of expression of NK-1r by astroglia are likely not high, as we did not observe any NK-1r immunostaining in cells with the morphology of astrocytes in our studies.

# 5.1.4-2 Microglia

Microglia express NK-1r, and the release of SP from nociceptive primary afferents has been shown to activate the NK-1r on these microglial cells (Rasley et al., 2002). The activated microglia would then increase their expression of membrane bound tumor necrosis factor alpha (mTNF-α). Unlike activation of tolllike receptor 4 (TLR4), NK-1r stimulation does not activate the TNF- $\alpha$  converting enzyme (TACE), therefore mTNF- $\alpha$  is not converted to the soluble form of TNF- $\alpha$  (sTNF- $\alpha$ ). mTNF- $\alpha$  activates TNF- $\alpha$  receptor (TNF- $\alpha$ R) on neighboring, unstimulated microglial cells via direct cell-cell contact. Stimulation of TNF- $\alpha$ R results in an increase in OX-42 levels and induces the release of chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) and other substances, which in turn activates adjacent spinal neurons and potentiate excitatory synaptic transmission in the spinal cord (Zhou et al., 2010) (Figure 2). We have never specifically looked at NK-1r in microglia, what should be done by a double labeling of NK-1r and a microglia marker. If there would be an upregulation of NK-1r in microglia in neuropathic pain, it could have implications in triggering further loss of GABAergic inhibition, besides the mechanism described above. It still needs to be shown whether the activation of NK-1r in microglia leads to the release of BDNF in neuropathic pain conditions, as has been shown for P2X4 receptor activation (Coull et al., 2005)



**Figure 2** – Activation of spinal neuronal cells via microglial cell-cell signaling. From (Jasmin and Ohara, 2010).

#### 5.1.5 Changes following loss of non-peptidergic afferents

A recent study from our lab has shown that non-peptidergic afferents in the spinal cord recover very slowly from an initial loss following a cuff lesion like the one we have used in Chapter 2 (Lorenzo et al., to be submitted). This loss may be associated with structural changes in the non-peptidergic afferent circuitry. These changes may include the persisting loss of E-cadherins, which are members of synaptically enriched transmembrane glycoproteins mediating adhesion (Geiger and Ayalon, 1992). E-cadherins are specifically associated with nonpeptidergic afferents and play a critical role in the targeting of axonal terminations (Brock et al., 2004), therefore their loss could slow down the regrowth of the nonpeptidergic fibers into their proper lamina area.

On the other hand, the majority of non-peptidergic afferents form connections with spinal interneurons, which have also been demonstrated to be lost following peripheral nerve injury (Meisner et al., 2010). Whether the loss of non-peptidergic afferents triggers trans-synaptic GABAergic interneuron loss in the spinal cord or not is still a matter of debate (Moore et al., 2002; Polgar et al., 2004; Scholz et al., 2005). However, a study has shown that an inhibitor of apoptosis prevented inhibitory interneuron cell loss and loss of inhibition in lamina II following a neuropathic lesion (Scholz et al., 2005). If that is confirmed, the preventive administration of an anti-apoptotic agent could block the development of neuropathic pain. However, more important than the occurrence or not of inhibitory cell loss is what happens to the terminals of the GABAergic interneurons. Indeed, recovery of inhibition could come from the re-establishment of inhibitory synaptic circuitry through sprouting. Along this line, a study from our lab has shown that, following a cuff lesion, there was a loss of IB4-binding terminals in the area of distribution of the sciatic nerve, which was accompanied by a loss of terminals from GABAergic interneurons, as revealed by GAD immunostaining; interestingly, after an initial loss, the number of GAD+ terminals recovery of IB4 terminals and an improvement in pain-related behavior (Lorenzo et al., to be submitted). This finding would indicate that re-establishing inhibitory circuits is important to resolve neuropathic pain.

#### 5.1.5-1 IB4-saporin versus peripheral nerve injury

Although a peripheral nerve injury and intra-sciatic injection of IB4saporin both result in loss of the non-peptidergic afferents, peripheral nerve injury is associated with damage to all the primary sensory afferents in the injured nerve, release of inflammatory substances and activation of glia in the spinal cord. However, injection of IB4-saporin into the sciatic nerve results in the progressive loss of non-peptidergic afferents in a system with a minimal inflammatory component, which may allow time for the undamaged peptidergic afferents to compensate for the loss of the other population. In this regard, it might be interesting to check how much activation of glia the IB4-saporin model triggers, as this has never been investigated. However, we should predict that it will trigger less activation of glia than the cuff model of neuropathic pain.

### 5.1.6 Direct activation of lamina I projection neurons by non-peptidergic afferents

The two primary sensory C fiber populations differ in both their neurochemical composition and electrophysiological properties, as discussed

earlier (see Chapter 1). Therefore, the direct innervation of non-peptidergic afferents onto lamina I projection neurons described in chapter 4 of this thesis indicates that non-peptidergic afferents can activate monosynaptically lamina I projection neurons, besides a very likely role in the activation of these cells polysynaptically, as had been described earlier (see Chapter 4 for a discussion). This may be important because it represents a different form of monosynaptic activation when compared to that by peptidergic afferents. Not only is the direct non-peptidergic innervation lacking the neuromodulation by such neuropeptides as SP (Snider and McMahon, 1998), but the non-peptidergic DRG neurons exhibit higher activation thresholds and longer duration of action potentials than peptidergic DRG neurons, a difference attributed to the higher density of N-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel currents (Wu et al., 2004; Wu and Pan, 2004a), TTX-R Na<sup>+</sup> channel currents (Stucky and Lewin, 1999) and A-type voltage-gated K<sup>+</sup> channel currents (Vydyanathan et al., 2005). Therefore, although a higher activation threshold may require a stronger stimulus to be activated (suggesting non-peptidergic afferents may play a more significant role in chronic rather than acute pain), the longer action potential duration can allow for more calcium influx, resulting in an enhanced release of glutamate and other excitatory transmitters from the central terminals in the spinal dorsal horn (Scroggs and Fox, 1992) leading to a stronger activation of the projection neurons. However, the above is based mostly on speculation, and would need to be tested directly. Furthermore, the difference in the signal transmitted to the lamina I projection neurons by the non-peptidergic primary sensory afferents which are directly presynaptic to them and via interposed excitatory interneurons remains to be investigated by electrophysiological studies. Indeed, understanding the physiological role, and subsequent alterations following nerve injury, of the non-peptidergic primary sensory afferents which establish direct synapses onto lamina I projection neurons seems of particular relevance. Furthermore, comparing these to what we know of the function and changes of the peptidergic sensory afferents may aid in mapping a more detailed representation of the pain-related circuits in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord in normal conditions and in chronic pain.

# 5.2 Future Experiments

The results presented in this thesis provide a background for further investigations in the field. In the following text, we will discuss some experiments that may be interesting to pursue in the future.

## 5.2.1 Effects of opioid analgesics on NK-1r expression

Chronic pain alters the psychological/ affective state (Costigan and Woolf, 2000; Melzack and Wall, 1965), in addition to the aberrations in sensory processing (Jensen et al., 2005), with anxiety and depression being the most prominent affective states linked to chronic pain (Frank et al., 1988; Rhudy and Meagher, 2000). Several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of morphine as an anti-nociceptive and anxiolytic drug in animal models of neuropathic pain (Roeska et al., 2008; Wallace et al., 2008) and since the spino-parabrachial lamina I projection neurons constitute part of the sensory/discriminative and emotional/affective pathways of pain, it would be interesting to investigate the effect of morphine on the *de novo* expression of NK-1r on pyramidal neurons described in chapter 2. Since the *de novo* expression of NK-1r on pyramidal neurons may play a role in the development and maintenance of chronic pain, it would be interesting to investigate if the behavioral changes induced by morphine are associated with a reversal of NK-1r expression by pyramidal cells. Indeed, we think that the *de novo* expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons can be used as a marker for the maladaptive changes in the central nervous system and therefore, useful in the preclinical screening for future therapies targeting chronic pain. Similar experiments assessing the role of clinically used anti-depressants in neuropathic pain on preventing or reversing the NK-1r expression by pyramidal cells may also help understand the role that the affective/emotional pathway plays in development and maintenance of chronic pain following nerve injury.

### 5.2.2 Loss of non-peptidergic afferents in a neuropathic pain model

A recent study from our lab reported that the selective loss of nonpeptidergic afferents in the mental nerves (trigeminal system) resulted in further decrease in mechanical thresholds when coupled with a chronic constriction injury (Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2012). However, we cannot extrapolate directly this data for the sciatic nerve model. Indeed, the sciatic nerve is a mixed nerve, composed of both sensory and motor fibers, while the mental nerve is a purely sensory nerve. Moreover, while a cuff lesion of the sciatic nerve results in the non-peptidergic afferents return to sham levels only by 16 weeks (Peleshock et al., to be submitted), the non-peptidergic afferents return within 4 weeks following a comparable injury in the mental nerve (Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2011), which indicates an inherent difference between the two regions. This difference in regeneration of the non-peptidergic afferents may be due to the difference in the levels of GDNF available after nerve lesion, such that an injury to the sciatic nerve results in relatively low levels of GDNF (Leclere et al., 2007) compared with an injury to the mental nerve, where GDNF levels increased significantly by 4 weeks (Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2011). Therefore, it will be interesting to study the thermal and mechanical behavioral changes and the changes in NK-1r expression on lamina I projection neurons and their primary afferent innervation in a model of chronic neuropathic pain following the injection of IB4-saporin into the sciatic nerve. In this study, a period of 14 days should elapse between the IB4-saporin injection and the induction of nerve injury, to ensure the complete loss of the non-peptidergic afferents prior to nerve damage, as it was done in the previous study of our lab (Taylor and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2012).

### 5.2.3 Retrograde tracing with adenoviruses

To better map the complex neuronal networks in the spinal dorsal horn, a viral tracing technique has been developed and validated in a previous publication from our laboratory (Cordero-Erausquin et al., 2009). In this study, two replication-deficient adenoviruses (Ad) were used to retrogradely label neurons from the parabrachial nucleus. One virus encoded for the red fluorescent protein

(RFP), which retrogradely labeled in a Golgi-like manner the projection neurons. Indeed, the dendritic spines, distal dendrites and axons of these neurons were clearly labeled, a characteristic that exceeds the limitations of retrograde tracing with CTb, which only labels the cell body and proximal dendrites. The second virus encoded for both green fluorescent protein (GFP) and the non-toxic fragment of the tetanus toxin, TTC. The TTC allows for the transport of the adenovirus trans-synaptically, however, due to its impaired replication, the adenovirus did not label beyond the second order neurons. The Ad-GFP-TTC virus allowed for the complete labeling of the dendrites and axons of interneurons presynaptic to lamina I projection neurons. The use of this technique in association with the various markers for primary afferents (P2X3 and CGRP for non-peptidergic and peptidergic afferents, respectively) together with those used to identify interneuronal populations (GAD65 and VGluT2 for inhibitory and excitatory interneurons, respectively) will help unravel the synaptic relationship between the incoming primary afferents and neuronal populations of the spinal dorsal horn.

# 5.3 Summary

In this thesis, we provide novel experimental data and attempt to show how our results provide a further understanding of normal pain-related dorsal horn circuitry and of changes that occur following peripheral nerve injury.

We described how the *de novo* expression of functional NK-1r on pyramidal lamina I projections neurons following chronic nerve injury is part of complex pathophysiological changes. Such changes include alterations in glia and other transmitter systems and neuronal populations, which result in changes in nociception as well as thermoregulation.

We have also illustrated how the selective loss of non-peptidergic afferents as a consequence of an intra-sciatic IB4-saporin injection differs from the loss of non-peptidergic afferents following peripheral nerve injury. These differences may explain the absence of changes in pain-related behavior and phenotype of lamina I cells in the IB4-saporin model. Therefore, challenging the IB4-saporin model with a peripheral nerve injury may provide data contributing to a better understanding of the role of the non-peptidergic afferents in pain-related circuitry.

Finally, we demonstrate the presence of *bona fide* synapses between nonpeptidergic afferents and lamina I projection neurons, providing evidence that these lamina I neurons receive monosynaptic input from the peripheral structures innervated by these afferents. This may be of significance, as in contrast with the non-peptidergic afferents terminating as central elements in synaptic glomeruli, the primary afferent signal, from this novel monosynaptic pathway, is not modified presynaptically by the influence of GABAergic interneurons. However, further quantitative and experimental analyses are required to understand the significance of these connections under normal and pathophysiological states.

We hope that the results described in this thesis will help in giving a better picture of the complexity of the physiological pain-related circuitry in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and provide some insight into the alterations that occur following chronic peripheral nerve injury. We also hope that what is described here may provide some clues for the development of new therapeutic targets to alleviate chronic neuropathic pain.

# 5.4 Contributions to Original Knowledge

In this thesis we describe some novel observations that in our view make original contributions to knowledge. These are summarized below.

 De novo expression of neurokinin-1 receptors by spinoparabrachial lamina I pyramidal neurons following a neuropathic lesion. Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, Journal of Comparative Neurology, *under revision*

This work describes the changes that occur at the level of lamina I projection neurons following nerve lesion. We show for the first time a *de novo* expression of NK-1r by pyramidal neurons in a neuropathic pain model.

There is evidence in the literature that pyramidal neurons under normal physiological conditions are non-nociceptive, hence do not express the NK-1r. We were also the first to show that the NK-1r expressed *de novo* on pyramidal neurons are functional, by demonstrating their internalization following an intradermal injection of capsaicin, a noxious stimulus. We also demonstrate quantitatively for the first time that pyramidal neurons, normally scarcely innervated by SP, receive abundant SP innervation after the lesion. Taken together, these results suggest that the phenotypic switch of pyramidal neurons and their increased SP innervation may play a role in chronic neuropathic pain.

 Limited changes in spinal lamina I dorsal horn neurons following the cytotoxic ablation of non-peptidergic C fibers. Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, Journal of Comparative Neurology, *submitted*

This work provided evidence that the cytotoxic ablation of the nonpeptidergic population of nociceptive primary afferents did not cause any phenotypic switch in pyramidal neurons, although there was a significantly increased expression of NK-1r by the other two populations of lamina I neurons that normally express the receptor. This indicates that under physiological conditions, in the absence of a nerve lesion, there are compensatory mechanisms in the spinal dorsal horn capable of balancing out the loss of the non-peptidergic fibers, without the need of a phenotypic switch in lamina I pyramidal neurons. From this work, we may propose that the development of chronic pain following a nerve lesion is dependent on factors other than the disruption of primary afferent populations.  Non-peptidergic primary afferents are presynaptic to lamina I projection neurons in rat spinal cord. Abeer W. Saeed and Alfredo Ribeiro-da-Silva, Molecular Pain, *submitted*

In this work, we provide the first description of IB4-positive and P2X3-IR non-peptidergic primary afferent boutons in lamina I of the rat spinal dorsal horn. We demonstrated, using the confocal microscopy, that these terminals are distinct from their CGRP-IR peptidergic counterpart and that they innervate directly fusiform, multipolar and pyramidal lamina I projection neurons. We also described, using the electron microscope, the presence of *bona fide* synapses between the non-peptidergic terminals, as detected by P2X3 immunoreactivity, and NK-1r-positive neuronal profiles in lamina I. Our observations suggest the presence of an unmodulated pathway for signaling monosynaptically via the non-peptidergic afferents contacting lamina I projection neurons which express the NK-1r.

References

- Abbadie C, Brown JL, Mantyh PW, Basbaum AI. 1996. Spinal cord substance P receptor immunoreactivity increases in both inflammatory and nerve injury models of persistent pain. Neuroscience 70:201-209.
- Abbadie C, Trafton J, Liu H, Mantyh PW, Basbaum AI. 1997. Inflammation increases the distribution of dorsal horn neurons that internalize the neurokinin-1 receptor in response to noxious and non-noxious stimulation. J Neurosci 17:8049-8060.
- Adelson D, Lao L, Zhang G, Kim W, Marvizon JC. 2009. Substance P release and neurokinin 1 receptor activation in the rat spinal cord increase with the firing frequency of C-fibers. Neuroscience 161:538-553.
- Afrah AW, Stiller CO, Olgart L, Brodin E, Gustafsson H. 2001. Involvement of spinal N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in capsaicin-induced in vivo release of substance P in the rat dorsal horn. Neurosci Lett 316:83-86.
- Al-Khater KM, Kerr R, Todd AJ. 2008. A quantitative study of spinothalamic neurons in laminae I, III, and IV in lumbar and cervical segments of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 511:1-18.
- Al-Khater KM, Todd AJ. 2009. Collateral projections of neurons in laminae I, III, and IV of rat spinal cord to thalamus, periaqueductal gray matter, and lateral parabrachial area. J Comp Neurol 515:629-646.
- Aley KO, Messing RO, Mochly-Rosen D, Levine JD. 2000. Chronic hypersensitivity for inflammatory nociceptor sensitization mediated by the epsilon isozyme of protein kinase C. J Neurosci 20:4680-4685.
- Ali Z, Wu G, Kozlov A, Barasi S. 1996. The role of 5HT3 in nociceptive processing in the rat spinal cord: results from behavioural and electrophysiological studies. Neurosci Lett 208:203-207.
- Allen BJ, Li J, Menning PM, Rogers SD, Ghilardi J, Mantyh PW, Simone DA. 1999. Primary afferent fibers that contribute to increased substance P receptor internalization in the spinal cord after injury. J Neurophysiol 81:1379-1390.
- Allen BJ, Rogers SD, Ghilardi JR, Menning PM, Kuskowski MA, Basbaum AI, Simone DA, Mantyh PW. 1997. Noxious cutaneous thermal stimuli induce a graded release of endogenous substance P in the spinal cord: imaging peptide action in vivo. J Neurosci 17:5921-5927.

- Almarestani L, Fitzcharles MA, Bennett GJ, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2011. Imaging studies in Freund's complete adjuvant model of regional polyarthritis, a model suitable for the study of pain mechanisms, in the rat. Arthritis and rheumatism 63:1573-1581.
- Almarestani L, Waters SM, Krause JE, Bennett GJ, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2007. Morphological characterization of spinal cord dorsal horn lamina I neurons projecting to the parabrachial nucleus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 504:287-297.
- Almarestani L, Waters SM, Krause JE, Bennett GJ, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2009. De novo expression of the neurokinin 1 receptor in spinal lamina I pyramidal neurons in polyarthritis. J Comp Neurol 514:284-295.
- Almeida MC, Hew-Butler T, Soriano RN, Rao S, Wang W, Wang J, Tamayo N, Oliveira DL, Nucci TB, Aryal P, Garami A, Bautista D, Gavva NR, Romanovsky AA. 2012. Pharmacological blockade of the cold receptor TRPM8 attenuates autonomic and behavioral cold defenses and decreases deep body temperature. J Neurosci 32:2086-2099.
- Alvarez FJ, Fyffe RE. 2000. Nociceptors for the 21st century. Curr Rev Pain 4:451-458.
- Ambalavanar R, Moritani M, Haines A, Hilton T, Dessem D. 2003. Chemical phenotypes of muscle and cutaneous afferent neurons in the rat trigeminal ganglion. J Comp Neurol 460:167-179.
- Apkarian AV, Bushnell MC, Treede RD, Zubieta JK. 2005. Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. Eur J Pain 9:463-484.
- Asato F, Butler M, Blomberg H, Gordh T. 2000. Variation in rat sciatic nerve anatomy: implications for a rat model of neuropathic pain. Journal of the peripheral nervous system : JPNS 5:19-21.
- Averill S, McMahon SB, Clary DO, Reichardt LF, Priestley JV. 1995. Immunocytochemical localization of trkA receptors in chemically identified subgroups of adult rat sensory neurons. Eur J Neurosci 7:1484-1494.
- Babes A, Zorzon D, Reid G. 2004. Two populations of cold-sensitive neurons in rat dorsal root ganglia and their modulation by nerve growth factor. Eur J Neurosci 20:2276-2282.
- Bailey AL, Bennett GJ, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2005. Cytotoxic lesioning of nonpeptidergic primary afferent C-fibres using IB4-saporin as a tool to

identify the functional role of these fibres in pain transmission. Soc Neurosci Abstr Program 169.14.

- Bailey AL, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2006. Transient loss of terminals from nonpeptidergic nociceptive fibers in the substantia gelatinosa of spinal cord following chronic constriction injury of the sciatic nerve. Neuroscience 138:675-690.
- Battaglia G, Rustioni A. 1988. Coexistence of glutamate and substance P in dorsal root ganglion neurons of the rat and monkey. J Comp Neurol 277:302-312.
- Bean AJ, Zhang X, Hokfelt T. 1994. Peptide secretion: what do we know? The FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 8:630-638.
- Bee LA, Dickenson AH. 2008. Descending facilitation from the brainstem determines behavioural and neuronal hypersensitivity following nerve injury and efficacy of pregabalin. Pain 140:209-223.
- Behbehani MM, Fields HL. 1979. Evidence that an excitatory connection between the periaqueductal gray and nucleus raphe magnus mediates stimulation produced analgesia. Brain Res 170:85-93.
- Benbouzid M, Choucair-Jaafar N, Yalcin I, Waltisperger E, Muller A, Freund-Mercier MJ, Barrot M. 2008. Chronic, but not acute, tricyclic antidepressant treatment alleviates neuropathic allodynia after sciatic nerve cuffing in mice. Eur J Pain 12:1008-1017.
- Bennett DL, Michael GJ, Ramachandran N, Munson JB, Averill S, Yan Q, McMahon SB, Priestley JV. 1998. A distinct subgroup of small DRG cells express GDNF receptor components and GDNF is protective for these neurons after nerve injury. J Neurosci 18:3059-3072.
- Bennett GJ, Xie YK. 1988. A Peripheral Mononeuropathy in Rat That Produces Disorders of Pain Sensation Like Those Seen in Man. Pain 33:87-107.
- Benuck M, Marks N. 1975. Enzymatic inactivation of substance P by a partially purified enzyme from rat brain. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 65:153-160.
- Bernard JF, Dallel R, Raboisson P, Villanueva L, Le Bars D. 1995. Organization of the efferent projections from the spinal cervical enlargement to the parabrachial area and periaqueductal gray: a PHA-L study in the rat. J Comp Neurol 353:480-505.

- Bessou P, Perl ER. 1969. Response of cutaneous sensory units with unmyelinated fibers to noxious stimuli. J Neurophysiol 32:1025-1043.
- Bester H, Chapman V, Besson JM, Bernard JF. 2000. Physiological properties of the lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons in the rat. J Neurophysiol 83:2239-2259.
- Billington CK, Penn RB. 2003. Signaling and regulation of G protein-coupled receptors in airway smooth muscle. Respiratory research 4:2.
- Black JA, Cummins TR, Plumpton C, Chen YH, Hormuzdiar W, Clare JJ, Waxman SG. 1999. Upregulation of a silent sodium channel after peripheral, but not central, nerve injury in DRG neurons. J Neurophysiol 82:2776-2785.
- Bleazard L, Hill RG, Morris R. 1994. The correlation between the distribution of the NK1 receptor and the actions of tachykinin agonists in the dorsal horn of the rat indicates that substance P does not have a functional role on substantia gelatinosa (lamina II) neurons. J Neurosci 14:7655-7664.
- Bolles RC, Fanselow MS. 1982. Endorphins and behavior. Annual review of psychology 33:87-101.
- Bolton TB, Clapp LH. 1986. Endothelial-dependent relaxant actions of carbachol and substance P in arterial smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 87:713-723.
- Boscan P, Pickering AE, Paton JF. 2002. The nucleus of the solitary tract: an integrating station for nociceptive and cardiorespiratory afferents. Exp Physiol 87:259-266.
- Bost KL. 2004. Tachykinin-mediated modulation of the immune response. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 9:3331-3332.
- Bountra C, Bunce K, Dale T, Gardner C, Jordan C, Twissell D, Ward P. 1993. Anti-emetic profile of a non-peptide neurokinin NK1 receptor antagonist, CP-99,994, in ferrets. Eur J Pharmacol 249:R3-4.
- Bradbury EJ, Burnstock G, McMahon SB. 1998. The expression of P2X3 purinoreceptors in sensory neurons: effects of axotomy and glial-derived neurotrophic factor. Molecular and cellular neurosciences 12:256-268.
- Braz JM, Nassar MA, Wood JN, Basbaum AI. 2005. Parallel "pain" pathways arise from subpopulations of primary afferent nociceptor. Neuron 47:787-793.

Bremer AA, Leeman SE. 2001. Substance P. eLS: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- Brock JH, Elste A, Huntley GW. 2004. Distribution and injury-induced plasticity of cadherins in relationship to identified synaptic circuitry in adult rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 24:8806-8817.
- Brown JL, Liu H, Maggio JE, Vigna SR, Mantyh PW, Basbaum AI. 1995. Morphological characterization of substance P receptor-immunoreactive neurons in the rat spinal cord and trigeminal nucleus caudalis. J Comp Neurol 356:327-344.
- Budai D, Harasawa I, Fields HL. 1998. Midbrain periaqueductal gray (PAG) inhibits nociceptive inputs to sacral dorsal horn nociceptive neurons through alpha2-adrenergic receptors. J Neurophysiol 80:2244-2254.
- Bueb JL, Mousli M, Bronner C, Rouot B, Landry Y. 1990. Activation of Gi-like proteins, a receptor-independent effect of kinins in mast cells. Mol Pharmacol 38:816-822.
- Burchiel KJ. 1980. Ectopic impulse generation in focally demyelinated trigeminal nerve. Experimental neurology 69:423-429.
- Cahill CM, Coderre TJ. 2002. Attenuation of hyperalgesia in a rat model of neuropathic pain after intrathecal pre- or post-treatment with a neurokinin-1 antagonist. Pain 95:277-285.
- Cahill CM, Dray A, Coderre TJ. 2003. Intrathecal nerve growth factor restores opioid effectiveness in an animal model of neuropathic pain. Neuropharmacology 45:543-552.
- Cajal SR. 1909. Histology of the nervous system. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Carolan EJ, Casale TB. 1993. Effects of neuropeptides on neutrophil migration through noncellular and endothelial barriers. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 92:589-598.
- Carstens E, Trevino DL. 1978. Laminar origins of spinothalamic projections in the cat as determined by the retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase. J Comp Neurol 182:161-165.
- Castro-Lopes JM, Tavares I, Coimbra A. 1993. GABA decreases in the spinal cord dorsal horn after peripheral neurectomy. Brain Res 620:287-291.
- Cavanaugh DJ, Lee H, Lo L, Shields SD, Zylka MJ, Basbaum AI, Anderson DJ. 2009. Distinct subsets of unmyelinated primary sensory fibers mediate behavioral responses to noxious thermal and mechanical stimuli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:9075-9080.

- Cechetto DF, Standaert DG, Saper CB. 1985. Spinal and trigeminal dorsal horn projections to the parabrachial nucleus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 240:153-160.
- Chang MM, Leeman SE, Niall HD. 1971. Amino-acid sequence of substance P. Nature: New biology 232:86-87.
- Chaplan SR, Bach FW, Pogrel JW, Chung JM, Yaksh TL. 1994. Quantitative assessment of tactile allodynia in the rat paw. J Neurosci Methods 53:55-63.
- Charlton CG, Helke CJ. 1985. Autoradiographic localization and characterization of spinal cord substance P binding sites: high densities in sensory, autonomic, phrenic, and Onuf's motor nuclei. J Neurosci 5:1653-1661.
- Coates A, Abraham S, Kaye SB, Sowerbutts T, Frewin C, Fox RM, Tattersall MH. 1983. On the receiving end--patient perception of the side-effects of cancer chemotherapy. European journal of cancer & clinical oncology 19:203-208.
- Coderre TJ, Xanthos DN, Francis L, Bennett GJ. 2004. Chronic post-ischemia pain (CPIP): a novel animal model of complex regional pain syndrometype I (CRPS-I; reflex sympathetic dystrophy) produced by prolonged hindpaw ischemia and reperfusion in the rat. Pain 112:94-105.
- Coggeshall RE, Dougherty PM, Pover CM, Carlton SM. 1993. Is large myelinated fiber loss associated with hyperalgesia in a model of experimental peripheral neuropathy in the rat? Pain 52:233-242.
- Coggeshall RE, Willis WD. 2004. Sensory mechanisms of the spinal cord. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Coimbra A, Magalhaes MM, Sodre-Borges BP. 1970. Ultrastructural localization of acid phosphatase in synaptic terminals of the rat substantia gelatinosa Rolandi. Brain Res 22:142-146.
- Cordero-Erausquin M, Allard S, Dolique T, Bachand K, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, De Koninck Y. 2009. Dorsal horn neurons presynaptic to lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons revealed by transynaptic labeling. J Comp Neurol 517:601-615.
- Costigan M, Woolf CJ. 2000. Pain: molecular mechanisms. The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society 1:35-44.

- Côté S, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Cuello AC. 1993. Current protocols for light microscopy immunocytochemistry. In: Cuello AC, editor. Immunohistochemistry II. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. p 147-168.
- Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, De Koninck Y. 2005. BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438:1017-1021.
- Coull JAM, Boudreau D, Bachand K, Prescott SA, Nault F, Sik A, De Koninck P, De Koninck Y. 2003. Trans-synaptic shift in anion gradient in spinal lamina I neurons as a mechanism of neuropathic pain. Nature 424:938-942.
- Couture R, Boucher S, Picard P, Regoli D. 1993. Receptor characterization of the spinal action of neurokinins on nociception: a three receptor hypothesis. Regulatory peptides 46:426-429.
- Coyle DE. 1998. Partial peripheral nerve injury leads to activation of astroglia and microglia which parallels the development of allodynic behavior. Glia 23:75-83.
- Craig AD. 1995. Distribution of brainstem projections from spinal lamina I neurons in the cat and the monkey. J Comp Neurol 361:225-248.
- Craig AD. 2003. Distribution of trigeminothalamic and spinothalamic lamina I terminations in the cat. Somatosens Mot Res 20:209-222.
- Craig AD, Bushnell MC. 1994. The thermal grill illusion: unmasking the burn of cold pain. Science 265:252-255.
- Craig AD, Hunsley SJ. 1991. Morphine enhances the activity of thermoreceptive cold-specific lamina I spinothalamic neurons in the cat. Brain Res 558:93-97.
- Craig AD, Jr., Burton H. 1981. Spinal and medullary lamina I projection to nucleus submedius in medial thalamus: a possible pain center. J Neurophysiol 45:443-466.
- Craig AD, Kniffki KD. 1985. Spinothalamic lumbosacral lamina I cells responsive to skin and muscle stimulation in the cat. J Physiol 365:197-221.
- Craig AD, Krout K, Andrew D. 2001. Quantitative response characteristics of thermoreceptive and nociceptive lamina I spinothalamic neurons in the cat. J Neurophysiol 86:1459-1480.

- Craig AD, Serrano LP. 1994. Effects of systemic morphine on lamina I spinothalamic tract neurons in the cat. Brain Res 636:233-244.
- Cridland RA, Henry JL. 1986. Comparison of the effects of substance P, neurokinin A, physalaemin and eledoisin in facilitating a nociceptive reflex in the rat. Brain Res 381:93-99.
- Crill WE, Schwindt P. 1984. Ionic mechanisms underlying excitation-tofrequency transduction: studies by voltage clamp methods. Archives italiennes de biologie 122:31-41.
- Cuello AC, Galfre G, Milstein C. 1979. Detection of substance P in the central nervous system by a monoclonal antibody. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 76:3532-3536.
- Cuello AC, Jessell TM, Kanazawa I, Iversen LL. 1977. Substance P: localization in synaptic vesicles in rat central nervous system. J Neurochem 29:747-751.
- Cuello AC, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Ma W, De Koninck Y, Henry JL. 1993. Organization of substance P primary sensory neurons: ultrastructural and physiological correlates. Regulatory peptides 46:155-164.
- Dalsgaard CJ, Haegerstrand A, Theodorsson-Norheim E, Brodin E, Hokfelt T. 1985. Neurokinin A-like immunoreactivity in rat primary sensory neurons; coexistence with substance P. Histochemistry 83:37-39.
- De Biasi S, Rustioni A. 1988. Glutamate and substance P coexist in primary afferent terminals in the superficial laminae of spinal cord. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:7820-7824.
- De Koninck Y, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Henry JL, Cuello AC. 1992. Spinal neurons exhibiting a specific nociceptive response receive abundant substance Pcontaining synaptic contacts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:5073-5077.
- Decaris E, Guingamp C, Chat M, Philippe L, Grillasca JP, Abid A, Minn A, Gillet P, Netter P, Terlain B. 1999. Evidence for neurogenic transmission inducing degenerative cartilage damage distant from local inflammation. Arthritis and rheumatism 42:1951-1960.
- Decosterd I, Woolf CJ. 2000. Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. Pain 87:149-158.
- DeLeo JA, Tanga FY, Tawfik VL. 2004. Neuroimmune activation and neuroinflammation in chronic pain and opioid tolerance/hyperalgesia. The

Neuroscientist : a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry 10:40-52.

- Descartes R. 1664. Treatise of man. Hall TS, translator. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Devillier P, Regoli D, Asseraf A, Descours B, Marsac J, Renoux M. 1986. Histamine release and local responses of rat and human skin to substance P and other mammalian tachykinins. Pharmacology 32:340-347.
- Devor M, Bernstein J. 1982. Abnormal impulse generation in neuromas: electrophysiology and ultrastructure. In: Culp WJ, Ochoa JL, editors. Abnormal nerves and muscles as impulse generators
- Oxford University Press. p 363-380.
- Devor M, Govrin-Lippmann R, Angelides K. 1993. Na+ channel immunolocalization in peripheral mammalian axons and changes following nerve injury and neuroma formation. J Neurosci 13:1976-1992.
- Dhaka A, Earley TJ, Watson J, Patapoutian A. 2008. Visualizing cold spots: TRPM8-expressing sensory neurons and their projections. J Neurosci 28:566-575.
- Dib-Hajj SD, Fjell J, Cummins TR, Zheng Z, Fried K, LaMotte R, Black JA, Waxman SG. 1999a. Plasticity of sodium channel expression in DRG neurons in the chronic constriction injury model of neuropathic pain. Pain 83:591-600.
- Dib-Hajj SD, Tyrrell L, Cummins TR, Black JA, Wood PM, Waxman SG. 1999b. Two tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium channels in human dorsal root ganglion neurons. FEBS letters 462:117-120.
- Ding YQ, Lu CR, Wang H, Su CJ, Chen LW, Zhang YQ, Ju G. 2002. Two major distinct subpopulations of neurokinin-3 receptor-expressing neurons in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 16:551-556.
- Ding YQ, Takada M, Shigemoto R, Mizumo N. 1995. Spinoparabrachial tract neurons showing substance P receptor-like immunoreactivity in the lumbar spinal cord of the rat. Brain Res 674:336-340.
- Dirajlal S, Pauers LE, Stucky CL. 2003. Differential response properties of IB(4)positive and -negative unmyelinated sensory neurons to protons and capsaicin. J Neurophysiol 89:513-524.

- Dong X, Han S, Zylka MJ, Simon MI, Anderson DJ. 2001. A diverse family of GPCRs expressed in specific subsets of nociceptive sensory neurons. Cell 106:619-632.
- Dostrovsky JO, Craig AD. 1996. Cooling-specific spinothalamic neurons in the monkey. J Neurophysiol 76:3656-3665.
- Dougherty PM, Palecek J, Zorn S, Willis WD. 1993. Combined application of excitatory amino acids and substance P produces long-lasting changes in responses of primate spinothalamic tract neurons. Brain research Brain research reviews 18:227-246.
- Doyle CA, Hunt SP. 1999. Substance P receptor (neurokinin-1)-expressing neurons in lamina I of the spinal cord encode for the intensity of noxious stimulation: a c-Fos study in rat. Neuroscience 89:17-28.
- Duggan AW. 1995. Release of neuropeptides in the spinal cord. Progress in brain research 104:197-223.
- Duggan AW, Hendry IA, Morton CR, Hutchison WD, Zhao ZQ. 1988. Cutaneous stimuli releasing immunoreactive substance P in the dorsal horn of the cat. Brain Res 451:261-273.
- Duggan AW, Hope PJ, Jarrott B, Schaible HG, Fleetwood-Walker SM. 1990. Release, spread and persistence of immunoreactive neurokinin A in the dorsal horn of the cat following noxious cutaneous stimulation. Studies with antibody microprobes. Neuroscience 35:195-202.
- England JD, Happel LT, Kline DG, Gamboni F, Thouron CL, Liu ZP, Levinson SR. 1996. Sodium channel accumulation in humans with painful neuromas. Neurology 47:272-276.
- Fang X, Djouhri L, McMullan S, Berry C, Waxman SG, Okuse K, Lawson SN. 2006. Intense isolectin-B4 binding in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons distinguishes C-fiber nociceptors with broad action potentials and high Nav1.9 expression. J Neurosci 26:7281-7292.
- Feil K, Herbert H. 1995. Topographic organization of spinal and trigeminal somatosensory pathways to the rat parabrachial and Kolliker-Fuse nuclei. J Comp Neurol 353:506-528.
- Ferguson SS, Downey WE, 3rd, Colapietro AM, Barak LS, Menard L, Caron MG. 1996. Role of beta-arrestin in mediating agonist-promoted G proteincoupled receptor internalization. Science 271:363-366.

- Fields HL, Basbaum AI. 1978. Brainstem control of spinal pain-transmission neurons. Annu Rev Physiol 40:217-248.
- Fisher K, Fundytus ME, Cahill CM, Coderre TJ. 1998. Intrathecal administration of the mGluR compound, (S)-4CPG, attenuates hyperalgesia and allodynia associated with sciatic nerve constriction injury in rats. Pain 77:59-66.
- Fleetwood-Walker SM, Mitchell R, Hope PJ, El-Yassir N, Molony V, Bladon CM. 1990. The involvement of neurokinin receptor subtypes in somatosensory processing in the superficial dorsal horn of the cat. Brain Res 519:169-182.
- Fong TM, Yu H, Strader CD. 1992. Molecular basis for the species selectivity of the neurokinin-1 receptor antagonists CP-96,345 and RP67580. J Biol Chem 267:25668-25671.
- Frank RG, Beck NC, Parker JC, Kashani JH, Elliott TR, Haut AE, Smith E, Atwood C, Brownlee-Duffeck M, Kay DR. 1988. Depression in rheumatoid arthritis. The Journal of rheumatology 15:920-925.
- Fundin BT, Arvidsson J, Aldskogius H, Johansson O, Rice SN, Rice FL. 1997. Comprehensive immunofluorescence and lectin binding analysis of intervibrissal fur innervation in the mystacial pad of the rat. J Comp Neurol 385:185-206.
- Gaddum JH, Schild H. 1934. Depressor substances in extracts of intestine. J Physiol 83:1-14.
- Garcia M, Sakamoto K, Shigekawa M, Nakanishi S, Ito S. 1994. Multiple mechanisms of arachidonic acid release in Chinese hamster ovary cells transfected with cDNA of substance P receptor. Biochemical pharmacology 48:1735-1741.
- Gardner CJ, Bountra C, Bunce KT, Dale TJ, Jordan CC, Twissell DJ, Ward P. 1994. Antiemetic Activity of Neurokinin Nk1 Receptor Antagonists Is Mediated Centrally in the Ferret. Br J Pharmacol 112:U46-U46.
- Gardner CJ, Twissell DJ, Dale TJ, Gale JD, Jordan CC, Kilpatrick GJ, Bountra C, Ward P. 1995. The broad-spectrum anti-emetic activity of the novel nonpeptide tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonist GR203040. Br J Pharmacol 116:3158-3163.
- Gauriau C, Bernard JF. 2002. Pain pathways and parabrachial circuits in the rat. Exp Physiol 87:251-258.

- Gauriau C, Bernard JF. 2004. Posterior triangular thalamic neurons convey nociceptive messages to the secondary somatosensory and insular cortices in the rat. J Neurosci 24:752-761.
- Gebhart GF, Sandkuhler J, Thalhammer JG, Zimmermann M. 1983. Inhibition of spinal nociceptive information by stimulation in midbrain of the cat is blocked by lidocaine microinjected in nucleus raphe magnus and medullary reticular formation. J Neurophysiol 50:1446-1459.
- Geiger B, Ayalon O. 1992. Cadherins. Annual review of cell biology 8:307-332.
- Giesler GJ, Jr., Gerhart KD, Yezierski RP, Wilcox TK, Willis WD. 1981a. Postsynaptic inhibition of primate spinothalamic neurons by stimulation in nucleus raphe magnus. Brain Res 204:184-188.
- Giesler GJ, Jr., Menetrey D, Basbaum AI. 1979. Differential origins of spinothalamic tract projections to medial and lateral thalamus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 184:107-126.
- Giesler GJ, Jr., Yezierski RP, Gerhart KD, Willis WD. 1981b. Spinothalamic tract neurons that project to medial and/or lateral thalamic nuclei: evidence for a physiologically novel population of spinal cord neurons. J Neurophysiol 46:1285-1308.
- Girolomoni G, Caux C, Lebecque S, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. 2002. Langerhans cells: still a fundamental paradigm for studying the immunobiology of dendritic cells. Trends in immunology 23:6-8.
- Go VL, Yaksh TL. 1987. Release of substance P from the cat spinal cord. J Physiol 391:141-167.
- Gracely RH, Lynch SA, Bennett GJ. 1992. Painful neuropathy: altered central processing maintained dynamically by peripheral input. Pain 51:175-194.
- Green GM, Scarth J, Dickenson A. 2000. An excitatory role for 5-HT in spinal inflammatory nociceptive transmission; state-dependent actions via dorsal horn 5-HT(3) receptors in the anaesthetized rat. Pain 89:81-88.
- Grelik C, Allard S, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2005. Changes in nociceptive sensory innervation in the epidermis of the rat lower lip skin in a model of neuropathic pain. Neurosci Lett 389:140-145.
- Gronblad M, Konttinen YT, Korkala O, Liesi P, Hukkanen M, Polak JM. 1988. Neuropeptides in synovium of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. The Journal of rheumatology 15:1807-1810.

- Guo A, Vulchanova L, Wang J, Li X, Elde R. 1999. Immunocytochemical localization of the vanilloid receptor 1 (VR1): relationship to neuropeptides, the P2X3 purinoceptor and IB4 binding sites. Eur J Neurosci 11:946-958.
- Han ZS, Zhang ET, Craig AD. 1998. Nociceptive and thermoreceptive lamina I neurons are anatomically distinct. Nat Neurosci 1:218-225.
- Handwerker HO, Kilo S, Reeh PW. 1991. Unresponsive afferent nerve fibres in the sural nerve of the rat. J Physiol 435:229-242.
- Hargreaves K, Dubner R, Brown F, Flores C, Joris J. 1988. A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. Pain 32:77-88.
- Hargreaves R, Ferreira JC, Hughes D, Brands J, Hale J, Mattson B, Mills S. 2011. Development of aprepitant, the first neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist for the prevention of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1222:40-48.
- Harris JA, Corsi M, Quartaroli M, Arban R, Bentivoglio M. 1996. Upregulation of spinal glutamate receptors in chronic pain. Neuroscience 74:7-12.
- Hartung HP, Wolters K, Toyka KV. 1986. Substance P: binding properties and studies on cellular responses in guinea pig macrophages. J Immunol 136:3856-3863.
- Hasselstrom J, Liu-Palmgren J, Rasjo-Wraak G. 2002. Prevalence of pain in general practice. Eur J Pain 6:375-385.
- Hastrup H, Schwartz TW. 1996. Septide and neurokinin A are high-affinity ligands on the NK-1 receptor: evidence from homologous versus heterologous binding analysis. FEBS letters 399:264-266.
- Heinricher MM, Tavares I, Leith JL, Lumb BM. 2009. Descending control of nociception: Specificity, recruitment and plasticity. Brain Res Rev 60:214-225.
- Helke CJ, Shults CW, Chase TN, O'Donohue TL. 1984. Autoradiographic localization of substance P receptors in rat medulla: effect of vagotomy and nodose ganglionectomy. Neuroscience 12:215-223.
- Henry JL. 1976. Effects of substance P on functionally identified units in cat spinal cord. Brain Res 114:439-451.

- Hill R. 2000. NK1 (substance P) receptor antagonists--why are they not analgesic in humans? Trends Pharmacol Sci 21:244-246.
- Ho WZ, Kaufman D, Uvaydova M, Douglas SD. 1996. Substance P augments interleukin-10 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha release by human cord blood monocytes and macrophages. Journal of neuroimmunology 71:73-80.
- Ho WZ, Lai JP, Zhu XH, Uvaydova M, Douglas SD. 1997. Human monocytes and macrophages express substance P and neurokinin-1 receptor. J Immunol 159:5654-5660.
- Hokfelt T, Elde R, Johansson O, Luft R, Nilsson G, Arimura A. 1976. Immunohistochemical evidence for separate populations of somatostatincontaining and substance P-containing primary afferent neurons in the rat. Neuroscience 1:131-136.
- Hokfelt T, Kellerth JO, Nilsson G, Pernow B. 1975. Substance p: localization in the central nervous system and in some primary sensory neurons. Science 190:889-890.
- Holzer P, Holzer-Petsche U. 1997. Tachykinins in the gut. Part II. Roles in neural excitation, secretion and inflammation. Pharmacology & therapeutics 73:219-263.
- Hope PJ, Jarrott B, Schaible HG, Clarke RW, Duggan AW. 1990. Release and spread of immunoreactive neurokinin A in the cat spinal cord in a model of acute arthritis. Brain Res 533:292-299.
- Hua XY, Saria A, Gamse R, Theodorsson-Norheim E, Brodin E, Lundberg JM. 1986. Capsaicin induced release of multiple tachykinins (substance P, neurokinin A and eledoisin-like material) from guinea-pig spinal cord and ureter. Neuroscience 19:313-319.
- Hua XY, Theodorsson-Norheim E, Brodin E, Lundberg JM, Hokfelt T. 1985. Multiple tachykinins (neurokinin A, neuropeptide K and substance P) in capsaicin-sensitive sensory neurons in the guinea-pig. Regulatory peptides 13:1-19.
- Hunt SP, Mantyh PW. 2001. The molecular dynamics of pain control. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:83-91.
- Hunt SP, Rossi J. 1985. Peptide- and non-peptide-containing unmyelinated primary afferents: the parallel processing of nociceptive information. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences 308:283-289.

- Hylden JL, Anton F, Nahin RL. 1989. Spinal lamina I projection neurons in the rat: collateral innervation of parabrachial area and thalamus. Neuroscience 28:27-37.
- Iggo A, Andres KH. 1982. Morphology of cutaneous receptors. Annu Rev Neurosci 5:1-31.
- Inoue K. 2006. The function of microglia through purinergic receptors: neuropathic pain and cytokine release. Pharmacology & therapeutics 109:210-226.
- Janig W, Levine JD, Michaelis M. 1996. Interactions of sympathetic and primary afferent neurons following nerve injury and tissue trauma. Progress in brain research 113:161-184.
- Jasmin L, Burkey AR, Card JP, Basbaum AI. 1997. Transneuronal labeling of a nociceptive pathway, the spino-(trigemino-)parabrachio-amygdaloid, in the rat. J Neurosci 17:3751-3765.
- Jasmin L, Ohara PT. 2010. Close encounters of the third kind: evidence for contact with TNF-alpha. Pain 151:241-242.
- Jensen MP, Hoffman AJ, Cardenas DD. 2005. Chronic pain in individuals with spinal cord injury: a survey and longitudinal study. Spinal cord 43:704-712.
- Jensen TS, Yaksh TL. 1984. Spinal monoamine and opiate systems partly mediate the antinociceptive effects produced by glutamate at brainstem sites. Brain Res 321:287-297.
- Joseph EK, Chen X, Bogen O, Levine JD. 2008. Oxaliplatin acts on IB4-positive nociceptors to induce an oxidative stress-dependent acute painful peripheral neuropathy. The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society 9:463-472.
- Joseph EK, Levine JD. 2010. Hyperalgesic priming is restricted to isolectin B4positive nociceptors. Neuroscience 169:431-435.
- Julius D, Basbaum AI. 2001. Molecular mechanisms of nociception. Nature 413:203-210.
- Kandel ER, Schwartz JH, Jessell TM. 1991. Principles of neural science. Norwalk, Conn.: Appleton & Lange. p 472-479.

- Kanitakis J. 2002. Anatomy, histology and immunohistochemistry of normal human skin. European journal of dermatology : EJD 12:390-399; quiz 400-391.
- Keller AF, Beggs S, Salter MW, De Koninck Y. 2007. Transformation of the output of spinal lamina I neurons after nerve injury and microglia stimulation underlying neuropathic pain. Mol Pain 3:27.
- Khasabov SG, Rogers SD, Ghilardi JR, Peters CM, Mantyh PW, Simone DA. 2002. Spinal neurons that possess the substance P receptor are required for the development of central sensitization. J Neurosci 22:9086-9098.
- Kim SH, Chung JM. 1992. An experimental model for peripheral neuropathy produced by segmental spinal nerve ligation in the rat. Pain 50:355-363.
- Klusakova I, Dubovy P. 2009. Experimental models of peripheral neuropathic pain based on traumatic nerve injuries - an anatomical perspective. Annals of anatomy = Anatomischer Anzeiger : official organ of the Anatomische Gesellschaft 191:248-259.
- Knyihar E, Laszlo I, Tornyos S. 1974. Fine structure and fluoride resistant acid phosphatase activity of electron dense sinusoid terminals in the substantia gelatinosa Rolandi of the rat after dorsal root transection. Experimental brain research Experimentelle Hirnforschung Experimentation cerebrale 19:529-544.
- Kobayashi A, Osaka T. 2003. Involvement of the parabrachial nucleus in thermogenesis induced by environmental cooling in the rat. Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology 446:760-765.
- Kobayashi N, Nakagawa A, Muramatsu T, Yamashina Y, Shirai T, Hashimoto MW, Ishigaki Y, Ohnishi T, Mori T. 1998. Supranuclear melanin caps reduce ultraviolet induced DNA photoproducts in human epidermis. The Journal of investigative dermatology 110:806-810.
- Kohno T, Ji RR, Ito N, Allchorne AJ, Befort K, Karchewski LA, Woolf CJ. 2005. Peripheral axonal injury results in reduced mu opioid receptor pre- and post-synaptic action in the spinal cord. Pain 117:77-87.
- Koyama T, McHaffie JG, Laurienti PJ, Coghill RC. 2005. The subjective experience of pain: where expectations become reality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:12950-12955.
- Ladic LA, Buchan AM. 1996. Association of substance P and its receptor with efferent neurons projecting to the greater curvature of the rat stomach. J Auton Nerv Syst 58:25-34.

- LaMotte RH, Thalhammer JG, Torebjork HE, Robinson CJ. 1982. Peripheral neural mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia following mild injury by heat. J Neurosci 2:765-781.
- Laneuville O, Dorais J, Couture R. 1988. Characterization of the effects produced by neurokinins and three agonists selective for neurokinin receptor subtypes in a spinal nociceptive reflex of the rat. Life sciences 42:1295-1305.
- Latorre R, Brauchi S, Madrid R, Orio P. 2011. A cool channel in cold transduction. Physiology 26:273-285.
- Lawson SN, Crepps BA, Perl ER. 1997. Relationship of substance P to afferent characteristics of dorsal root ganglion neurones in guinea-pig. J Physiol 505 (Pt 1):177-191.
- Le Greves P, Nyberg F, Terenius L, Hokfelt T. 1985. Calcitonin gene-related peptide is a potent inhibitor of substance P degradation. Eur J Pharmacol 115:309-311.
- Leclere PG, Norman E, Groutsi F, Coffin R, Mayer U, Pizzey J, Tonge D. 2007. Impaired axonal regeneration by isolectin B4-binding dorsal root ganglion neurons in vitro. J Neurosci 27:1190-1199.
- Lele PP, Weddell G. 1956. The relationship between neurohistology and corneal sensibility. Brain 79:119-154.
- Lenz FA, Lee JI, Garonzik IM, Rowland LH, Dougherty PM, Hua SE. 2000. Plasticity of pain-related neuronal activity in the human thalamus. Progress in brain research 129:259-273.
- Lever IJ, Malcangio M. 2002. CB(1) receptor antagonist SR141716A increases capsaicin-evoked release of Substance P from the adult mouse spinal cord. Br J Pharmacol 135:21-24.
- Levine JD, Fields HL, Basbaum AI. 1993. Peptides and the primary afferent nociceptor. J Neurosci 13:2273-2286.
- Li CY, Song YH, Higuera ES, Luo ZD. 2004. Spinal dorsal horn calcium channel alpha2delta-1 subunit upregulation contributes to peripheral nerve injuryinduced tactile allodynia. J Neurosci 24:8494-8499.
- Light AR, Perl ER. 1979. Spinal termination of functionally identified primary afferent neurons with slowly conducting myelinated fibers. J Comp Neurol 186:133-150.

- Lima D, Albino-Teixeira A, Tavares I. 2002. The caudal medullary ventrolateral reticular formation in nociceptive-cardiovascular integration. An experimental study in the rat. Exp Physiol 87:267-274.
- Lindfors PH, Voikar V, Rossi J, Airaksinen MS. 2006. Deficient nonpeptidergic epidermis innervation and reduced inflammatory pain in glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor family receptor alpha2 knock-out mice. J Neurosci 26:1953-1960.
- Lisak RP, Skundric D, Bealmear B, Ragheb S. 1997. The role of cytokines in Schwann cell damage, protection, and repair. The Journal of infectious diseases 176 Suppl 2:S173-179.
- Littlewood NK, Todd AJ, Spike RC, Watt C, Shehab SA. 1995. The types of neuron in spinal dorsal horn which possess neurokinin-1 receptors. Neuroscience 66:597-608.
- Liu H, Brown JL, Jasmin L, Maggio JE, Vigna SR, Mantyh PW, Basbaum AI. 1994. Synaptic relationship between substance P and the substance P receptor: light and electron microscopic characterization of the mismatch between neuropeptides and their receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:1009-1013.
- Liu M, Willmott NJ, Michael GJ, Priestley JV. 2004. Differential pH and capsaicin responses of Griffonia simplicifolia IB4 (IB4)-positive and IB4negative small sensory neurons. Neuroscience 127:659-672.
- Lu J, Zhou XF, Rush RA. 2001. Small primary sensory neurons innervating epidermis and viscera display differential phenotype in the adult rat. Neuroscience research 41:355-363.
- Lu Y, Perl ER. 2003. A specific inhibitory pathway between substantia gelatinosa neurons receiving direct C-fiber input. J Neurosci 23:8752-8758.
- Lu Y, Perl ER. 2005. Modular organization of excitatory circuits between neurons of the spinal superficial dorsal horn (laminae I and II). J Neurosci 25:3900-3907.
- Lumpkin EA, Caterina MJ. 2007. Mechanisms of sensory transduction in the skin. Nature 445:858-865.
- Lundberg JM, Saria A, Brodin E, Rosell S, Folkers K. 1983. A substance P antagonist inhibits vagally induced increase in vascular permeability and bronchial smooth muscle contraction in the guinea pig. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:1120-1124.

- Lynn B, Carpenter SE. 1982. Primary afferent units from the hairy skin of the rat hind limb. Brain Res 238:29-43.
- Ma W, Ribeiro-Da-Silva A, De Koninck Y, Radhakrishnan V, Henry JL, Cuello AC. 1996. Quantitative analysis of substance P-immunoreactive boutons on physiologically characterized dorsal horn neurons in the cat lumbar spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 376:45-64.
- Maggi CA. 1995. The mammalian tachykinin receptors. General pharmacology 26:911-944.
- Maggi CA. 1997. The effects of tachykinins on inflammatory and immune cells. Regulatory peptides 70:75-90.
- Maihofner C, Handwerker HO, Birklein F. 2006. Functional imaging of allodynia in complex regional pain syndrome. Neurology 66:711-717.
- Mantyh PW, DeMaster E, Malhotra A, Ghilardi JR, Rogers SD, Mantyh CR, Liu H, Basbaum AI, Vigna SR, Maggio JE, et al. 1995. Receptor endocytosis and dendrite reshaping in spinal neurons after somatosensory stimulation. Science 268:1629-1632.
- Mantyh PW, Gates T, Mantyh CR, Maggio JE. 1989. Autoradiographic localization and characterization of tachykinin receptor binding sites in the rat brain and peripheral tissues. J Neurosci 9:258-279.
- Mantyh PW, Rogers SD, Honore P, Allen BJ, Ghilardi JR, Li J, Daughters RS, Lappi DA, Wiley RG, Simone DA. 1997. Inhibition of hyperalgesia by ablation of lamina I spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. Science 278:275-279.
- Marasco WA, Showell HJ, Becker EL. 1981. Substance P binds to the formylpeptide chemotaxis receptor on the rabbit neutrophil. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 99:1065-1072.
- Marchand F, Perretti M, McMahon SB. 2005. Role of the immune system in chronic pain. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:521-532.
- Marchese A, Paing MM, Temple BR, Trejo J. 2008. G protein-coupled receptor sorting to endosomes and lysosomes. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 48:601-629.
- Maricich SM, Wellnitz SA, Nelson AM, Lesniak DR, Gerling GJ, Lumpkin EA, Zoghbi HY. 2009. Merkel cells are essential for light-touch responses. Science 324:1580-1582.

- Marriott DR, Wilkin GP, Wood JN. 1991. Substance P-induced release of prostaglandins from astrocytes: regional specialisation and correlation with phosphoinositol metabolism. J Neurochem 56:259-265.
- Marshall GE, Shehab SA, Spike RC, Todd AJ. 1996. Neurokinin-1 receptors on lumbar spinothalamic neurons in the rat. Neuroscience 72:255-263.
- Marvizon JC, Wang X, Matsuka Y, Neubert JK, Spigelman I. 2003. Relationship between capsaicin-evoked substance P release and neurokinin 1 receptor internalization in the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 118:535-545.
- Matzner O, Devor M. 1994. Hyperexcitability at sites of nerve injury depends on voltage-sensitive Na+ channels. J Neurophysiol 72:349-359.
- McCarthy PW, Lawson SN. 1989. Cell type and conduction velocity of rat primary sensory neurons with substance P-like immunoreactivity. Neuroscience 28:745-753.
- McGovern UB, Jones KT, Sharpe GR. 1995. Intracellular calcium as a second messenger following growth stimulation of human keratinocytes. The British journal of dermatology 132:892-896.
- McKemy DD, Neuhausser WM, Julius D. 2002. Identification of a cold receptor reveals a general role for TRP channels in thermosensation. Nature 416:52-58.
- McLachlan EM, Janig W, Devor M, Michaelis M. 1993. Peripheral nerve injury triggers noradrenergic sprouting within dorsal root ganglia. Nature 363:543-546.
- McLeod AL, Krause JE, Cuello AC, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 1998. Preferential synaptic relationships between substance P-immunoreactive boutons and neurokinin 1 receptor sites in the rat spinal cord. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:15775-15780.
- McLeod AL, Krause JE, Ribeiro-Da-Silva A. 2000. Immunocytochemical localization of neurokinin B in the rat spinal dorsal horn and its association with substance P and GABA: an electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol 420:349-362.
- McMahon SB, Armanini MP, Ling LH, Phillips HS. 1994. Expression and coexpression of Trk receptors in subpopulations of adult primary sensory neurons projecting to identified peripheral targets. Neuron 12:1161-1171.
- McMahon SB, Wall PD. 1988. Descending excitation and inhibition of spinal cord lamina I projection neurons. J Neurophysiol 59:1204-1219.

- Meisner JG, Marsh AD, Marsh DR. 2010. Loss of GABAergic interneurons in laminae I-III of the spinal cord dorsal horn contributes to reduced GABAergic tone and neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 27:729-737.
- Melzack R, Casey KL. 1968. Sensory, motivational, and central control determinants of pain. A new conceptual model. In: Kenshalo DR, editor. The skin senses: proceedings of the first International Symposium on the Skin Senses, held at the Florida State University in Tallahassee, Florida

Thomas. p 423-443.

- Melzack R, Wall PD. 1965. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150:971-979.
- Merighi A, Polak JM, Theodosis DT. 1991. Ultrastructural visualization of glutamate and aspartate immunoreactivities in the rat dorsal horn, with special reference to the co-localization of glutamate, substance P and calcitonin-gene related peptide. Neuroscience 40:67-80.
- Meyer RA, Campbell JN. 1981. Myelinated nociceptive afferents account for the hyperalgesia that follows a burn to the hand. Science 213:1527-1529.
- Michael GJ, Priestley JV. 1999. Differential expression of the mRNA for the vanilloid receptor subtype 1 in cells of the adult rat dorsal root and nodose ganglia and its downregulation by axotomy. J Neurosci 19:1844-1854.
- Millan MJ. 2002. Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66:355-474.
- Mitsuhashi M, Ohashi Y, Shichijo S, Christian C, Sudduth-Klinger J, Harrowe G, Payan DG. 1992. Multiple intracellular signaling pathways of the neuropeptide substance P receptor. Journal of neuroscience research 32:437-443.
- Miyano K, Morioka N, Sugimoto T, Shiraishi S, Uezono Y, Nakata Y. 2010. Activation of the neurokinin-1 receptor in rat spinal astrocytes induces Ca2+ release from IP3-sensitive Ca2+ stores and extracellular Ca2+ influx through TRPC3. Neurochemistry international 57:923-934.
- Molliver DC, Radeke MJ, Feinstein SC, Snider WD. 1995. Presence or absence of TrkA protein distinguishes subsets of small sensory neurons with unique cytochemical characteristics and dorsal horn projections. J Comp Neurol 361:404-416.

- Molliver DC, Wright DE, Leitner ML, Parsadanian AS, Doster K, Wen D, Yan Q, Snider WD. 1997. IB4-binding DRG neurons switch from NGF to GDNF dependence in early postnatal life. Neuron 19:849-861.
- Moore KA, Kohno T, Karchewski LA, Scholz J, Baba H, Woolf CJ. 2002. Partial peripheral nerve injury promotes a selective loss of GABAergic inhibition in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 22:6724-6731.
- Morrison SF, Madden CJ, Tupone D. 2012. Central control of brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. Frontiers in endocrinology 3.
- Morrison SF, Nakamura K, Madden CJ. 2008. Central control of thermogenesis in mammals. Exp Physiol 93:773-797.
- Mosconi T, Kruger L. 1996. Fixed-diameter polyethylene cuffs applied to the rat sciatic nerve induce a painful neuropathy: ultrastructural morphometric analysis of axonal alterations. Pain 64:37-57.
- Moulin DE, Clark AJ, Gilron I, Ware MA, Watson CP, Sessle BJ, Coderre T, Morley-Forster PK, Stinson J, Boulanger A, Peng P, Finley GA, Taenzer P, Squire P, Dion D, Cholkan A, Gilani A, Gordon A, Henry J, Jovey R, Lynch M, Mailis-Gagnon A, Panju A, Rollman GB, Velly A. 2007.
  Pharmacological management of chronic neuropathic pain - consensus statement and guidelines from the Canadian Pain Society. Pain research & management : the journal of the Canadian Pain Society = journal de la societe canadienne pour le traitement de la douleur 12:13-21.
- Moussaoui SM, Le Prado N, Bonici B, Faucher DC, Cuine F, Laduron PM, Garret C. 1992. Distribution of neurokinin B in rat spinal cord and peripheral tissues: comparison with neurokinin A and substance P and effects of neonatal capsaicin treatment. Neuroscience 48:969-978.
- Mullen RJ, Buck CR, Smith AM. 1992. NeuN, a neuronal specific nuclear protein in vertebrates. Development 116:201-211.
- Nagy JI, Hunt SP. 1982. Fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase-containing neurones in dorsal root ganglia are separate from those containing substance P or somatostatin. Neuroscience 7:89-97.
- Nagy JI, Hunt SP. 1983. The termination of primary afferents within the rat dorsal horn: evidence for rearrangement following capsaicin treatment. J Comp Neurol 218:145-158.
- Naim M, Spike RC, Watt C, Shehab SA, Todd AJ. 1997. Cells in laminae III and IV of the rat spinal cord that possess the neurokinin-1 receptor and have

dorsally directed dendrites receive a major synaptic input from tachykinincontaining primary afferents. J Neurosci 17:5536-5548.

- Naim MM, Shehab SA, Todd AJ. 1998. Cells in laminae III and IV of the rat spinal cord which possess the neurokinin-1 receptor receive monosynaptic input from myelinated primary afferents. Eur J Neurosci 10:3012-3019.
- Nakajima Y, Tsuchida K, Negishi M, Ito S, Nakanishi S. 1992. Direct linkage of three tachykinin receptors to stimulation of both phosphatidylinositol hydrolysis and cyclic AMP cascades in transfected Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem 267:2437-2442.
- Nakamura K, Morrison SF. 2007. Central efferent pathways mediating skin cooling-evoked sympathetic thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 292:R127-136.
- Nakamura K, Morrison SF. 2008a. Preoptic mechanism for cold-defensive responses to skin cooling. J Physiol 586:2611-2620.
- Nakamura K, Morrison SF. 2008b. A thermosensory pathway that controls body temperature. Nat Neurosci 11:62-71.
- Nakamura K, Morrison SF. 2010. A thermosensory pathway mediating heatdefense responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:8848-8853.
- Nawa H, Kotani H, Nakanishi S. 1984. Tissue-specific generation of two preprotachykinin mRNAs from one gene by alternative RNA splicing. Nature 312:729-734.
- New HV, Mudge AW. 1986. Distribution and ontogeny of SP, CGRP, SOM, and VIP in chick sensory and sympathetic ganglia. Developmental biology 116:337-346.
- Newman DB. 1985. Distinguishing rat brainstem reticulospinal nuclei by their neuronal morphology. I. Medullary nuclei. Journal fur Hirnforschung 26:187-226.
- Nichols ML, Allen BJ, Rogers SD, Ghilardi JR, Honore P, Luger NM, Finke MP, Li J, Lappi DA, Simone DA, Mantyh PW. 1999. Transmission of chronic nociception by spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. Science 286:1558-1561.
- Nilsson J, von Euler AM, Dalsgaard CJ. 1985. Stimulation of connective tissue cell growth by substance P and substance K. Nature 315:61-63.
- Novakovic SD, Tzoumaka E, McGivern JG, Haraguchi M, Sangameswaran L, Gogas KR, Eglen RM, Hunter JC. 1998. Distribution of the tetrodotoxinresistant sodium channel PN3 in rat sensory neurons in normal and neuropathic conditions. J Neurosci 18:2174-2187.
- Nyberg F, Le Greves P, Sundqvist C, Terenius L. 1984. Characterization of substance P(1-7) and (1-8) generating enzyme in human cerebrospinal fluid. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 125:244-250.
- Nystrom B, Hagbarth KE. 1981. Microelectrode recordings from transected nerves in amputees with phantom limb pain. Neurosci Lett 27:211-216.
- Ogawa T, Kanazawa I, Kimura S. 1985. Regional distribution of substance P, neurokinin alpha and neurokinin beta in rat spinal cord, nerve roots and dorsal root ganglia, and the effects of dorsal root section or spinal transection. Brain Res 359:152-157.
- Ohkubo H, Nakanishi S. 1991. Molecular characterization of the three tachykinin receptors. Ann N Y Acad Sci 632:53-62.
- Okazawa M, Inoue W, Hori A, Hosokawa H, Matsumura K, Kobayashi S. 2004. Noxious heat receptors present in cold-sensory cells in rats. Neurosci Lett 359:33-36.
- Okuse K, Chaplan SR, McMahon SB, Luo ZD, Calcutt NA, Scott BP, Akopian AN, Wood JN. 1997. Regulation of expression of the sensory neuronspecific sodium channel SNS in inflammatory and neuropathic pain. Molecular and cellular neurosciences 10:196-207.
- Osaka T. 2004. Cold-induced thermogenesis mediated by GABA in the preoptic area of anesthetized rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 287:R306-313.
- Osborne PG, Kurosawa M. 1994. Perfusion of the preoptic area with muscimol or prostaglandin E2 stimulates cardiovascular function in anesthetized rats. J Auton Nerv Syst 46:199-205.
- Otsuka M, Yoshioka K. 1993. Neurotransmitter functions of mammalian tachykinins. Physiol Rev 73:229-308.
- Oyama T, Ueda M, Kuraishi Y, Akaike A, Satoh M. 1996. Dual effect of serotonin on formalin-induced nociception in the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience research 25:129-135.

- Palma C, Minghetti L, Astolfi M, Ambrosini E, Silberstein FC, Manzini S, Levi G, Aloisi F. 1997. Functional characterization of substance P receptors on cultured human spinal cord astrocytes: synergism of substance P with cytokines in inducing interleukin-6 and prostaglandin E2 production. Glia 21:183-193.
- Paxinos G, Watson C. 2005. The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Peier AM, Moqrich A, Hergarden AC, Reeve AJ, Andersson DA, Story GM, Earley TJ, Dragoni I, McIntyre P, Bevan S, Patapoutian A. 2002. A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol. Cell 108:705-715.
- Peleshok JC, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2011. Delayed reinnervation by nonpeptidergic nociceptive afferents of the glabrous skin of the rat hindpaw in a neuropathic pain model. J Comp Neurol 519:49-63.
- Pernow B. 1983. Substance P. Pharmacol Rev 35:85-141.
- Pertovaara A. 2006. Noradrenergic pain modulation. Prog Neurobiol 80:53-83.
- Petruska JC, Napaporn J, Johnson RD, Cooper BY. 2002. Chemical responsiveness and histochemical phenotype of electrophysiologically classified cells of the adult rat dorsal root ganglion. Neuroscience 115:15-30.
- Petruska JC, Napaporn J, Johnson RD, Gu JG, Cooper BY. 2000. Subclassified acutely dissociated cells of rat DRG: histochemistry and patterns of capsaicin-, proton-, and ATP-activated currents. J Neurophysiol 84:2365-2379.
- Pitcher GM, Henry JL. 2004. Nociceptive response to innocuous mechanical stimulation is mediated via myelinated afferents and NK-1 receptor activation in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Experimental neurology 186:173-197.
- Polgar E, Furuta T, Kaneko T, Todd A. 2006. Characterization of neurons that express preprotachykinin B in the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 139:687-697.
- Polgar E, Gray S, Riddell JS, Todd AJ. 2004. Lack of evidence for significant neuronal loss in laminae I-III of the spinal dorsal horn of the rat in the chronic constriction injury model. Pain 111:144-150.
- Premont RT, Gainetdinov RR. 2007. Physiological roles of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and arrestins. Annu Rev Physiol 69:511-534.

- Price J. 1985. An immunohistochemical and quantitative examination of dorsal root ganglion neuronal subpopulations. J Neurosci 5:2051-2059.
- Price TJ, Louria MD, Candelario-Soto D, Dussor GO, Jeske NA, Patwardhan AM, Diogenes A, Trott AA, Hargreaves KM, Flores CM. 2005. Treatment of trigeminal ganglion neurons in vitro with NGF, GDNF or BDNF: effects on neuronal survival, neurochemical properties and TRPV1mediated neuropeptide secretion. BMC Neurosci 6:4.
- Priestley JV, Michael GJ, Averill S, Liu M, Willmott N. 2002. Regulation of nociceptive neurons by nerve growth factor and glial cell line derived neurotrophic factor. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 80:495-505.
- Ptak K, Burnet H, Blanchi B, Sieweke M, De Felipe C, Hunt SP, Monteau R, Hilaire G. 2002. The murine neurokinin NK1 receptor gene contributes to the adult hypoxic facilitation of ventilation. Eur J Neurosci 16:2245-2252.
- Quartara L, Maggi CA. 1998. The tachykinin NK1 receptor. Part II: Distribution and pathophysiological roles. Neuropeptides 32:1-49.
- Quevedo AS, Coghill RC. 2007. Attentional modulation of spatial integration of pain: evidence for dynamic spatial tuning. J Neurosci 27:11635-11640.
- Radhakrishnan V, Henry JL. 1991. Novel substance P antagonist, CP-96,345, blocks responses of cat spinal dorsal horn neurons to noxious cutaneous stimulation and to substance P. Neurosci Lett 132:39-43.
- Rahman W, D'Mello R, Dickenson AH. 2008. Peripheral nerve injury-induced changes in spinal alpha(2)-adrenoceptor-mediated modulation of mechanically evoked dorsal horn neuronal responses. The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society 9:350-359.
- Rasley A, Bost KL, Olson JK, Miller SD, Marriott I. 2002. Expression of functional NK-1 receptors in murine microglia. Glia 37:258-267.
- Rathner JA, Madden CJ, Morrison SF. 2008. Central pathway for spontaneous and prostaglandin E2-evoked cutaneous vasoconstriction. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 295:R343-354.
- Reichling DB, Levine JD. 2009. Critical role of nociceptor plasticity in chronic pain. Trends Neurosci 32:611-618.
- Ren K, Dubner R. 2008. Neuron-glia crosstalk gets serious: role in pain hypersensitivity. Current opinion in anaesthesiology 21:570-579.

- Rexed B. 1952. The cytoarchitectonic organization of the spinal cord in the cat. J Comp Neurol 96:414-495.
- Rhudy JL, Meagher MW. 2000. Fear and anxiety: divergent effects on human pain thresholds. Pain 84:65-75.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2004. The substantia gelatinosa of the rat spinal cord. In: Paxinos G, editor. The Rat Nervous System. 3rd ed. Sydney: Academic Press. p 129-148.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Cuello AC. 1990. Choline acetyltransferase-immunoreactive profiles are presynaptic to primary sensory fibers in the rat superficial dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 295:370-384.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A, De Koninck Y. 2008. Morphological and neurochemical organization of the spinal dorsal horn. In: Bushnell MC, Basbaum AI, editors. Pain New York: Academic Press. p 279-310.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Hokfelt T. 2000. Neuroanatomical localisation of Substance P in the CNS and sensory neurons. Neuropeptides 34:256-271.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A, McLeod AL, Krause J. 2000. Neurokinin receptors in the CNS. In: Quirion R, Bjorklund A, Hokfelt T, editors. Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy. New York: Elsevier. p 195-240.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Priestley JV, Cuello AC. 1993. Pre-embedding ultrastructural immunocytochemistry. In: Cuello AC, editor. Immunohistochemistry II. Chichester ; New York :: J. Wiley. p 181-227.
- Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Tagari P, Cuello AC. 1989. Morphological characterization of substance P-like immunoreactive glomeruli in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord and trigeminal subnucleus caudalis: a quantitative study. J Comp Neurol 281:497-415.
- Rigaud M, Gemes G, Barabas ME, Chernoff DI, Abram SE, Stucky CL, Hogan QH. 2008. Species and strain differences in rodent sciatic nerve anatomy: implications for studies of neuropathic pain. Pain 136:188-201.
- Roch-Arveiller M, Regoli D, Chanaud B, Lenoir M, Muntaner O, Stralzko S, Giroud JP. 1986. Tachykinins: effects on motility and metabolism of rat polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Pharmacology 33:266-273.
- Roeska K, Doods H, Arndt K, Treede RD, Ceci A. 2008. Anxiety-like behaviour in rats with mononeuropathy is reduced by the analgesic drugs morphine and gabapentin. Pain 139:349-357.

- Romanovsky AA, Almeida MC, Garami A, Steiner AA, Norman MH, Morrison SF, Nakamura K, Burmeister JJ, Nucci TB. 2009. The transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 channel in thermoregulation: a thermosensor it is not. Pharmacol Rev 61:228-261.
- Rudd JA, Ngan MP, Wai MK. 1999. Inhibition of emesis by tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonists in Suncus murinus (house musk shrew). Eur J Pharmacol 366:243-252.
- Ruocco I, Cuello AC, Ribeiro-Da-Silva A. 2000. Peripheral nerve injury leads to the establishment of a novel pattern of sympathetic fibre innervation in the rat skin. J Comp Neurol 422:287-296.
- Ruocco I, Cuello AC, Shigemoto R, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2001. Light and electron microscopic study of the distribution of substance P-immunoreactive fibers and neurokinin-1 receptors in the skin of the rat lower lip. J Comp Neurol 432:466-480.
- Saab CY, Waxman SG, Hains BC. 2008. Alarm or curse? The pain of neuroinflammation. Brain Res Rev 58:226-235.
- Saeed AW, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2012. De novo expression of neurokinin-1 receptors by spinoparabrachial lamina I pyramidal neurons following a neuropathic lesion. J Comp Neurol Submitted.
- Sagan S, Chassaing G, Pradier L, Lavielle S. 1996. Tachykinin peptides affect differently the second messenger pathways after binding to CHOexpressed human NK-1 receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 276:1039-1048.
- Sakamoto H, Spike RC, Todd AJ. 1999. Neurons in laminae III and IV of the rat spinal cord with the neurokinin-1 receptor receive few contacts from unmyelinated primary afferents which do not contain substance P. Neuroscience 94:903-908.
- Sakamoto T, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. 1993. Effect of CP-96,345, a non-peptide NK1 receptor antagonist, against substance P-, bradykinin- and allergeninduced airway microvascular leakage and bronchoconstriction in the guinea pig. Eur J Pharmacol 231:31-38.
- Salemi S, Rethage J, Wollina U, Michel BA, Gay RE, Gay S, Sprott H. 2003. Detection of interleukin 1beta (IL-1beta), IL-6, and tumor necrosis factoralpha in skin of patients with fibromyalgia. The Journal of rheumatology 30:146-150.

- Salter MW, Henry JL. 1991. Responses of functionally identified neurones in the dorsal horn of the cat spinal cord to substance P, neurokinin A and physalaemin. Neuroscience 43:601-610.
- Scherrer G, Imamachi N, Cao YQ, Contet C, Mennicken F, O'Donnell D, Kieffer BL, Basbaum AI. 2009. Dissociation of the opioid receptor mechanisms that control mechanical and heat pain. Cell 137:1148-1159.
- Scholz J, Broom DC, Youn DH, Mills CD, Kohno T, Suter MR, Moore KA, Decosterd I, Coggeshall RE, Woolf CJ. 2005. Blocking caspase activity prevents transsynaptic neuronal apoptosis and the loss of inhibition in lamina II of the dorsal horn after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci 25:7317-7323.
- Schweinhardt P, Glynn C, Brooks J, McQuay H, Jack T, Chessell I, Bountra C, Tracey I. 2006. An fMRI study of cerebral processing of brush-evoked allodynia in neuropathic pain patients. NeuroImage 32:256-265.
- Scroggs RS, Fox AP. 1992. Multiple Ca2+ currents elicited by action potential waveforms in acutely isolated adult rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Neurosci 12:1789-1801.
- Seltzer Z, Beilin BZ, Ginzburg R, Paran Y, Shimko T. 1991. The role of injury discharge in the induction of neuropathic pain behavior in rats. Pain 46:327-336.
- Seltzer Z, Dubner R, Shir Y. 1990. A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. Pain 43:205-218.
- Seybold VS, Grkovic I, Portbury AL, Ding YQ, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N, Furness JB, Southwell BR. 1997. Relationship of NK3 receptor-immunoreactivity to subpopulations of neurons in rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 381:439-448.
- Seybold VS, Hylden JL, Wilcox GL. 1982. Intrathecal substance P and somatostatin in rats: behaviors indicative of sensation. Peptides 3:49-54.
- Sherrington CS. 1906. The Integrative action of the nervous system: Yale University Press.
- Shigemoto R, Yokota Y, Tsuchida K, Nakanishi S. 1990. Cloning and expression of a rat neuromedin K receptor cDNA. J Biol Chem 265:623-628.
- Silverman JD, Kruger L. 1988. Lectin and neuropeptide labeling of separate populations of dorsal root ganglion neurons and associated "nociceptor"

thin axons in rat testis and cornea whole-mount preparations. Somatosensory research 5:259-267.

- Silverman JD, Kruger L. 1990. Selective neuronal glycoconjugate expression in sensory and autonomic ganglia: relation of lectin reactivity to peptide and enzyme markers. J Neurocytol 19:789-801.
- Skidgel RA, Engelbrecht S, Johnson AR, Erdos EG. 1984. Hydrolysis of substance p and neurotensin by converting enzyme and neutral endopeptidase. Peptides 5:769-776.
- Skofitsch G, Jacobowitz DM. 1985. Calcitonin gene-related peptide coexists with substance P in capsaicin sensitive neurons and sensory ganglia of the rat. Peptides 6:747-754.
- Smith CH, Barker JN, Morris RW, MacDonald DM, Lee TH. 1993. Neuropeptides induce rapid expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules and elicit granulocytic infiltration in human skin. J Immunol 151:3274-3282.
- Snider WD, McMahon SB. 1998. Tackling pain at the source: New ideas about nociceptors. Neuron 20:629-632.
- Soon PS, McDonald KL, Robinson BG, Sidhu SB. 2008. Molecular markers and the pathogenesis of adrenocortical cancer. The oncologist 13:548-561.
- Sorkin LS, Xiao WH, Wagner R, Myers RR. 1997. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha induces ectopic activity in nociceptive primary afferent fibres. Neuroscience 81:255-262.
- Spike RC, Puskar Z, Andrew D, Todd AJ. 2003. A quantitative and morphological study of projection neurons in lamina I of the rat lumbar spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 18:2433-2448.
- Stanfa LC, Dickenson AH. 1994. Enhanced alpha-2 adrenergic controls and spinal morphine potency in inflammation. NeuroReport 5:469-472.
- Stanisz AM, Befus D, Bienenstock J. 1986. Differential effects of vasoactive intestinal peptide, substance P, and somatostatin on immunoglobulin synthesis and proliferations by lymphocytes from Peyer's patches, mesenteric lymph nodes, and spleen. J Immunol 136:152-156.
- Stirpe F, Gasperi-Campani A, Barbieri L, Falasca A, Abbondanza A, Stevens WA. 1983. Ribosome-inactivating proteins from the seeds of Saponaria officinalis L. (soapwort), of Agrostemma githago L. (corn cockle) and of

Asparagus officinalis L. (asparagus), and from the latex of Hura crepitans L. (sandbox tree). The Biochemical journal 216:617-625.

- Stoll G, Jander S, Myers RR. 2002. Degeneration and regeneration of the peripheral nervous system: from Augustus Waller's observations to neuroinflammation. Journal of the peripheral nervous system : JPNS 7:13-27.
- Stoner HB. 1971. Effect of injury on shivering thermogenesis in the rat. J Physiol 214:599-615.
- Story GM, Peier AM, Reeve AJ, Eid SR, Mosbacher J, Hricik TR, Earley TJ, Hergarden AC, Andersson DA, Hwang SW, McIntyre P, Jegla T, Bevan S, Patapoutian A. 2003. ANKTM1, a TRP-like channel expressed in nociceptive neurons, is activated by cold temperatures. Cell 112:819-829.
- Stucky CL, Lewin GR. 1999. Isolectin B(4)-positive and -negative nociceptors are functionally distinct. J Neurosci 19:6497-6505.
- Sugiura Y, Lee CL, Perl ER. 1986. Central projections of identified, unmyelinated (C) afferent fibers innervating mammalian skin. Science 234:358-361.
- Suhonen JO, Peterson DA, Ray J, Gage FH. 1996. Differentiation of adult hippocampus-derived progenitors into olfactory neurons in vivo. Nature 383:624-627.
- Sullivan AF, Kalso EA, McQuay HJ, Dickenson AH. 1992. The antinociceptive actions of dexmedetomidine on dorsal horn neuronal responses in the anaesthetized rat. Eur J Pharmacol 215:127-133.
- Suzuki R, Green GM, Millan MJ, Dickenson AH. 2002a. Electrophysiologic characterization of the antinociceptive actions of S18616, a novel and potent alpha 2-adrenoceptor agonist, after acute and persistent pain states. The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society 3:234-243.
- Suzuki R, Morcuende S, Webber M, Hunt SP, Dickenson AH. 2002b. Superficial NK1-expressing neurons control spinal excitability through activation of descending pathways. Nat Neurosci 5:1319-1326.
- Swett JE, Torigoe Y, Elie VR, Bourassa CM, Miller PG. 1991. Sensory neurons of the rat sciatic nerve. Experimental neurology 114:82-103.
- Swett JE, Woolf CJ. 1985. The somatotopic organization of primary afferent terminals in the superficial laminae of the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 231:66-77.

- Takahashi Y, Nakajima Y, Sakamoto T. 1994. Dermatome mapping in the rat hindlimb by electrical stimulation of the spinal nerves. Neurosci Lett 168:85-88.
- Takashima Y, Daniels RL, Knowlton W, Teng J, Liman ER, McKemy DD. 2007. Diversity in the neural circuitry of cold sensing revealed by genetic axonal labeling of transient receptor potential melastatin 8 neurons. J Neurosci 27:14147-14157.
- Tal M, Eliav E. 1996. Abnormal discharge originates at the site of nerve injury in experimental constriction neuropathy (CCI) in the rat. Pain 64:511-518.
- Tanaka T, Danno K, Ikai K, Imamura S. 1988. Effects of substance P and substance K on the growth of cultured keratinocytes. The Journal of investigative dermatology 90:399-401.
- Tarpley JW, Kohler MG, Martin WJ. 2004. The behavioral and neuroanatomical effects of IB4-saporin treatment in rat models of nociceptive and neuropathic pain. Brain Res 1029:65-76.
- Tattersall FD, Rycroft W, Hargreaves RJ, Hill RG. 1993. The tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonist CP-99,994 attenuates cisplatin induced emesis in the ferret. Eur J Pharmacol 250:R5-6.
- Taylor AM, Peleshok JC, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2009. Distribution of P2X(3)immunoreactive fibers in hairy and glabrous skin of the rat. J Comp Neurol 514:555-566.
- Taylor AM, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2011. GDNF levels in the lower lip skin in a rat model of trigeminal neuropathic pain: implications for nonpeptidergic fiber reinnervation and parasympathetic sprouting. Pain 152:1502-1510.
- Taylor AM, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2012. Consequences of the ablation of nonpeptidergic afferents in an animal model of trigeminal neuropathic pain. Pain In Press.
- Taylor RS. 2006. Epidemiology of refractory neuropathic pain. Pain practice : the official journal of World Institute of Pain 6:22-26.
- Theodorsson-Norheim E, Hemsen A, Brodin E, Lundberg JM. 1987. Sample handling techniques when analyzing regulatory peptides. Life sciences 41:845-848.
- Todd AJ. 2010. Neuronal circuitry for pain processing in the dorsal horn. Nat Rev Neurosci 11:823-836.

- Todd AJ, McGill MM, Shehab SA. 2000. Neurokinin 1 receptor expression by neurons in laminae I, III and IV of the rat spinal dorsal horn that project to the brainstem. Eur J Neurosci 12:689-700.
- Todd AJ, Puskar Z, Spike RC, Hughes C, Watt C, Forrest L. 2002. Projection neurons in lamina I of rat spinal cord with the neurokinin 1 receptor are selectively innervated by substance p-containing afferents and respond to noxious stimulation. J Neurosci 22:4103-4113.
- Tominaga M, Caterina MJ, Malmberg AB, Rosen TA, Gilbert H, Skinner K, Raumann BE, Basbaum AI, Julius D. 1998. The cloned capsaicin receptor integrates multiple pain-producing stimuli. Neuron 21:531-543.
- Too HP, Maggio JE. 1991. Immunocytochemical localization of neuromedin K (neurokinin B) in rat spinal ganglia and cord. Peptides 12:431-443.
- Torebjork HE. 1974. Afferent C units responding to mechanical, thermal and chemical stimuli in human non-glabrous skin. Acta physiologica Scandinavica 92:374-390.
- Trafton JA, Abbadie C, Basbaum AI. 2001. Differential contribution of substance P and neurokinin A to spinal cord neurokinin-1 receptor signaling in the rat. J Neurosci 21:3656-3664.
- Urban L, Randic M. 1984. Slow excitatory transmission in rat dorsal horn: possible mediation by peptides. Brain Res 290:336-341.
- Urban LA, Fox AJ. 2000. NK1 receptor antagonists--are they really without effect in the pain clinic? Trends Pharmacol Sci 21:462-464; author reply 465.
- Urban MO, Gebhart GF. 1999. Supraspinal contributions to hyperalgesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:7687-7692.
- Urban MO, Jiang MC, Gebhart GF. 1996. Participation of central descending nociceptive facilitatory systems in secondary hyperalgesia produced by mustard oil. Brain Res 737:83-91.
- V. Euler US, Gaddum JH. 1931. An unidentified depressor substance in certain tissue extracts. J Physiol 72:74-87.
- Varoqui H, Schafer MK, Zhu H, Weihe E, Erickson JD. 2002. Identification of the differentiation-associated Na+/PI transporter as a novel vesicular glutamate transporter expressed in a distinct set of glutamatergic synapses. J Neurosci 22:142-155.

- Vera-Portocarrero LP, Zhang ET, Ossipov MH, Xie JY, King T, Lai J, Porreca F. 2006. Descending facilitation from the rostral ventromedial medulla maintains nerve injury-induced central sensitization. Neuroscience 140:1311-1320.
- Vierck CJ, Jr., Kline RH, Wiley RG. 2003. Intrathecal substance p-saporin attenuates operant escape from nociceptive thermal stimuli. Neuroscience 119:223-232.
- Vishwanath R, Mukherjee R. 1996. Substance P promotes lymphocyte-endothelial cell adhesion preferentially via LFA-1/ICAM-1 interactions. Journal of neuroimmunology 71:163-171.
- Vulchanova L, Olson TH, Stone LS, Riedl MS, Elde R, Honda CN. 2001. Cytotoxic targeting of isolectin IB4-binding sensory neurons. Neuroscience 108:143-155.
- Vulchanova L, Riedl MS, Shuster SJ, Stone LS, Hargreaves KM, Buell G, Surprenant A, North RA, Elde R. 1998. P2X3 is expressed by DRG neurons that terminate in inner lamina II. Eur J Neurosci 10:3470-3478.
- Vydyanathan A, Wu ZZ, Chen SR, Pan HL. 2005. A-type voltage-gated K+ currents influence firing properties of isolectin B4-positive but not isolectin B4-negative primary sensory neurons. J Neurophysiol 93:3401-3409.
- Wall PD, Devor M. 1983. Sensory afferent impulses originate from dorsal root ganglia as well as from the periphery in normal and nerve injured rats. Pain 17:321-339.
- Wall PD, Devor M, Inbal R, Scadding JW, Schonfeld D, Seltzer Z, Tomkiewicz MM. 1979. Autotomy following peripheral nerve lesions: experimental anaesthesia dolorosa. Pain 7:103-111.
- Wallace VC, Segerdahl AR, Blackbeard J, Pheby T, Rice AS. 2008. Anxiety-like behaviour is attenuated by gabapentin, morphine and diazepam in a rodent model of HIV anti-retroviral-associated neuropathic pain. Neurosci Lett 448:153-156.
- Waller A. 1851. Experiments on the section of the glossopharyngeal and hypoglossal nerves of the frog, and observations of the alterations produced thereby in the structure of their primitive fibres. Edin Med Surg J 76:369-376.

- Warden MK, Young WS, 3rd. 1988. Distribution of cells containing mRNAs encoding substance P and neurokinin B in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol 272:90-113.
- Watkins LR, Maier SF. 2002. Beyond neurons: evidence that immune and glial cells contribute to pathological pain states. Physiol Rev 82:981-1011.
- Watson JW, Gonsalves SF, Fossa AA, McLean S, Seeger T, Obach S, Andrews PL. 1995. The anti-emetic effects of CP-99,994 in the ferret and the dog: role of the NK1 receptor. Br J Pharmacol 115:84-94.
- Waxman SG, Dib-Hajj S, Cummins TR, Black JA. 1999. Sodium channels and pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:7635-7639.
- Waxman SG, Kocsis JD, Black JA. 1994. Type III sodium channel mRNA is expressed in embryonic but not adult spinal sensory neurons, and is reexpressed following axotomy. J Neurophysiol 72:466-470.
- Westlund KN, Carlton SM, Zhang D, Willis WD. 1990. Direct catecholaminergic innervation of primate spinothalamic tract neurons. J Comp Neurol 299:178-186.
- Wiberg M, Blomqvist A. 1984. The spinomesencephalic tract in the cat: its cells of origin and termination pattern as demonstrated by the intraaxonal transport method. Brain Res 291:1-18.
- Wiley RG, Kline RHt, Vierck CJ, Jr. 2007. Anti-nociceptive effects of selectively destroying substance P receptor-expressing dorsal horn neurons using [Sar9,Met(O2)11]-substance P-saporin: behavioral and anatomical analyses. Neuroscience 146:1333-1345.
- Wiley RG, Lappi DA. 1994. Suicide transport and immunolesioning. Austin: R.G. Landes.
- Wiley RG, Lappi DA. 2003. Targeted toxins in pain. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 55:1043-1054.
- Willis WD. 1985. The pain system : the neural basis of nociceptive transmission in the mammalian nervous system. Basel; New York: Karger.
- Willis WD, Coggeshall RE. 1991. Sensory mechanisms of the spinal cord. New York: Plenum Press.
- Willis WD, Jr. 2007. The somatosensory system, with emphasis on structures important for pain. Brain Res Rev 55:297-313.

- Willis WD, Kenshalo DR, Jr., Leonard RB. 1979. The cells of origin of the primate spinothalamic tract. J Comp Neurol 188:543-573.
- Woodbury CJ, Zwick M, Wang S, Lawson JJ, Caterina MJ, Koltzenburg M, Albers KM, Koerber HR, Davis BM. 2004. Nociceptors lacking TRPV1 and TRPV2 have normal heat responses. J Neurosci 24:6410-6415.
- Woolf CJ, Ma Q. 2007. Nociceptors--noxious stimulus detectors. Neuron 55:353-364.
- Woolf CJ, Wall PD. 1986. Relative effectiveness of C primary afferent fibers of different origins in evoking a prolonged facilitation of the flexor reflex in the rat. J Neurosci 6:1433-1442.
- Wu ZZ, Chen SR, Pan HL. 2004. Differential sensitivity of N- and P/Q-type Ca2+ channel currents to a mu opioid in isolectin B4-positive and -negative dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 311:939-947.
- Wu ZZ, Pan HL. 2004a. High voltage-activated Ca(2+) channel currents in isolectin B(4)-positive and -negative small dorsal root ganglion neurons of rats. Neurosci Lett 368:96-101.
- Wu ZZ, Pan HL. 2004b. Tetrodotoxin-sensitive and -resistant Na+ channel currents in subsets of small sensory neurons of rats. Brain Res 1029:251-258.
- Xing H, Ling J, Chen M, Gu JG. 2006. Chemical and cold sensitivity of two distinct populations of TRPM8-expressing somatosensory neurons. J Neurophysiol 95:1221-1230.
- Yamazoe M, Shiosaka S, Shibasaki T, Ling N, Tateishi K, Hashimura E, Hamaoka T, Kimmel JR, Matsuo H, Tohyama M. 1984. Distribution of six neuropeptides in the nucleus tractus solitarii of the rat: an immunohistochemical analysis. Neuroscience 13:1243-1266.
- Yashpal K, Dam TV, Quirion R. 1990. Quantitative autoradiographic distribution of multiple neurokinin binding sites in rat spinal cord. Brain Res 506:259-266.
- Yen LD, Bennett GJ, Ribeiro-da-Silva A. 2006. Sympathetic sprouting and changes in nociceptive sensory innervation in the glabrous skin of the rat hind paw following partial peripheral nerve injury. J Comp Neurol 495:679-690.
- Yokota Y, Sasai Y, Tanaka K, Fujiwara T, Tsuchida K, Shigemoto R, Kakizuka A, Ohkubo H, Nakanishi S. 1989. Molecular characterization of a

functional cDNA for rat substance P receptor. J Biol Chem 264:17649-17652.

- Yoshimura M, Yonehara N. 2006. Alteration in sensitivity of ionotropic glutamate receptors and tachykinin receptors in spinal cord contribute to development and maintenance of nerve injury-evoked neuropathic pain. Neuroscience research 56:21-28.
- Yu XH, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, De Koninck Y. 2005. Morphology and neurokinin 1 receptor expression of spinothalamic lamina I neurons in the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 491:56-68.
- Yu XH, Zhang ET, Craig AD, Shigemoto R, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, De Koninck Y. 1999. NK-1 receptor immunoreactivity in distinct morphological types of lamina I neurons of the primate spinal cord. J Neurosci 19:3545-3555.
- Zeitz KP, Guy N, Malmberg AB, Dirajlal S, Martin WJ, Sun L, Bonhaus DW, Stucky CL, Julius D, Basbaum AI. 2002. The 5-HT3 subtype of serotonin receptor contributes to nociceptive processing via a novel subset of myelinated and unmyelinated nociceptors. J Neurosci 22:1010-1019.
- Zerari F, Karpitskiy V, Krause J, Descarries L, Couture R. 1998. Astroglial distribution of neurokinin-2 receptor immunoreactivity in the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 84:1233-1246.
- Zhang ET, Craig AD. 1997. Morphology and distribution of spinothalamic lamina I neurons in the monkey. J Neurosci 17:3274-3284.
- Zhang ET, Han ZS, Craig AD. 1996. Morphological classes of spinothalamic lamina I neurons in the cat. J Comp Neurol 367:537-549.
- Zhou Z, Peng X, Hagshenas J, Insolera R, Fink DJ, Mata M. 2010. A novel cellcell signaling by microglial transmembrane TNFalpha with implications for neuropathic pain. Pain 151:296-306.
- Zhuang ZY, Gerner P, Woolf CJ, Ji RR. 2005. ERK is sequentially activated in neurons, microglia, and astrocytes by spinal nerve ligation and contributes to mechanical allodynia in this neuropathic pain model. Pain 114:149-159.
- Zhuo M, Gebhart GF. 1997. Biphasic modulation of spinal nociceptive transmission from the medullary raphe nuclei in the rat. J Neurophysiol 78:746-758.
- Zoli M, Agnati LF. 1996. Wiring and volume transmission in the central nervous system: the concept of closed and open synapses. Prog Neurobiol 49:363-380.

- Zwick M, Davis BM, Woodbury CJ, Burkett JN, Koerber HR, Simpson JF, Albers KM. 2002. Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor is a survival factor for isolectin B4-positive, but not vanilloid receptor 1-positive, neurons in the mouse. J Neurosci 22:4057-4065.
- Zylka MJ, Dong X, Southwell AL, Anderson DJ. 2003. Atypical expansion in mice of the sensory neuron-specific Mrg G protein-coupled receptor family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10043-10048.
- Zylka MJ, Rice FL, Anderson DJ. 2005. Topographically distinct epidermal nociceptive circuits revealed by axonal tracers targeted to Mrgprd. Neuron 45:17-25.
- Zylka MJ, Sowa NA, Taylor-Blake B, Twomey MA, Herrala A, Voikar V, Vihko P. 2008. Prostatic acid phosphatase is an ectonucleotidase and suppresses pain by generating adenosine. Neuron 60:111-122.